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Vongroup Limited is a global company headquartered in Hong Kong
which holds interests primarily in software-as-a-service (SaaS), IT
solutions, E-=Commerce, enterprise messaging and productivity systems,
and property businesses.

Vongroup: Technology Solutions and Business
Processes

The Group’s Technology Solutions and Business Processes division
is a leading-edge IT and business process outsourcing provider for
customers in Hong Kong and elsewhere in Asia. Vongroup delivers
end-to-end integrated solutions, and industry-specific and country-
customised solutions, that employ advanced technologies to assist
enterprises to digitally transform their businesses to meet the post-
COVID “next normal”, to go digital, to revolutionise and to achieve
significant performance improvements.

Vongroup is actively expanding its presence and services elsewhere in
Asia and in Europe to support clients there as they proceed with their
digital transformation objectives.

Vongroup’s operates a digital Ecosystem that integrates FinTech
services, digital Event Management, E-Commerce, EdTech and online
training, enterprise Messaging and Productivity, and Big Data Analytics
to broaden and deepen its relationship with customers.

Claman: Event Management and FinTech Saa$
Platforms

The Company also holds a majority stake in Claman Global Limited,
one of Asia’s premier SaaS platform operators specialising in event
management and fintech, enabling differentiated user experience
through its premium white label service. Through its FringeBacker
platform, Claman manages major international events, marathons,
trade shows, and payment services. FringeBacker delivers integrated
SaaS services, virtual reality (VR) and augmented reality (AR) that
fully integrate management, operations, reporting, payments and
participation-engagement for customers like, for example, mass-
participation events, international marathons, and trade shows.

TeamTech: Integrated Enterprise Messaging App
with Productivity Tools

In addition, through TeamTech and TeamSoft, the Company also
operates an enterprise messaging application designed specifically
with advanced productivity tools for post-COVID office work styles, and
which integrates with other software for users to use the information
they need in one integrated interface.

The Company’s property division owns investments in Hong Kong,
mainland China and overseas.
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CEQ’S STATEMENT
THRAE R

Dear Shareholders,
Performance

Over the past few years, we have seen a period of intense crisis of survival for
many enterprises in Hong Kong and much of the rest of the world. They have
had to improvise, re-assess and re-position themselves to do business amidst
the challenges of the global COVID pandemic, geopolitical tensions, supply
chain disruptions, travel restrictions, and other upheavals that were rarely
encountered in recent history.

Embracing digital transformation is now an integral part of how enterprises
go about their work, to recover, innovate and achieve high growth to catch up.
Decision makers are facing tough market environments, where investing in
proven technology and process automation has become inevitable for many of
them.

Vongroup therefore believes that we are now standing solidly with strength at
the beginning of a period of substantial business opportunity internationally,
where many sectors reinvent themselves for the “next normal”.

It is with this background that, in the year under review, Vongroup’s
“technology-for-business” services and solutions address this “next normal”,
both in Hong Kong and regionally elsewhere in Asia, and recorded another
year of continued growth. In face of these global changes, together with our
continued resilience to expand the Group’s technology business regionally
in Asia, Vongroup has continued to achieve robust performance and steady
growth, underpinned by strong market demand for its core technology-for-
business services and solutions. Compared with last year, the Group’s revenue
increased by 74.6% to HK$193.2 million, and technology sector revenue
increased by 74.6% to HK$187.3 million.

74&6

ase in revenue
B

Increase in technology & related
business revenue
e EES TG

Innovating for Greater Business Technology
Applications — Regional Asia and Europe Focus

Since 2007, Vongroup has refined and developed our main business as a
“technology service and solutions provider” which now extends to Vongroup
engaging in higher-security and remote-interaction areas that include FinTech,
ecommerce, payments, cloud technology and enterprise solutions, team
enterprise collaboration and messaging systems, enterprise architecture,
technology transformation, virtual reality (VR) and augmented reality (AR),
virtual and hybrid online-and-offline conferences and exhibitions, custom
platforms, and digital event management and other “next normal” solutions.

1. These adjustments in technology needs reflect prevailing business needs of
enterprises. Recent events including COVID and supply chain disruptions
have accelerated digital transformation, and represent opportunities for
Vongroup.
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2. Vongroup continues to play a role in this new world of innovating for
greater business applications, helping clients to embrace new technologies
for business, and to upgrade their existing technology systems to innovate
at scale and to achieve growth.

3. We work with enterprises to simplify their technology infrastructure and
strengthen their core capabilities by building or reinforcing their cloud-
based automation, so that they can focus on what they do best, which is to
offer best services to their customers.

4. Artificial intelligence (Al) and team enterprise messaging and office
automation are important core strengths for many enterprises now, and
Vongroup invests in research, innovation and development towards
these ends. To do so, we have multi-disciplinary alliances, including with
enterprises in sectors like digital marketing, FashionTech, education and
training course delivery technology, to develop cutting-edge applied
technologies. We therefore are able to give clients market intelligence,
business technology tools and other value-added services that help them to
help their businesses.

5. Applied technology-for-business is strong only if human capital that
manages it is also strong. Our staff have shown loyalty, resilience and
determination in face of global and social challenges to ensure that our
customers continue to receive the best service. We thank our staff for their
enthusiasm.

Securing new and renewed business from Hong
Kong and regional Asian clients

The Group’s client base continues to be diversified, and it has achieved
continued success in securing clients in Hong Kong and regionally in
mainland China, South Korea, Japan, Indonesia, Thailand, and elsewhere in
Southeast Asia, amongst others. Its clients range from SMEs to international
businesses. New and renewal businesses have been secured during the period
under review. These include customers in investment banking, financial
services, wealth management, legal services, marine & engineering services,
ecommerce, education and training, media and entertainment industries,
hospitality and retail, marathon and other leisure and sporting events, amongst
others.

In particular, we have seen more international clients strengthening their cloud
capabilities. As they complete or strengthen this cloud transformation, we have
also witnessed how they have gradually moved from coping with COVID by
deploying technology-for-business, to now applying technology-for-business as
a way to turbo-charge accelerated growth and transformation. This triggers a
new wave of business and potential international business opportunities for
Vongroup.

Additions and alliances — the Vongroup
technology Ecosystem

It is inherent in the nature of this sector that new and emerging technologies
are continually developed, and therefore the nature of our business is that we
continually add to our service and solutions offerings. Each new or emerging
technology that we deploy or acquire is the next step in the continuing upgrade
or enhancement of our Ecosystem that is expected to improve our ability to
generate more revenue and profits. However, the business-driven technology
applied skill sets that we deploy are not new. We have been doing so zealously,
and we intend to continue to do so to grow our presence in Hong Kong and
also expand regionally in Asia and elsewhere internationally.
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CEQ’S STATEMENT
THARRKEH

In this regard, the Group has achieved the following business expansion and
development milestones during the year, amongst others:

* Acquired majority ownership in Claman Global Limited (“Claman”),
which strengthens the Group’s capabilities with its international multi-
function cloud management platform system and business, including Saa$S
platforms, with built-in multi-language systems and advanced payment
tools for digital fintech management of e-commerce and large-scale
international events like the Hong Kong Marathon, and virtual and hybrid
events like conferences and trade shows, and which has processed online
FinTech services for over 200,000 transacted customers

* Acquired entire ownership in TeamTech Digital Corporation, which
strengthens the Group’s capabilities with its majority-owned enterprise
messaging and team collaboration system and software business, and
e-commerce business, in addition to growing the Group’s technology
solutions business

* Entered into an agreement to acquire majority ownership in Greenie
EdTech Corporation, which, when completed, would be expected to
strengthen the Group’s capabilities to provide EdTech services in relation to
online education and digital training

* Entered into an agreement to acquire an ownership in Rosarini
International Limited, which, when completed, would be expected to
expand the Group’s capabilities to generate business from FashionTech-
related customers, especially in relation to digital sales and ecommerce

* Entered into strategic alliances and joint go-to-market co-operation with
a leading Asian operator of virtual and hybrid conference and exhibitions
for Asian and global clients, and with a leading Asian mobile marketing
business

Cyber security

In particular, as we witness accelerated growth of the digital economy in the
“next normal”, we also see significant increase in cyber risks, resulting in higher
vulnerabilities for enterprises, and their growing need to invest in minimizing
or mitigating cyber risks. The Group will seek to grow its higher-security digital
services to facilitate the digital transformation of enterprises in Hong Kong and
elsewhere regionally in Asia that includes addressing security and compliance
issues. According to some industry reports, a significant portion, perhaps over
a quarter, of global cyber-attacks occurred in Asia, which not only damage
an organisation’s technology assets, but also cause financial and reputational
losses, constraining future business growth.

FinTech, VR, AR and Cloud Management Platforms

Building on the Group’s FinTech, cloud, VR and AR technology business
foundations, especially after its acquisition of Claman, it is in a unique
position to support digital transformation for businesses in Asia and elsewhere
internationally and to continue expanded deployment of its platforms to
facilitate digital management of major events, that include international
events and activities like the Hong Kong Marathon, as well as international
virtual and hybrid conferences and exhibitions that have spurred significant
demand due to restrictions in international travel or due to social distancing
practices.
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Outlook

As we look ahead, we continually maintain our core technology strategy---
that is, the business needs of our clients. Our investment in R&D, our human
capital, and our management systems are all buttressed in what our clients
need, and what we expect they will need in the future. We continue to
persevere to enable every client to take away valued status from Vongroup,
and to be able to access the Vongroup Ecosystem of technologies in order to
transform, re-assess and grow their companies for the future.

The Group will seek to continue to reinforce its status as a quality technology-
for-business provider of the Vongroup Ecosystem of post-COVID “next
normal” services and solutions. We believe that in Hong Kong and regionally
elsewhere in Asia, there will continue to be increased investment in digital
transformation.

The Group will strive to further increase the breadth and depth of our spectrum
of digital services and solutions. We intend to achieve this by both our internal
R&D, as well as by acquisitions and operational business partnerships, in order
to be a “digital ecosystem partner for the post-COVID next normal”, so that
when enterprises need to revisit or digitally transform their business operations
in light of the “new normal” of consumer and market behaviour, the Group
will be one of the potential partners they should consider talking to. At the
same time, as these transformation needs occur almost all over the world,
we will seek to further expand internationally, including leveraging upon our
experience to provide consultancy services to improve or develop customers’
technology-focused commercial models. With the combination of the Group’s
applied technology and commercial operation experience over the past 15
years, we are optimistic that we will continue to grow our presence in Hong
Kong, and internationally.

As Vongroup grows, we believe that we will move from pursuing opportunities,
to proactively creating opportunities, which will take us to the next level of
competing against legacy technology and solutions providers.

With increasing vaccinations and easing of travel restrictions, we believe that
Hong Kong and international economies are heading towards clearer futures.
However, the Group is cautious in its management, and will diligently monitor
changes in the Hong Kong and global environment. And as we continue to
strengthen our stable financial foundation, the Group is in a strong position
to continue to seek and secure growth and synergistic opportunities in what
appears to be somewhat uncertain business environments, with the view to
generate further shareholder value.

Finally, I would like to sincerely thank all our team members, sales channel
partners and other business associates for their tireless and dedicated work and
trust in an extremely challenging year in making this successful year happen,
and | look forward to more milestones to achieve in the years ahead.

Vong Tat leong David
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 August 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED

OVERALL PERFORMANCE

Embracing digital transformation in Hong Kong and elsewhere internationally the Group
recorded robust growth in its performance for the year ended 30 April 2022, especially in
its technology-for-business services, products and solutions.

Innovating for Greater Business Applications Focus on Asia and Europe

New extended forms of digital and remote interaction, as well as higher security and
compliance needs, are the “next normal” post-COVID internationally. The Group has
benefited, as a result of its work since 2007, in having refined and developed its main
business as a technology-for business services and solutions provider that focuses
primarily on higher-security and remote-interaction areas that include FinTech,
ecommerce, payments, cloud technology and enterprise solutions, team enterprise
collaboration and messaging systems, enterprise architecture, technology transformation,
virtual reality (VR) and augmented reality (AR), virtual and hybrid online-and-offline
conferences and exhibitions, custom platforms, and other digital event management and
“new and post-COVID next normal” solutions.

To continue to strengthen the Group’s services, solutions, and tools, it has been
expanding the Vongroup Ecosystem of products and services for providing technology-
for-business services and solutions in this post-COVID “new normal”. In this regard,
the Group has achieved the following business expansion and development milestones
during the year ended 30 April 2022, amongst others:

* Acquired ownership in an international multi-function cloud management platform
system and business, including Saa$S platforms, with built-in multi-language systems
and advanced payment tools for digital finTech management of e-commerce and
large-scale international events like the Hong Kong Marathon, and virtual and hybrid
events like conferences and trade shows, and which has processed online FinTech
services for over 200,000 transacted customers

* Acquired ownership in an enterprise messaging and team collaboration system
and software business, and e-commerce business, and strengthened the Group’s
technology solutions business

« Entered into an agreement to acquire ownership in an EdTech business in relation to
online education and digital training

« Entered into an agreement to acquire an ownership in a FashionTech-related
business

* Entered into strategic alliances and joint go-to-market cooperation regarding virtual
and hybrid conference and exhibitions, and mobile marketing business

The Group’s client base continues to be diversified. We have achieved continued success
in securing clients in Hong Kong and regionally in mainland China, South Korea, Japan,
Indonesia, Thailand, and elsewhere in Southeast Asia, amongst others. Its clients range
from SMEs to international businesses. New and renewal businesses have been secured
during the period under review. These include customers in investment banking,
financial services, wealth management, legal services, marine & engineering service,
ecommerce, education and training, media and entertainment industries, hospitality and
retail, marathon and other major leisure and sporting events, amongst others.

As a result of the Group’s achievements, the Group’s revenue for the year ended 30 April
2022 increased by 74.6% to HK$193.2 million, and technology sector revenue increased
by 74.6% to HK$187.3 million.

The Group’s property business has seen steady performance, generating stable rental
income as well as capital value increase.
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OUTLOOK

The Group will seek to continue to reinforce its status as a quality technology-for-business
provider of the Vongroup Ecosystem of “next normal” services and solutions. We believe
that in Hong Kong and regionally elsewhere in Asia, there will continue to be increased
investment in digital transformation. We therefore look forward to achieving continuing
international growth in our technology-for-business services and solutions business.

The Group will also strive to further increase the breadth and depth of our spectrum of
digital services and solutions that we offer. We intend to achieve this by both our internal
R&D, as well as by acquisitions and operational business partnerships, in order to be
a “digital ecosystem partner for the post-COVID new and next normal”, so that when
enterprises need to revisit or digitally transform their business operations in light of
the post-COVID “new and next normal” , the Group will be one of the potential partners
they should consider talking to. At the same time, as these transformation needs occur
almost all over the world, we will seek to further expand internationally, including
leveraging upon our experience to provide consultancy services to improve or develop
customers’ technology-focused commercial models. With the combination of the Group’s
applied technology and commercial operation experience over the past 15 years, we are
optimistic that we will continue to grow our presence in Hong Kong, regionally in Asia,
and elsewhere internationally.

In particular, as we witness accelerated growth of the digital economy in the “post-
COVID new and next normal”, we also see significant increase in cyber risks, resulting in
higher vulnerabilities for enterprises, and their growing need to invest in minimizing or
mitigating cyber risks. The Group will seek to grow its higher-security digital services to
facilitate the digital transformation of enterprises in Hong Kong and elsewhere regionally
in Asia that includes addressing security and compliance issues. According to some
industry reports, a significant portion, perhaps over a quarter, of global cyber-attacks
occurred in Asia, which not only damage an organisation’s technology assets, but also
cause financial and reputational losses, constraining future business growth. The Group
expects that its higher-security TeamTech enterprise messaging and collaboration system
and software business will benefit from these “next normal” business practices and
addressing the corresponding security risks.

Building on the Group’s FinTech, cloud, VR and AR technology business foundations,
especially after its acquisition of Claman Global Limited (“Claman”), it is in a unique
position to support digital transformation for business and to continue expanded
deployment of its platforms to facilitate digital management of major events, like the
Hong Kong Marathon, as well as international virtual and hybrid (online-plus-offline)
conferences and exhibitions that have spurred significant demand due to restrictions or
prohibitions in international travel or due to social distancing practices.

The Group will endeavour to expand by way of synergistic services and solutions offerings
to its clients and to clients of acquired entities, in order to create new revenue streams,
especially those that meet new business demands resulting from new business and social
practices in the “post-COVID Next Normal”.

Although the Group’s property segment generates steady income and stable capital value
appreciation, we will continue to seek opportunities and opportune timing as we target
to reduce its weighting.

With increasing vaccinations and easing of travel restrictions, we believe that Hong Kong
and international economies ought to head towards their rebound. However, the Group
is cautious in its management, and will diligently monitor changes in the Hong Kong
and global economic and pandemic environment. And as we continue to strengthen our
stable financial foundation, the Group is in a strong position to continue to seek and
secure growth and synergistic international opportunities in what otherwise appears
to be somewhat uncertain business environments, with the view to generate further
shareholder value.

FAREARAR FR022

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENREDN

AR

SEBSREEFERERI T AR REME R R
EAERLTRAFNEREREMBIRHB A F I
15 BB MR M E At 3 [ ¢ B (L B Y 15 8 s A A 3 i
b REAR RANBEEMERENBRTERESER
FEBRITIgR -

SETEE I — SRS R MR E A BIERE MR R
EWEEMARE - ZATERBRNMHBARRBEMEE X
BAREBHBARRERE-BR UKAHEENHEL
REGAERMH ] BEEEPEENMERBEN[HFRE
ET—@&5k] FEENERIAABBE I ABREEKE
2 SEBRAMIIERE 2 SRFBROEEAERHZ
— o [AE - R ELE R A F LT ED R - B A
15 S — S BRI - BEM AR MR HE AR
B NRERFAEEPUMBERT OB EER - Ha KE

RBETAFERNERMREREREL LR  RAE R
Hﬁilié BAEEE TMOEMEER A EEAEBRRE

LEREMTREERNIEERT —EFE&] T8GR
ﬂﬂﬁ?“%ﬂ’]ﬂﬁﬁ HPb IR PG RRBEE N EH
eSS MR 0 - At EH R EFERERRRNIKETK
Baigi- RERHHSRENZ2EESOEBRE £
ERRLZ2MEREE - AR E B MR E b [ 1 2 4
BB (LR - RIS TITERE ﬁﬁ*ﬂ D (FIEEABBIN D 2
SINEHERREREEDN MERELENHREE
TRER BT S B EIE X - @%I%X¥iﬁ‘i‘ﬁ SEEE - HL
2% S HTeamTech 3 BAN R i {5 R B 21 AR R
HRZ2RRTRENEE [ T A58 BETR-

EREBOS BB B AL VRMARRHREBER - L
H 2R UeE Claman Global Limited ([ Claman |) {4 5% — &
ZHIH AT SR SIS BRI L R A EE R AR T AT
E UREEXNEZH(WNEBSSR)NEECEE LA RH
E/\ﬁﬁﬂiﬂi&mm}iﬂﬁﬁ‘ﬁi*’”\&Bﬂﬁﬂ%iﬂixﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiw%ﬁwﬁ

B REBKNERMES (BEKLEEET)NERSHN
RE

SEBBNBBRAETP LATKE 2 EBNEPREAGRA
EER IR ERT RAETER - LAIERARA R -
LHRRMRHEEBEOIT —ERE] THHERERT

BEEBNYED BEERERAMBRENEREETE
B EES RS MEERK  URELLE-

&E% EEBRIZ IR IRER B MR PR REEMN
BB & E 0 A ERIEH - 2R E@EEEL?&% ElERE
FQ’ THENEEEEREREERRERINE - It
S ERBPEBZERENMBER  SESENA N
i AIE—ERE LB UTNETENRHRR R EES SN
RIEREHRBEERS  UHAKRRAIEEZEE-

09



10

Vongroup Limited Annual Report 2022

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED

BUSINESS REVIEW

Technology — Meeting “Next Normal” Demands

The Group delivered a solid set of financial results for the year ended 30 April 2022, amid
the ongoing impact of COVID-19, and set against the background of the “post-COVID
normal” internationally.

COVID has highlighted the importance of digital transformation, remote interaction, and
higher-security concerns. As a quality provider of technology-for-business services and
solutions, the Group has remained focused on areas that include FinTech, ecommerce,
payments, cloud technology and enterprise solutions, team enterprise collaboration and
messaging systems, enterprise architecture, technology transformation, virtual reality
(VR) and augmented reality (AR), virtual and hybrid online-and-offline conferences and
exhibitions, custom platforms, and digital event management and other “new and next
normal” solutions.

Leveraging on the Group’s solid fundamentals, and its continuing refinement and
development of its technology business, its technology business has continued to
achieve robust growth momentum as enterprise customers intensified their digital
transformation efforts in response to COVID.

The Group’s client base continues to be diversified. We have achieved continued success
in securing clients in Hong Kong and regionally in mainland China, South Korea, Japan,
Indonesia, Thailand, and elsewhere in Southeast Asia, amongst others. Its clients range
from SMEs to international businesses. New and renewal contracts have been secured
during the period under review. These include businesses in investment banking,
financial services, wealth management, legal services, marine & engineering services,
ecommerce, education and training, media and entertainment industries, hospitality and
retail, marathon and other major leisure and sporting events, amongst others.

As a result, the technology segment recorded revenue increase of 74.6% to HK$187.3
million (2021: HK$107.2 million).

Technology — Additions and potential Additions

It is inherent in the nature of the digital technology business that technologies will
evolve, and old technologies will gradually become obsolete, getting replaced by newer
technologies at much shorter intervals than commonly would be the case for many other
tools or skillsets in other industries. Therefore, the Group believes that the accumulated
business, management and sales skills in the application of technologies to business
needs are just as important as “traditional” technology expertise. These are some of the
key areas that the Group’s staff are highly experienced in and continue to contribute
significantly to the Group’s business growth.

To strengthen the Group’s business model, it continues to add to the breadth and depth
of the technology services and solutions that it operates. Therefore, the Group actively
seeks, negotiates, acquires or secures, and incorporates advanced and commercially-
driven technology services and solutions to add to its “stable”, in order to create further
synergy and to generate greater business opportunities for the Group, and to present
synergistic value with our existing technology services and solutions, which would
broaden and deepen our business scope.

During the year, the Group acquired the following additions or entered into agreements
that are pending completion regarding the following in order to broaden and deepen our
ecosystem of technology-for-business services and solutions:

e Acquired majority ownership in Claman, which strengthens the Group’s capabilities
with its international multifunction cloud management platform system and
business, including SaaS platforms, with built-in multi-language systems and
advanced payment tools for digital fintech management of e-commerce and large-
scale international events like the Hong Kong Marathon, and virtual and hybrid
events like conferences and trade shows, and which has processed online FinTech
services for over 200,000 transacted customers

* Acquired the entire ownership in TeamTech Digital Corporation (“TeamTech”), which
strengthens the Group’s capabilities with its majority-owned enterprise messaging
and team collaboration system and software business, and e-commerce business, in
addition to strategic co-operation alliance to grow the Group’s technology solutions
business
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* Entered into an agreement to acquire majority ownership in Greenie EdTech
Corporation, which, when completed, would be expected to strengthen the Group’s
capabilities to provide EdTech services in relation to online education and digital
training

+ Entered into an agreement to acquire an ownership in Rosarini International Limited
(“Rosarini”), which, when completed, would be expected to expand the Group’s
capabilities to generate business from FashionTech-related customers, especially in
relation to digital sales and ecommerce

*  Entered into strategic alliances and joint go-to-market cooperation with a leading
Asian operator of virtual and hybrid conference and exhibitions for Asian and global
clients, and with a leading Asian mobile marketing business

Other Business

The Group’s property operations are managed with a two-pronged approach of value
gain and rental income to optimize value creation for our shareholders. The Group has
continued to manage its operations by identifying optimal opportunities to acquire,
manage and operate undervalued properties, including (i) commercial properties (retail
and offices), especially in Kowloon East CBD, in line with the government’s CBD 2.0 policy
to transform Kowloon East, (ii) residential properties, especially at prime locations, and
(iii) carpark properties, especially at locations with low carpark density. These properties
are located at locations that we believe are considered to be higher quality in terms
of stable property demand. These properties are acquired, managed, operated and
disposed for both value gain and rental income strategies. As a result, (a) income from
our properties can be from both disposal proceeds as well as from rental receipts, and (b)
change of fair value from our properties are recorded and contribute towards profit or
loss for the year.

The Group disposed of one property during the period under review at sale consideration
of HK$11.9 million, recording profit of HK$0.8 million, and reducing the weighting of
this segment. The property segment therefore recorded unrealized fair value of HK$239.1
million as at 30 April 2022 (2021: HK$243.8 million). For comparison purposes, if the
disposed property is excluded, then the current properties recorded unrealized fair value
gain of 2.8%, as compared with their unrealized fair value of HK$232.7 million as at 30
April 2021. Rental income for the year was HK$4.5 million (2021: HK$4.7 million).

Given uncertain market conditions, the Group will continue to identify optimum times
and values for disposing of selected properties. However, we also believe that there
would be undervalued opportunities, especially outside Hong Kong.

The financial services business is engaged in securities trading and other financial related
services. During the year, the Group recorded revenue of HK$1.5 million (2021: negative
HK$1.3 million), resulting in profit of approximately HK$1.9 million (2021: loss of HK$0.8
million). We expect to continue to reduce the weighting of this segment, as compared
with the growth in the technology segment.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is exposed to the risk of negative, volatile or of uncertain developments,
including but not limited to negative, volatile or uncertain developments in the global,
regional and local economies, in the financial and property markets, and in the changes
in patterns of consumption. These developments might reduce revenue or result in
reduced valuations of the Group’s investment properties or in the Group being unable
to meet its strategic objectives or in negative effect to its financial condition, results
of operations and businesses. The Company will continue to adopt prudent financial
policies to cope with the impact of uncertain factors.

FUND RAISING EXERCISES

The Company did not have any equity fund raising activity during the year. There were no
unutilised proceeds brought forward from any issue of equity securities made in previous
years.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

(1) Completion of Acquisition of Additional Equity Interest and

2

(3

(4

Subscription for Additional Equity Interest in Claman Global Limited
- FinTech & Management Platforms

On 11 June 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company completed the increase
of its equity interest in Claman, which owns its technology businesses that is a
market leader in international multi-function cloud management platform systems
and businesses, to 50.3%, by way of the purchase of 17.8% equity interest in Claman
from Allyking for HK$15.7 million payable by the allotment and issue of 34,885,000
consideration shares of the Company at an issue price of HK$0.45 per share, and by
subscription of 20.2% equity interest in Claman at consideration of HK$14.1 million.
Details of these transactions were disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 22 October 2020, 27 November 2020, 27 May 2021 and 11 June 2021 and Note
30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Acquisition of Equity Interest in Rosarini International Limited -
FashionTech

On 27 May 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Rosarini
Purchaser”) entered into a share purchase and strategic alliance agreement with
Karen Michelle Scheinecker (the “Rosarini Vendor”), pursuant to which the Rosarini
Purchaser conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Rosarini Vendor conditionally
agreed to sell, 40% equity interest in Rosarini, which is principally engaged in the
FashionTech business, at a consideration of HK$22.0 million, which shall be satisfied
as to HK$11.0 million in cash and as to HK$11.1 million by the allotment and issue
of 17,000,000 consideration shares of the Company at an issue price of HK$0.65 per
share.

Pursuant to the share purchase and strategic alliance agreement, the Rosarini
Vendor additionally conditionally granted to the Rosarini Purchaser the right to
acquire up to a further 11% equity interest in Rosarini from the Rosarini Vendor,
which right is exercisable at the discretion of the Rosarini Purchaser within 2 years of
the completion of the acquisition, at an exercise consideration of HK$6.1 million, or
pro rata amount for partial exercise.

If the Rosarini Purchaser fully exercises its right in respect of such additional
acquisition, and assuming no change in the shareholding of Rosarini, the Group
will hold 51% of Rosarini, in which case the financial results of Rosarini would then
be consolidated into the accounts of the Group. Details of this transaction were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27 May 2021. As at the date of
this report, this acquisition has not yet completed.

Disposal of an investment property

On 29 July 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into an
agreement to dispose of an investment property with carrying amount as at 30 April
2021 of HK$11.1 million at a consideration of HK$11.9 million. This disposal has
been completed. Details of this disposal were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 29 July 2021.

Acquisition of the entire equity interest in TeamTech Digital
Corporation — Enterprise Team Collaboration Software and
Ecommerce Business

On 17 August 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “TeamTech
Purchaser”) entered into a share purchase agreement with Faith Honest International
Co. Ltd. (the “TeamTech Vendor”) pursuant to which the TeamTech Purchaser
conditionally agreed to acquire, and the TeamTech Vendor conditionally agreed
to sell, the entire equity interest in TeamTech Digital Corporation (“TeamTech”),
which owns a majority interest in its enterprise messaging and team collaboration
system and software and ecommerce business, at a consideration of up to HK$16.5
million. This acquisition was completed on 30 September 2021, and TeamTech is an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Details of this acquisition above
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 17 August 2021 and Note
30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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(5) Acquisition of 51% equity interest in Greenie EdTech Corporation
(“Greenie EdTech”)

On 28 October 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Greenie
EdTech Purchaser”) entered into a share purchase agreement with Wun Kam Hoi
(the “Greenie EdTech Vendor”) pursuant to which the Greenie EdTech Purchaser
conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Greenie EdTech Vendor conditionally
agreed to sell, 51% equity interest in Greenie EdTech, which owns its EdTech business
relating to online education and digital training, at a consideration of HK$20.4
million, which shall be satisfied as to approximately HK$12.6 million in cash and
as to approximately HK$7.8 million by the allotment and issue of 20,500,000
consideration shares of the Company at an issue price of HK$0.378 per share. Details
of this acquisition were disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 28
October 2021 and 17 December 2021. As at the date of this report, this acquisition
has not yet completed.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group had no significant investment of carrying value of 5% or more of the total
assets as at 30 April 2022. As at 30 April 2021, the carrying value of Claman as financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income of the Group was approximately
HK$23.9 million. Following the completion of acquisition and subscription for additional
equity interest in Claman during the year as stated above, the Company indirectly owned
approximately 50.32% equity interest in Claman, and its financial results have been
consolidated into the financial statements of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group maintained cash and bank balances as at 30 April 2022 amounting to
approximately HK$84.0 million (2021: HK$37.9 million). The Group’s current ratio as at
30 April 2022 was 2.9 (2021: 4.7). The total equity of the Group amounted to HK$483.4
million as at 30 April 2022 (2021: HK$413.9 million).

Gearing

The gearing ratio, as a ratio of interest-bearing borrowings to total equity, was 0.15 as at
30 April 2022 (2021: 0.05).

Exchange Rate Exposure

The Group’s assets, liabilities and cash flow from operations are mainly denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars and Renminbi. The Group currently does not have any
related foreign exchanges hedges, however the Company monitors its foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedges should the need arise.

Treasury Policies

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated resources and bank
and other facilities. The interest rates of borrowings, if applicable, are generally charged
by reference to prevailing market rates.

As at 30 April 2022, there were bank borrowings and overdraft facility, which were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, of approximately HK$43.5 million (2021: HK$22.1
million) and approximately HK$26.2 million (2021: nil) respectively. The bank borrowings
that are not repayable within one year from the end of the reporting period but contains
a repayment on demand clause. The bank overdraft facility is used by the Group as a
flexible facility for daily operations similar to other banking facilities. All bank borrowings
were classified into current liabilities of the Group.

As at 30 April 2022, there was an secured loan entered into by a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary, which was denominated in Hong Kong dollars, of approximately HK$1.3
million (2021: nil).

BARFAMAR FH2022

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENREDN

(5) YifEGreenie EdTech Corporation ([ Greenie EdTech]) #)
51% %

W-_ZT-—F+H= Jr)\EI ARARz2EMBRA
([Greenie EdTech® 77 1) B2 )8 & /& ([Greenie EdTech®
F DAL E#EEE W & tGreenie EdTechE 5 &
& 14 7 B U B& MGreenie EdTechE F B KR H &
Greenie EdTech(#iB H4 A FIEISL1EFIHERE M2
BRRT) 51%H A - (K18 520,400,00075 7T * & 4
12,600,000 7T 1% & PA 3R & 2 11 & 497,800,000/ 7T #% i
MBI 1TE T AR0.37878 T Bl & K& ¥1720,500,00008 A8 A
AIRERG T  RARENFBERAARRHA=ZT
——F+A-tN\BEZE-_—F+_A+tRZAH
AR EE o AN A B ER - RIRURES 1M AR TERK ©

B B3O ERE SN AR B AFE I EAETT
MEBAR BERRREGERE-

EXRE

RZEZZFWUA=+TH AEEVEREEOEGHREEY
FULZEARE R E-—FNA=1+H FBEAM
ZHEWBAZAFEINEREZEBMEE ZCamanZ BREE 4
/523,900,000 7T ° 40 - SCFT il 7 AN AR [ S AR U BE I R
ClamanZ S89MNIE #E 1% - 782 R A3 5 Claman 22 £50.32%0%
- BEFBEECDHASNSBEONITBIREA -

BANERHE

$ot 75 1o R
RBEERUBER

RZZEZZFNA=ZTH AEEHEFBRS RBTEHKY
84,000,000/ 70 ( —Z = —4F : 4937,900,000/8 7T ) > AN &£ B R
TR CFNAZTBEZREBERAE29( T 1 47)e
AEBER T = —F YA =+ H 42 A483,400,00078 7T
— T~ —4F : 413,900,000/ 7T)

BEE

RZEZ—FWNA=-+RAZEBERR(EATEEEYBE
WZHE)B0IS(ZEZ—F 1 0.05)°

B 2= B

AEBZEE BEREERSRTIENET ETRAR
HIIE - NEBER R W BT ARREINEL ) - AT ARBE
PREINE B X S 7 R B

EREE

REE— ﬂxf&sglﬁ*ﬁ&iﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ&ﬁ\mmﬂﬁﬁﬁ§ %
BREMBES -BEZFEWER) H—R2RBRITH
%‘ﬂ*u‘l‘y—r—

MR-ZE-—FMA=+H WELAEZRITEERIRETE
S EVE 7 B4 543,500,000 7T ( = F = — 4 1 22,100,000/5
m)&%zooooo/am(_ ——FE)ZERTEEDA
RREHRB—FANEE BRFEREREERR -AEE
Ebﬁﬁﬁﬁ TEXMEEAAREBZEEARE  WREMET
BE - FARITEESBARNEEZ RBAE-

RZTEZZFMNA=1AH FE2EWBRBET L2 H ML
TLEHERIEIR E T4 51,300,000 0 ( — T = —4F : )0

13



14

Vongroup Limited Annual Report 2022

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED

Contingent Liabilities

As at 30 April 2022, the Group did not have any material contingent liability (2021: nil).

Pledge of assets

As at 30 April 2022, the bank borrowings of the Group were drawn under banking
facilities. The banking facilities are secured and guaranteed by:

(i) Investment properties of the Group with an aggregate net carrying amount of
approximately HK$185.6 million (2021: HK$118.6 million);

(ii) Leasehold land and buildings of approximately HK$10.8 million (2021: HK$11.2
million); and

(iii) An unlimited corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

All of the banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to the
respective subsidiaries as are commonly found in loan arrangements with financial
institutions. If the subsidiaries were to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities
would become repayable on demand. In addition, the subsidiaries’ loan agreements
contain clauses which give the lender the right at its sole discretion to demand
immediate repayment at any time irrespective of whether the subsidiaries have complied
with the covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.

Commitments

The Group had no capital commitments as at 30 April 2022 (2021: nil).

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 April 2022, the Group had 55 (2021: 50) employees in Hong Kong and the PRC.
The total staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) for the year were approximately
HK$11.8 million (2021: HK$8.5 million). The Group has not experienced any significant
problems with its employees or disruptions due to labour disputes nor has it experienced
difficulties in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff. The Group remunerates
its employees based on industry practices. Its staff benefits, welfare, share options and
statutory contributions, if any, are made in accordance with individual performance and
prevailing labour laws of its operating entities.
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Executive Directors

Vong Tat leong David, aged 60, has been a director of the Company since 2005 and serves
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. He was formerly Vice Chairman of the board of directors of CITIC 21CN
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, from 2003-2004. Before that,
he was director and Deputy Chief Executive of i100 Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, since he co-founded the 100 Group in 2000 with an international consortium
whose key participants included management and leading institutional investors. Prior
to that, he was Chief Executive at Pollon Infrastructure Corporation, an infrastructure
investment holding company focused on power and telecom assets, since 1997. Mr. Vong is
a graduate of Yale Law School and The London School of Economics and Political Science.

Xu Siping, aged 64, has been a director of the Company since 2005 and held a series
of senior policy positions for about 18 years at the PRCs State Economic and Trade
Commission and the National Development and Reform Commission (formerly the State
Planning Commission), from 1983-2000, before retiring from public service in the central
government. Mr Xu is a graduate of Dalian University of Technology.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Fung Ka Keung David, aged 59, has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company since 2005. He is a member of the Company’s Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. He holds a master degree in Business
Administration from the University of Leicester. Mr. Fung possesses more than 30 years of
experience in accounting and finance. He was the executive director of Asia Energy Logistics
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 351) from January 2010 to
June 2017. He is currently the consultant of VIN International Limited. Mr. Fung is a fellow
member of both the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Dr. Lee G. LAM, aged 63, has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since 2005. He is Chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee, and a member of the Company’s Nomination Committee.

Dr. Lam holds a BSc in Sciences and Mathematics, an MSc in Systems Science and an
MBA from the University of Ottawa in Canada, an LLB (Hons) in law from Manchester
Metropolitan University in the UK, a PCLL in law from the City University of Hong Kong,
a LLM in Law from the University of Wolverhampton in the UK, an MPA and a PhD from
the University of Hong Kong. Dr. Lam is also a Solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong
(and formerly a member of the Hong Kong Bar), an Accredited Mediator of the Centre
for Effective Dispute Resolution, a Fellow of Certified Management Accountants (CMA)
Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators, the Hong Kong Institute of Directors
and the Institute of Corporate Directors Malaysia, an Honorary Fellow of Certified
Public Accountants (CPA) Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Facility Management and
the University of Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing Education, and a
Distinguished Fellow of the Hong Kong Innovation and Technology Development Alliance.
In 2019, Dr. Lam was awarded by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government
a Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) for serving the public and was appointed a Justice of the Peace
(JP) in 2022 by the HKSAR Government.

Dr. Lam was Chairman of Hong Kong Cyberport, and a member of the Committee on
Innovation, Technology and Re-Industrialization and the Sir Murray MacLehose Trust
Fund Investment Advisory Committee of the HKSAR Government. He is a member of the
Governance Committee of the Hong Kong Growth Portfolio and the Development Bureau
Common Spatial Data Advisory Committee of the HKSAR Government, and Convenor of
the Panel of Advisors on Building Management Disputes of the HKSAR Government Home
Affairs Department. He is also a member of the Belt and Road and Greater Bay Area
Committee of the Hong Kong Trade and Development Council and the Court of the City
University of Hong Kong, Chair of the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for
Asia and the Pacific Sustainable Business Network, Vice Chairman of Pacific Basin Economic
Council, and Chairman of the Permanent Commission on Economic and Financial Issues of
the World Union of Small and Medium Enterprises.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Lam is an executive director of Hong Kong Aerospace Technology Group Limited (Stock
Code: 1725, FKA: Eternity Technology Holdings Limited, re-designated from non-executive
director on 3 January 2022), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He is an
independent non-executive director of each of CSI Properties Limited (Stock Code: 497),
Vongroup Limited (Stock Code: 318), Mei Ah Entertainment Group Limited (Stock Code:
391), Elife Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 223, FKA: Sino Resources Group Limited), Haitong
Securities Company Limited (Stock Code: 6837, 600837 on the Shanghai Stock Exchange),
Hang Pin Living Technology Company Limited (Stock Code:1682, FKA: Hua Long Jin Kong
Company Limited), Kidsland International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2122), Greenland
Hong Kong Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 337), Huarong International Financial Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 993) and RENHENG Enterprise Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3628);
and a non-executive director of each of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 188), China LNG Group Limited (Stock Code: 931), and Mingfa Group (International)
Company Limited (Stock Code: 846, re-designated from independent non-executive director
on 23 April 2020), the shares of all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He is also
an independent non-executive director of Asia-Pacific Strategic Investments Limited
(Stock Code: 5RA, FKA: China Real Estate Grp Ltd.), Beverly JCG Ltd. (Stock Code: VFP, FKA:
JCG Investment Holdings Ltd.), Thomson Medical Group Limited (Stock Code: A50) and
Alset International Limited (Stock Code: 40V, FKA: Singapore eDevelopment Limited (re-
designated from non-executive director on 2 July 2020), the shares of all of which are listed
on the Singapore Exchange. Dr. Lam is an independent non-executive director of AustChina
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: AUH, FKA: Coalbank Limited), whose shares are listed on
the Australian Securities Exchange and TMC Life Sciences Berhad (Stock Code: 0101),
whose shares are listed on the Bursa Malaysia, and a non-executive director of Jade Road
Investments Limited (Stock Code: JADE, FKA: Adamas Finance Asia Limited), whose shares
are listed on the London Securities Exchange.

In the past three years, Dr. Lam was a non-executive director of National Arts Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8228, FKA: National Arts Entertainment and Culture Group
Limited) up to July 2022, Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (Stock Code: 455) up to August
2021, China Shandong Hi-Speed Financial Group Limited (Stock Code: 412) up to May 2020
and Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (Stock Code: 0061) up to July 2019, and he was
also an independent non-executive director of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (Stock
Code: 8148) up to March 2021 and Glorious Sun Enterprises Limited (Stock Code: 393) up
to August 2019, the shares of all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Dr. Lam was
an independent non-executive director of Huarong Investment Stock Corporation Limited
(Stock Code: 2277, which was privatized on 12 November 2020) up to December 2020 and
Hsin Chong Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 404) up to September 2019 (the shares of
which were delisted from the Stock Exchange in December 2019). He was an independent
non-executive director of each of Top Global Limited (Stock Code: BHO, listed on the
Singapore Exchange) up to August 2021 and Sunwah International Limited (Stock Code:
SWH, listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange) up to June 2021.

Wong Man Ngar Edna, aged 56, has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company since 2005, is Senior Consultant at Informa Markets, Advisory Board Member at
Impact Investment Exchange, and was formerly Regional Marketing Manager at American
Express, and Management Consultant at The Mitchell Madison Group in New York. She is a
graduate of Columbia Business School and is a member of the Company’s Audit Committee.
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The directors have pleasure to present their report and the audited financial statements
of Vongroup Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
30 April 2022.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of
the Group comprise technology businesses, property businesses and financial services
businesses.

Business Review

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which includes a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group, an analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators, particulars of important events
affecting the Group during the year, and an indication of likely future developments in
the Group’s business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on
pages 8 to 14 of this report. This discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

There are various risks and uncertainties including business risks, operational risks
and financial risks that may have different levels of impact on the Group’s financial
performance, operations, business as well as future prospects. For risks and uncertainties
relating to the business and operation of the technology business, which is the major
business of the Group, the Group’s ability of innovation and adaption of rapid change
of the technology business are critical to success and growth. If any stricter regulations
regarding the Group’s operation or the technology industry are enacted in the future,
business and operation of the Group may also be significantly impacted. Security
breaches and attacks against the Group’s systems and network, and any potentially
resulting breach or failure to otherwise protect personal, confidential and proprietary
information, could damage the reputation and negatively impact the business, as well as
materially and adversely affect the financial condition and results of operations.

Details of the financial risks are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the environment and
communities in which it operates. The Group’s operations are subject to a variety of
environmental laws and regulations. The government has taken an increasingly stringent
stance on the adoption and enforcement of rigorous environmental laws and regulations,
which could have a material adverse effect on financial condition and results of
operations and could incur additional costs.

The Group was in compliance with all relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection in all material respects and was not subject to any
environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or administrative sanctions during the year.
The Group is also committed to allocate operating and financial resources to ensure
environment protection compliance as required by applicable laws and regulations.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory requirements
and the risk of non-compliance with the applicable rules and regulations. The Group’s
operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and the PRC while the shares of the
Company are listed on The Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited. Hence, the Group shall
comply with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC and the respective
places of incorporation of the Company and its subsidiaries. In addition, the Company
is required to comply with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and other relevant regulations.

The Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group during the
year. There was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group for the year ended 30 April 2022.
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Relationship with Employees, Customers and Suppliers and other

Stakeholders

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business depends on the support from
its key stakeholders, including employees, customers, suppliers, banks, regulators and
shareholders. There were no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
key stakeholders that have a significant impact on the Group. The Group will continue
to ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key
stakeholders.

Segment Information

An analysis of the Group’s segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities for the year
ended 30 April 2022 is set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Results and Dividends

The Group’s profit for the year ended 30 April 2022 is set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 41 of this report.
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) do not recommend payment of final
dividends in respect of the year.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page
115.

Donations

No donation was made by the Group during the year (2021: Nil).

Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Properties

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment properties
of the Group during the year are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively. Further details of the Group’s properties are set out on page 114.

Share Capital

Details of the share capital are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Purchases, Sale or Redemption of Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 30 April 2022.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 44 and note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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Distributable Reserves

As at 30 April 2022, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Law (2004 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, amounted
to approximately HK$259.3 million (2021: HK$246.7 million). This includes the
Company’s share premium account, in the amount of approximately HK$628.9 million
(2021: HK$611.8 million) as at 30 April 2022, which may be distributed provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. In addition, the Company’s capital redemption reserve in the
amount of approximately HK$0.26 million (2021: HK$0.26 million) may be distributed in
the form of fully paid bonus shares.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

During the year ended 30 April 2022, the Company did not take out insurance cover in
respect of legal action against the Directors because it is believed that this legal risk to
the Directors is quite low.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Other than the share option scheme as set out in this report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The revenue attributable to the five largest customers and the largest customer of
the Group accounted for 27.0% and 9.7% of the total Group’s revenue for the year
respectively.

These customers are from the Group’s technology and related activities segment.

Purchases from the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the
total Group’s purchases for the year.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in these major customers and suppliers.

Commitments

The Group had no capital commitment during the year (2021: Nil).

Exchange Rates Exposure

Details of the exchange rate exposure are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant event has occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this
report.

Directors
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:
Executive Directors:

Vong Tat leong David
Xu Siping

Independent non-executive Directors:

Fung Ka Keung David
LAM Lee G.
Wong Man Ngar Edna

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of association, Fung Ka Keung
David and Lam Lee G. will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Independence Confirmation

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors
an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and the Company considers the independent non-executive Directors to
be independent.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

Apart from the transactions disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements,
no Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Vong Tat leong David has an employment agreement with a subsidiary of the Group
commencing on 3 September 2005, which will continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s notice in writing or until
terminated by mutual consent.

Xu Siping has an employment agreement with a subsidiary of the Group commencing on
3 September 2005, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either
party giving not less than one month’s notice in writing or until terminated by mutual
consent.

Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s board of Directors with reference to
the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Director’s and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures

As at 30 April 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to section 352 of the
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SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code $E%Fj:m§§ﬁ)\§$;gﬁ ﬁxgja’jﬂ? Sy ([1ZXESFA )
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) to be notified — ZBENE@ AN T REE AT 2 28 AR IEREL T ¢
to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
Interests in the Shares of the Company i NS
Approximate
percentage of
Name of Director Capacity Interest in shares shareholding
EEpnA 14 BRoER BABERES
Vong Tat leong David Held through a controlled corporation (note) 116,399,436 (L) 51.26%

=ED BRI RIERE ()
Remark: (L): long position

it () iR

Note:  The shares were held by Vongroup Holdings Limited which is wholly owned by Vong Tat leong
David.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 April 2022, none of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(i) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(iii) pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed in the share option scheme disclosures in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them or
was the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

Substantial Shareholder’s Interest in Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 30 April 2022, the following persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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Approximate

percentage of
Name of shareholders Capacity Interest in shares shareholding
KREREME 514 R R BMABRED L
Vongroup Holdings Limited (note 1) Beneficial owner 116,399,436 (L) 51.26%
(Htat1) EREAA
Allyking International Limited (note 2) Beneficial owner 34,885,000 (L) 15.36%
(Ktzt2) BamlEBA

Remark: (L): long position

=GN (Vo=
Note 1: Vongroup Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Vong Tat leong David.
Note 2: Allyking International Limited is wholly owned by Huang Rong.

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 30 September 2011 (the “ Scheme”).
Pursuant to the Scheme, the Directors of the Company, at their discretion, may grant
options to Directors, officers and employees (whether full time or part-time) of the
Company or a subsidiary and any other groups or classes of suppliers, customers, sub-
contractors or agents of the Group from time to time determined by the Directors as
having contributed or may contribute to the development and growth of the Group. The
Scheme expired on 29 September 2021. No share options were outstanding nor granted
during the year.

Emolument Policies

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is based on their merit,
qualifications and competence. The emoluments of the Directors are decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the market rates, workload and
responsibilities and general economic situation. The Group’s employee benefits include
performance bonus, mandatory provident fund for Hong Kong employees and social
insurance packages for the PRC employees.

Connected Transactions

The Group did not enter into any connected transactions during the year ended 30 April
2022 which were required to be discloused under the Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance and
has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (‘CG Code) as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Further information on the Company’s corporate
governance practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s issued share capital was held
by the public as at the date of this report.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be held in October 2022.
The closure of the register of members of the Company for determining the entitlement
to attend and vote at the annual general meeting will be set out in the notice of annual
general meeting which will be despatched to shareholders of the Company in due course.

Auditors

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company on 26 June
2020 and Mazars CPA Limited was appointed as auditor of the Company on 26 June 2020.
Save as aforesaid, there has been no change in auditors of the Company in any of the
preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2022
have been audited by Mazars CPA Limited, who was first appointed by the Directors
as the auditors of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2020 and will retire at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of our Company and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Vong Tat leong David
Executive Director

Hong Kong
29 August 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and improving the quality of corporate
governance so to ensure better transparency of the Company, protection of shareholders’
and stakeholders’ rights and enhance shareholder value.

During the year under review, the Company has complied with the code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and periodically reviews its corporate
governance practices to ensure that these continue to meet the requirements of the CG
Code, except for the deviation from code provisions A.1.8, A.2.1, A.4.1 and A.6.7 of the CG
Code as described below.

Under code provision A.1.8, the Company should arrange appropriate insurance cover
in respect of legal action against its directors. However, the Company did not take out
insurance cover in respect of legal action against the Directors during the year ended 30
April 2021 because it is believed that this legal risk to the Directors is quite low.

Under code provision A.2.1, the role of chairman and chief executive officer (“CEQ”)
should be performed by different individuals. Since September 2005, Vong Tat leong
David, who is a director and CEO of the Company, has also carried out the responsibilities
of the chairman of the Company. The Board considers the present structure is more
suitable to the Company for it can provide strong and consistent leadership and allow
for more efficient formulation and implementation of the Company’s development
strategies.

Under code provision A.4.1, non-executive Directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. The non-executive Directors of the Company, including
the independent non-executive Directors, are not appointed for a specific term but are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings of the
Company at least once every three years as specified in the provisions of the Company’s
articles of association. As such, the Board considers that sufficient measures have been
taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting
than those in the CG Code.

Under code provision A.6.7, independent non-executive Directors shall attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. Two
independent non-executive Directors were unable to attend the 2021 annual general
meeting of the Company held on 29 October 2021 due to their engagement with their
other commitments.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regarding securities transactions of the Directors. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirms that all Directors have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code during the year ended 30 April 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at 30 April 2022, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) comprises five members: two
executive Directors, namely Vong Tat leong David (Chief Executive Officer) and Xu Siping;
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Lee G. Lam and Fung Ka Keung
David, who both have the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise required by the Listing Rules, and Wong Man Ngar Edna.

The biographical details of the Board members are set out on page 15 of this report.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among themselves.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ Attendance Record at meetings

The Board held 6 Board meetings during the year ended 30 April 2022 and additional
Board meetings would be held when necessary. The Directors who cannot attend in
person might participate through other electronic means of communications. Due notice
and relevant materials for the meeting were given to all Directors prior to the meetings
in accordance with the Company’s articles of association and the CG Code. Details of
individual attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

g8 (®)
ESHFEERTE

EEgNEE T _HFMA=TRIEFERNRTNRES
g MALTERHGEIBTERTGEH - R H
FrEZEEBREMEFBEANN2E - REARE ZHEL
ERMAAMGEEATR ARFARGHAICARESS
HIERXBANAWER - TRBIVEREEZ HREFS

Attended/Held
SHE TETER

Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Audit Committee General
Board meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting*
Members of the Board EEgRE EEEgE FHZESEE REEZE88E BRZEEgR BRERAE*
VONG Tat leong David =5iES 6/6 11 11 - 11
XU Siping HETF 6/6 - - - 0/1
FUNG Ka Keung David B3R 6/6 11 11 2/2 0/1
LAM Lee G. MRS 6/6 11 11 2/2 11
WONG Man Ngar Edna T 6/6 - 2/2 0/1

*  Being the annual general meeting held on 29 October 2021.

Roles and Functions

The function of the Board is to formulate corporate strategy and business development.
The Board meets regularly to discuss operational issues and valuate the financial
performance of the Group. The Board will consider and approve acquisition and disposal,
remuneration policy, appointment and retirement of Directors, connected transactions,
placing and repurchase of shares and dividend policy of the Group in pursuit of its
strategic goals, if required. Control and day to day operation of the Company is delegated
to the CEO and the management of the Company.

Induction and Continuing Development For Directors

The Directors are encouraged to attend external seminars and training programmes at
the Company’s expense to update themselves with legal and regulatory developments,
and the business and market changes to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
Continuing briefings and professional development to Directors will be arranged
whenever necessary.

During the year, the Directors including Vong Tat leong David, Xu Siping, Fung Ka Keung
David, Lee G. Lam and Wong Man Ngar Edna, were provided with regular updates on
the Group’s business and operations and have complied with the code provision A.6.5
of the Code on continuous professional development by participating in appropriate
trainings and seminars and reading Listing Rules, updates, articles and/or materials etc.
as appropriate.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG code, the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.

Vong Tat leong David, who is a director and CEO of the Company, has also carried out
the responsibilities of the chairman of the Company. The Board considers the present
structure is more suitable to the Company for it can provide strong and consistent
leadership and allow for more efficient formulation and implementation of the
Company’s development strategies.

The Company will, from time to time, review the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate
governance structure and consider whether any changes, including the separation of the
roles of Chairman and CEO, are necessary.
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TERM OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Under code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive Directors should be appointed
for a specific term, subject to re-election. The non-executive Directors of the Company,
including the independent non-executive Directors, are not appointed for a specific
term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meetings of the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles
of association, and the terms of their appointment will be reviewed when they are due
for re-election. As such, the Board considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those
in the CG Code.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In order to ensure the independence of the policymaking process of the Board
and protect the interest of its shareholders, the Company appoints three qualified
independent non-executive Directors, as such, the Company complies with Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules of having at least one-third of the Board being represented by
independent non-executive Directors. One of the independent non-executive Directors
has the appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and related financial
management expertise required under Rule 3.10(2).

According to the provisions of the CG Code, a service term of over nine years is one of the
key factors in determining the independence of an independent non-executive director.
All independent non-executive Directors, namely Fung Ka Keung David (“Mr. Fung”),
Lam Lee G. (“Dr. Lam”) and Wong Man Ngar Edna, have served as independent non-
executive Directors for over nine years. During their years of service with the Company,
all independent non-executive Directors have contributed by providing independent
viewpoints and advice to the Company in relation to its businesses, operations, future
development and strategy. The Board considers that all independent non-executive
Directors have the character, integrity, ability and experience to continue to fulfill his
role as required effectively. The Company believes that all independent non-executive
Directors can independently express opinions on matters of the Company and there
is no evidence that their over nine years of service with the Company would have any
impact on their independence and therefore their independence is confirmed. According
to the code provision B.2.3 of the CG Code, if an independent non-executive director
serves more than nine years, his further appointment should be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by shareholders. Mr. Fung and Dr. Lam will soon retire on
rotation, and being eligible, offers themselves for reelection at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. According to the provisions of CG Code B.2.3, re-appointment of Mr.
Fung and Dr. Lam by separate resolutions of the Shareholders at the said meeting will be
recommended by the Company.

The Company has received the annual confirmation of independence from each of the
independent non-executive Directors as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The Company’s Audit Committee is composed of three independent non-executive
Directors, currently, Lee G. Lam (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Fung Ka Keung
David and Wong Man Ngar Edna. The Audit Committee members performed their duties
within written terms of reference formulated by the Company in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules. Its primary duties are as below:

(1) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal;

(2) review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards;

(3) review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems;

(4) review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices; and

(5) discuss the risk management and internal control systems with management of the
Company to ensure that management has performed its duty to have an effective
systems, including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the year with an attendance rate of
100%. In the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the financial statements for the
year ended 30 April 2021 and for the six months ended 31 October 2021, considered
and approved the audit work of the auditors and reviewed the business and financial
performance of the Company and the internal control system and risk management.

The Group’s results for the year ended 30 April 2022 have been reviewed by the
Company’s Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Company’s Remuneration Committee is composed of two independent non-executive
Directors, Lee G. Lam (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Fung Ka Keung
David, and one executive Director, Vong Tat leong David. The Remuneration Committee
members performed their duties within written terms of reference formulated by the
Company in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. Its primary duties are
as below:

(1) make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for
all directors’ and senior management remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(2) review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

(3) either: (i) determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management, or (ii) make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive directors and senior management (This should include benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment);
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

(4) make recommendations to the Board regarding the remuneration of non-executive
directors;

(5) ensure due compliance with any relevant disclosure requirements in respect of the
remuneration of directors as well as other remuneration related matters under the
Listing Rules (including without limitation, Appendix 16), the Companies Ordinance
and any other statutory requirements; and

(6) review and make recommendations to the Board regarding the pension
arrangements for directors and senior management.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration policies and
approved the remuneration of the Directors. No executive Director has taken part in any
discussion about his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year with an attendance
rate of 100%. In the meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved the
remuneration of Directors according to their respective responsibilities, expertise and
performance.

Nomination Committee

The Company’s Nomination Committee is composed of two independent non-executive
Directors, Lee G. Lam and Fung Ka Keung David and one executive Director, Vong Tat
leong David (Chairman of the Nomination Committee). The Nomination Committee
members performed their duties with written terms of reference formulated by the
Company in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. Its primary duties are
as below:

(1) formulate nomination policy for consideration by the Board and implement the
nomination policy approved by the Board;

(2) without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing:

i. consider the selection criteria of directors, develop procedures for the sourcing
and selection of candidates to stand for election by shareholders of the
Company;

ii. identify suitably qualified candidates to become Board members, select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships or to fill casual vacancies of directors for the Board’s approval;

iii. review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

iv. assess the independence of independent non-executive directors;

v. make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
directors and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive;

vi. review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate; and review the measureable
objectives for implementing diversity on the Board and recommend them to the
Board for adoption; and report on the Board’s composition under diversified
perspectives in the corporate governance report of the Company annually;

vii. do any such things to enable the Nomination Committee to discharge its powers
and functions conferred on it by the Board; and

viii. conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from time to
time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the articles of association of the
Company (as amended from time to time) or imposed by law or in accordance
with the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

According to the board diversity policy, board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service etc. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service etc. The responsibilities and authority
for selection and appointment of Directors is delegated to the Nomination Committee
but the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors of the
Company rests with the entire Board. The final decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee are disclosed on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. The Nomination Committee will also consider recommendations for
candidates made by shareholders of the Company. Regular reviews will be conducted
by the Nomination Committee on the structure, size and composition of the Board and
where appropriate, the Nomination Committee will make recommendations on changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year with an attendance rate of
100%.

Corporate Governance Functions

During the year under review, the Audit Committee is responsible to help the Board for
determining the policy for the corporate governance of the Company and performing the
corporate governance duties as below:

* to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and make recommendations to the Board;

» to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and senior management;

*  to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with all legal
and regulatory requirements;

* to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and Directors; and

e to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure requirements in
the Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees for audit services payable to Mazars CPA Limited for the year ended 30 April
2022 was HK$1,050,000 (2021: HK$780,000).

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing consolidated financial
statements for the financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and of the Group’s results and its cash flows.

The Directors consider that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern for the year ended
30 April 2022.

The Board has not taken any different view from that of the Audit Committee regarding
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditor.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The statement of the Auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report to this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company and its subsidiaries and reviewing their effectiveness. The Board oversees the
overall risk management of the Group and endeavors to identify, control impact of the
identified risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating measures.

During the year, the Company has adopted and reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control and risk management procedures which include the policies, procedures,
monitoring and communication activities and standard of behaviour established for
safeguarding the interests of the shareholders of the Company. The risk management
and internal control systems of the Company aim to help achieving the Group’s business
objectives, safeguarding assets and maintaining proper accounting records for provision
of reliable financial information. However, the design of the systems are to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement in the financial
statements or loss of assets and to manage, rather than eliminate, the risks of failure
when business objectives are being sought.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks by the Group are
summarized as follows:

Risk Identification

« Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment

*  Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria developed by the
management; and

*  Considers the impact and consequence on the business and the likelihood of their
occurrence.

Risk Response

«  Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk assessment; and

* Determines the risk management strategies and internal control processes to
prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

*  Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and ensures that appropriate
internal control processes are in place;

*  Revises the risk management strategies and internal control processes in case of any
significant change of situation; and

*  Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management and the Board regularly.

Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the internal auditor who reports
directly to the Audit Committee. Internal auditor plays an important part in the
assessment of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group and reports directly to the Audit Committee on a regular basis.

The internal auditor conducts internal reviews on material controls and compliance with
policies and procedures of the Group at both operational and corporate levels. Plans and
tools for corrective actions and control improvement are identified and communicated
with operations management to address an issue, non-compliance or deficiencies
identified. The internal auditor monitors the implementation of his recommendations by
operations management and reports the outcomes to the Audit Committee.

The Company has a policy to assess the likely impact of any unexpected and significant
event that may impact the price of the Shares or their trading volume and to decide
whether the relevant information is considered as inside information that needs to be
disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the
Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Audit Function (Continued)

Based on its assessment which covers all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions, the Board
believes that for the year ended 30 April 2022, the Company’s internal control and
risk management systems are effective and adequate. The Board is satisfied that there
are adequate resources of staff with appropriate qualifications and experience in its
accounting and financial reporting team and that sufficient training and budget have
been provided.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tsui Siu Hung Raymond, the secretary of the Company, confirmed that he had
attained no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 30
April 2022.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Dividends may be declared from time to time by the Company to its shareholders. The
Company does not have any predetermined dividend pay-out ratio. The declaration and
payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion of the Board after taking
into account, among others, the general financial condition of the Group, the capital
and debt level of the Group, the future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development needs, the general market
conditions and any other factors that the Board deems appropriate. The payment of
dividends by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the all applicable laws,
rule and regulations and the articles of association of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
1) Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”)

Pursuant to the Articles 58 of the Articles of the Company, an EGM can be convened
on the requisition of one or more shareholders of the Company holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of
the Company, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

2)  Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles of the Company or the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands for shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a
general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

However, shareholders are requested to follow Article 88 of the Articles of the
Company for including a resolution at any general meeting. Pursuant to Article
88 of the Articles of the Company, no person other than a retiring Director shall,
unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for election to the
office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing by a Member (not
being the person to be proposed) entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose such person for election as a
Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall
have been lodged at the office or head office of the Company at least seven days
before the date of the general meeting, such period for lodgment of the notices shall
commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven days prior to the
date of such meeting provided that such period shall be at least seven days.

3) Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send requisitions and requests to the Board or the secretary of the
Company in written form to the principal place of business of the Company at 17A,
EGL Tower, 83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 30 April 2022, there was no change to the articles of association

of the Company. The Company has posted its articles of association on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

We are pleased to present this report in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) contained in Appendix 27 and
the requirements set out in Rule 13.91 of the Listing Rules. The report describes the
Company’s policies that were designed to fulfill the Company’s obligations with respect
to sustainable development and social responsibilities areas, as required by the ESG
Guide. This report covers the operational information, which includes data and activities
of the Group’s head offices in Hong Kong and the PRC, and its reporting period covers
the period from 1 May 2021 to 30 April 2022 (the “Reporting Period”). The Group will
illustrate and highlight its efforts and performance in both environmental and social
aspects for the Group’s business operations in this report. In respect of the corporate
governance practices of the Company, please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report”
section of this report.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The information in the ESG Report is derived from the integration and summary
conducted by the management, employees and external stakeholders in which the ESG
report is to assess and review the impacts towards the environment and society arising
from the operations of the Group as well as how these operating practices are material
to the Group’s business operations and stakeholders. The communication channels for
review includes but not limited to employee trainings, corporate website and customers’
feedback. The information collected for the ESG report is not only a summary of the
environmental and social initiatives carried out by the Group, but also the basis for
formulation, review and update of the sustainable development strategies and directions
of the Group.

STAKEHOLDERS’ ENGAGEMENT

We believe that good communication with the investors, shareholders, employees
and other stakeholders is the foundation for the Group to formulate its policies for
sustainable development. We attach great importance to the opinions of the stakeholders
and drive attentions and perform regular reviews on those areas.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our environmental, social and
governance approach and performance. Please give your suggestions or share your views
with us via email: enquiries@thevongroup.com.

(A) ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS
Overview

We know that the quality of environmental protection procedures is very important
to achievement of long-term success of our Company. Our priority is to protect the
environment and our target is to minimise adverse impact on the environment by
adopting world class environmental protection practices in our operational activities.

We do our best to ensure that the concept of environmental sustainability is
integrated into every part of our daily business operations.

We keep on monitoring all types of changes in the ways of producing waste and/
or utilising energy during the process of carrying on our business activities with the
aim of mitigating any unfavourable impact of our operations on the environment.
We continually review and update our ESG policies, if applicable, to ensure that
there is a balance between sustainable corporate development and environmental
protection.

It is often our great desire to minimise the negative impact of our operational
activities on the environment by improving energy efficiency, reducing all kinds of
waste and supporting education as to environmental protection.

Emissions
The Group understands the importance of environmental protection. It actively

implements multiple measures for environmental protection in its operations and
formulates various management policies to reduce emissions.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)

(A) ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)

(B

Emissions (Continued)

While the main business of the Group is not production, its operations do not impose
much impact on water, land or air by way of greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and/or generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes.
We do not produce any hazardous waste and we strive to minimise volume of non-
hazardous waste that we produce during the course of our daily operations. Our
greenhouse gases emissions are indirectly, principally resulting from electricity
consumed at the Company’s workplace as well as from business travel by employees.

During the reporting period, the Group did not generate any significant hazardous
waste during its operations. Therefore, no relevant internal regulations have been
formulated.

Use of resources

The Group encourages the reduction of energy consumption. Energy saving light
bulbs and LED lighting systems are used in all offices of the Group. The Group
encourages making use of natural daylight and refrain from turning on unnecessary
lights during daytime. Meanwhile, rules on energy saving are implemented to ensure
that all equipment and lights of conference rooms are turned off when they are not
in use. Equipment and office machinery including but not limited to computers,
printers and photocopiers are to be switched to sleep mode immediately after use.
Employees are required to turn off lights and computers before leaving the office.
Energy saving devices are installed to reduce consumption of electricity and water
after office hours. The total electricity energy consumption during the Reporting
Period was 38,953 KWh (2021:34,943 KWh).

We try our best to avoid unnecessary wastage of paper and promote effective
usage of paper. In our daily operations, we maximise usage of e-versions instead of
hardcopies wherever it is possible. We encourage our staff to work more effectively
in a paperless environment. In case there is still a need for printing, we make use
of double-sided printing generally, and reuse the recycled paper with one side of
it already used for those documents used internally. The total paper consumption
during the Reporting Period was 100 kg (2021: 175 kg).

Meanwhile, the Group also adopts policy to reduce the use of disposable
consumables, such as disposable cutlery and plastic bottled water. Measures to
promote separation of waste for reuse and recycle are in place pursuant to which
certain consumables of photocopiers and printers such as cartridges and toners,
waste paper that cannot be reused and discarded computers are to be separated
from other daily solid waste for recycling.

SOCIAL ASPECTS
Employment

As at 30 April 2022, the total number of employees being employed by the Group was
55 (2021: 50). The Group understands that human resource is one of its most valuable
assets, the provision of a stimulating and harmonious working environment can improve
the sense of belongings to its employees. Employees and Directors are remunerated
based on their educational qualifications, industry experience, performance, current
industry practices and prevailing market conditions and in accordance with pertinent
labour laws and regulations. Apart from the basic package, for instance, severance
payment, mandatory provident fund, employment compensation insurance, annual
leaves, sick leaves, additional remuneration and benefits such as performance-based
bonuses and other staff welfare benefits are provided.

Health and Safety

Our Company complies with the relevant laws and regulations regarding industrial
safety, hygiene and health and other caring arrangements for employees. The
Company’s business operations do not involve any high-risk work activities that
could lead to serious industrial events or occupational health problems. We care
about our staff members’ health and safety. In this respect, the Company provides
relevant updates of occupational safety and health to its employees by means of
leaflets and training courses which are conducted by the Labour Department. During
the year, there was no case of injuries reported.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)

(B) SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Development and Training

The Group encourages lifelong learning and offer trainings to its employees to
enhance their performance and to provide support to their personal development.
The objective of the Group’s human resource management is to reward and
recognise performing staff by a sound performance appraisal system with
appropriate incentives, salaries and wages are reviewed annually based on
performance appraisals, qualifications, experience, position and seniority.

Labour Standard

The Group’s recruitment management system measures clearly on the staff’s age
requirement. Review and verification of applicant’s identity information is required
during the recruitment process, and recruitment of child labor is strictly prohibited.
Applicant is also required to provide document proofs of academic qualifications
and working experience for verifications, applicant who is suspected to have false
academic qualifications and working experience will not be employed. The Group
provides its staff with a safe, health, comfortable working environment with
labor protection, reasonable remuneration and various welfare. The Group enters
employment contract with each of its employees in accordance with relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong, and has strictly complied with such laws
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

Supply Chain Management

It is the Group’s policy to undertake procurement so as to advance our economic,
environmental and social objectives. New suppliers will be assessed and their
products will be evaluated before engagement. Preference will be given to socially
responsible entities, energy efficient equipment and environmental friendly
products. Ongoing quality monitoring and supervision is in place to ensure
procurements are conducted specific to the Group’s requirement.

Product responsibility

The quality of the product is very important to the Group. The Group has establishes
various communication channels including company’s website, e-mail and telephone
for customers to give their feedback to the Group. Customer’s satisfaction will
become the driving force for the Group to increase the quality of the product. Also,
the Group respects the privacy of the customer, protecting customer’s and supplier’s
data and privacy of client information. They are kept in confidentiality and destroyed
in accordance with the Group’s policy on document retention.

Anti-corruption and Anti-Fraud

The Company maintains a high standard of business integrity throughout its
operations and tolerates no corruption or bribery in any form. We encourage the
reporting of suspected business irregularities and provide clear channels specifically
for this purpose. When suspected wrongdoings are identified, such as breach of
duty, abuse of power, receiving bribes, staff should report for investigation and
verification, and report to the regulator and/or to law enforcement authority when
necessary.

Community Investment

Although the Group was not involved in charity or community events during
the reporting period, it is committed to conducting business without making
any potential environmental and social impact to its stakeholders especially
its employees and the community members. The Company often explores the
opportunities of incorporating environmental and social elements into its
investment decisions and operational management, with reference to best practices
in the industry and internationally recognised ESG standards.
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mazZars
fOH &

To the members of Vongroup Limited
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vongroup Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 41 to 114,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 April 2022,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2022, and of its financial performance and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”)
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements”
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

MAZARS CPA LIMITED

FERR(EB) EHHSEMERAA
42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BB BB B85 IRES421E
Tel EE%: (852) 2909 5555

Fax fEE: (852) 2810 0032

Email I info@mazars.hk

Website #8141 : www.mazars.hk
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRESER
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RRESEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMHENAEERRENSE

Fair value of investment properties

REWEZ A FE

Refer to Notes 2 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRMGE B IHREN 22512 -

The Group’s investment properties were measured at fair value of
approximately HK$239,050,000 as at 30 April 2022.
RZBE-Z_FNA=+A1H" EENEBEEMERLATED
239,050,000/ JLATE ©

The management of the Group has estimated the fair values of
the Group’s investment properties based on independent external
valuations. These valuations are dependent on certain key
assumptions that required significant management judgement,
including market unit value of comparable properties, premium or
discount adjustments to these market values for factors specific to
the characteristics of the Group’s investment properties compared
to recent sales on the comparable transactions and assuming the
investment properties are capable of being sold in existing status.
EXEEEEENDERBUIINIEERT BEEEERAMENLT
B-ZEMERES TEREE FTE2EREFHERAE 215
AALBYENTSEMER HE BESERENEFNES
mliﬁm% BEEELOELITELBRR S0 R ESITEFE
WRRIR AW HEARBERHE -

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter because the
valuation of the investment properties, which are material, involved
significant judgements and estimates including the determination
of valuation techniques and the selection of different inputs in the
models.

BMEK L EBERE-—HERREETFE REAREMEM
BEEEX PREXRAB KRG REGERN BT REXF
AN EHE 2 EE -

Our audit procedures, among others, included:

B ETIEF R (RPaeR):

evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and competence of the independent
professional valuer;

MR EEMAERM 2 BB - 880 KBE

reviewing the valuation report from the independent professional valuer and
discussing with management of the Group and the valuer to understand the
valuation basis and methodology used, underlying assumptions applied and
critical judgements used in the valuation of investment properties; and
EHBVEEMEM 2 HERERE EXEEEERAEMARKRE
MEMERA 2 EEEERTE IR ZAEERERERAE &

checking, on a sample basis, the underlying data including comparable of
market transactions being used by the independent professional valuer and
assessing the appropriateness.

M BEEEEE BEBCEXGEMMA A LERMISER
SR -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRESER

RRESEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMHENAEERRENSE

Allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) assessment on accounts receivable, loan receivables and deposits and other receivables

YR EREFRESREMERFAZBAEEEE ([RHEEER)BE

Refer to Notes 2, 18, 19, 20 and 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRI A AN E2 18 - 19 ~ 20534 ©

As at 30 April 2022, the Group had accounts receivable, loan
receivables and deposits and other receivables (net of loss allowance
for ECL) of approximately HK$116,361,000, HK$25,608,000 and
HK$37,152,000, respectively. The loss allowance for ECL on accounts
receivable, loan receivables and deposits and other receivables were
approximately HK$9,225,000, HK$1,249,000 and HK$7,686,000,
respectively, as at 30 April 2022.

RZZFEZZFMA=+H EBEEBEZEKER BERERK
Re REMBUGFEHBREREESBZEBEEREB)DNOA
116,361,000/ 7T ~ 25,608,000/8 7T £:37,152,000/ 7L R —F — —
FOA=FA ERER BRERKIZS RE M ERGRIE &
MEEEBZBEREB D 54 /9,225,000 7T * 1,249,000/ 7T &
7,686,000/ 7T, ©

The management of the Group performed periodic assessment on
the recoverability of the accounts receivable, loan receivables and
deposits and other receivables and the sufficiency of provision
for loss allowance for ECL based on information including credit
profile of different debtors, ageing of the accounts receivable,
loan receivables and deposits and other receivables, historical
settlement records, subsequent settlement status, expected timing
and amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and ongoing
trading relationships with the relevant debtors. The management
of the Group also considered forward-looking information that may
impact the debtors’ ability to repay the outstanding balances in
order to estimate the ECL for the loss allowance for ECL assessment.
The Group engaged an independent professional valuer for ECL
assessment on accounts receivable, loan receivables and deposits
and other receivables.
EEBEEEERBREBSAZEEMRR BRER BRERRIZ
S REMERRIEBZERR BIEERE RELEKRR  RE
BEBERVEHSELSEUNREBEBAZEEZE B E
SEM T AR B E R iR & H b Y RIE 2 7
WEMREREEBE BEREE 2 TRE BEXEERE
MERMEMER ZEAHURETEEBABEREENRTE
2T UBtTEEE B BATEIERE  MERREEREBT
e BESXEZEBUEEAEMEBREER BRERKZES R
H b M IR B E BB 1RAT (4 -

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter because
of its significance to the consolidated financial statements and the
subjective judgements made by the management of the Group over
assessing the credit standing of the Group’s debtors and therefore
the estimation of ECL of accounts receivable, loan receivables and
deposits and other receivables.

BME# R FERIE-—HRARENFE REAHYGEUE
WMEZEEZUHUAR BESEEEENTE BESXBEBAZEE
ARSI B L e 5T FE U BR 3K - RS R I 4R < Tk L i P W SR IE B 4
o 2 B T o

Our audit procedures, among others, included:

B ESIEFRE(RPaeR):

a)

obtaining an understanding of the Group’s credit risk management and
practices, and assessing the Group’s impairment provisioning policy in
accordance with the requirements of applicable accounting standards;
BERER BESEEERBEEIEHR WREBERASERNFE B
SERERBEEE

evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and competence of the independent
professional valuer;

B BB 2 T8N - e RBEN

assessing the application of impairment methodology of ECL, and checking the
assumptions and key parameters to external data sources where available, on a
sample basis;

SHETEEE EBBRET EZER - RIEFIEIER N BB E I ERR
pACE YLl L

inquiring of management of the Group for the status of each of the material
accounts receivable, loan receivables and deposits and other receivables past
due as at year end and corroborating explanations from management of the
Group with supporting evidence, such as understanding ongoing business
relationship with the debtors based on trade records, checking historical and
subsequent settlement records of and other correspondences with the debtors;
SREMEBRRBz MR REHEREE BEETEEZHE(WRE
Dotk TREBEBAZHEEBRR ZEEEANBERBEERD
B R BEERANEMARGR)EN BEEEERE

assessing the reasonableness and relevancy of the external information used
by the Group as the forward-looking information including economic data and
forecasts published by government bodies and monetary authorities; and

FHE BESERERREER 2 NER 2 & B RERB N - BIEBUTH
BREBEREMILSBEEBERIEN &

checking the accuracy of the calculation of ECL based on the methodology
adopted by the Group and the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in relation to
credit risk exposed by the Group in the consolidated financial statements.
BERE BEEMEMNZTETEZEREERB2ERE R BE
ERGeBRENEHE BSREMER2EERR KR ERIT-
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Key audit matter

BRESER

FAREARAR FR022

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIYBRHEMRE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMHENAEERRENSE

Acquisition accounting for Claman Global Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Claman Group”) and TeamTech Digital Corporation and its

subsidiaries (the “TeamTech Group”)

Claman Global Limited 52 2 [ /& 2 7] ([ Claman£ & |) X TeamTech Digital Corporation X Ef1/E 2 5] ([ TeamTechE & |) 2 KB EEE

Refer to Notes 2, 14 and 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRI A EREN 2 - 1430 ¢

The Group completed the acquisition of the Claman Group and
the TeamTech Group during the year at a maximum nominal
consideration of approximately HK$29,800,000 and HK$16,500,000
(including contingent consideration of HK$15,000,000), respectively
(the “Acquisitions”). The Acquisitions constituted business
combinations for accounting purposes.

FR BEEBESTRUIEEECNaman%kE KTeamTechf£E - &
%ﬁ““ﬁﬁmmwmm@m&mmmm&ME%y%ﬁF
15,000,000 T ([ WHEEE ] -t BEOM S - ZZHERER
BT E B o

The initial accounting for the Acquisitions requires the Group to
identify the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and measure
their amounts. The Group has appointed an independent
professional valuer to assist in determining the acquisition-date fair
value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the Claman Group and
the TeamTech Group and contingent consideration where applicable.
WIHEEEZ LSRR ER EXEBAIFMKEESERPAE
BE WiEHLE BSXECZABYIEMGER UiHHE
ECIaman%@&TeamTech’i@Z—Iﬁiﬁlﬁﬁ&ﬁ BRI EIEH
B A TERIARE(NER) -

We considered this matter to be a key audit matter because of the
significant impact of the Acquisitions on the consolidated financial
statements, and the inherent judgement involved in estimating the
value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
HRBBEEEEGEMBERREEATE UGB IREEE
MFrEEEBECEERMS R AEHE  BMRALEIERH
RETER

TTEE

Our procedures, among others, included:

HMeEFEE(EREE):

evaluating management’s assessment of the terms of the acquisition
agreement;

FHEE IR B W UE TR G E R0

understanding the valuation processes and methodology, significant
assumptions adopted and key inputs used in the identification and valuation of
assets and liabilities and valuation of contingent consideration;
BRIREEEERBEARMGESARBREAHALEABRZLEER
ANEH

challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions used by management based
on our knowledge and understanding of the business of the Claman Group and
the TeamTech Group and market;

IRIEH I Clamank B RTeamTech & B ¥ R T 5 2 B R RIZEE - HE
BEMRAZETERR 2 SBMERBER

assessing the appropriateness of the methodology and the reasonableness of
significant assumptions in determining the values of contingent consideration
recognised and assets acquired and liabilities assumed including fair value
adjustments at date of acquisition; and

HEREZ B REEMBAIARELMUBEERIAERE(R
FERUEEERR s ATERR)BERZEARR 2SN &

evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent
professional valuer.

AHMEB EXGMEMZEEN g REENT -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRESER

RRESEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMHENAEERRENSE

Impairment assessment on goodwill

B2 Bl (B 5P

Refer to Notes 2, 14 and 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRRFE BTN E2 ~ 14530

As at 30 April 2022, the Group had goodwill of approximately
HK$39,331,000 arising from the step-up acquisition of the Claman
Group.
m:%::EEH*+E
E5E S P WENamanE

E 5 BB R E4939,331,00008 7T 0 Jh
EifELE -

The Group is required to perform impairment assessment of
goodwill at least annually. The Group has appointed an independent
professional valuer to assist in determining the recoverable amount
of the goodwill supported by value-in-use calculation, which is based
on future discounted cash flows, prepared by the management.
EEEAZVBFHMBETREN G BEXEEZAEBLE
¥EEM BYETAEEERUNEZRRMBRERETEN
CREEMZENENATREEEE-

We have identified the above matters as a key audit matter because
of calculation of recoverable amount involves significant estimates
and judgments about future market conditions, including the growth
rate of revenue and discount rate applied in the calculation.
BN E AT RE &8P R EARRTR(BIEAERAERZ m
BRERURER) 7SRNG RAE BMEK ERAFERATE
BEIZEH

Our procedures, among others, included:

BAERFRE(EREE):

assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology used in the
impairment assessment;

SR ER L PTERANhER EREEE

assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions adopted by the
management in calculating the recoverable amount based on our knowledge of
the business and industry;

A EREEBRBEHEBRITECEBEAENE S EMRAZ EFERER L
CpEday

testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy and reliance of the input data used,;

HPTA I A\ E R B R R AT SE IR TR R AR B

testing management sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions to ascertain
that selected adverse changes to key assumptions would not cause impairment
loss; and
EIJ*TEIE@SU‘Z
B

DI AREEPTEE 2 T EBRRTINE S TS GEORER

evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent
professional valuer.

BB BR ML EM 2B EN B RFHIE -



OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s 2022 annual report
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

*  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

+ Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

«  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 August 2022

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is:
Tsoi Wa Shan
Practising Certificate Number: P07514
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FAREARAR FR022

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mERERAMEERER
YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022
BE_B__HFNA=+HILEE

2022 2021
—EC-CHF —E -5
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mfat FET FAT
Revenue Wz 4 193,230 110,689
Other revenue Hib Yz 5 158 670
Cost of inventories FEAR (4,694) -
Staff costs BIRA 6 (11,812) (8,459)
Expenses recognised under short-term leases REHERETHER MY (901) (808)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses ENEBHAS 11, 13 (5,235) (766)
Administrative and other operating expenses TR R EAMEERY (151,724) (70,712)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEB AR Z WS - 175
Gain on disposal of an investment property HEREYE W= 12 792 -
Net impairment losses recognised in respect of financial — FUIZEFSEAKATBR 2 @ R E ERR L
assets at amortised cost HIEERFRE 1,335 (6,302)
Change in fair value of investment properties REWMEZ AT ER 12 6,310 (2,333)
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value FERBEREATENER
through profit or loss (‘FVPL’) ([BREREATESER]
ZEMEEZNFER 16(b) 23 42
Change in fair value of contingent consideration payable & a0 A((E 2 A T (A% 24 (1,150) -
Finance costs BT A AR 6 (591) (357)
Profit before income tax BT B R AR R 6 25,741 21,839
Income tax expense ISR 7 (1,632) (1,601)
Profit for the year REERR 24,109 20,238
Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year AEEHME2E(ER) WA
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss HE T eE8 782 E8msBE
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value FEREMEEBARATESR
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) ([FEBHEMEEWAZRRAFENER])
ZeRMEELATEE 35(b) - 116
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss B A[fEE# 1B % 1575 2 B H
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations R E G I G 7E 4 7 E H, 258 (628) 1,917
Total other comprehensive (loss) income for the year, ZANEEHM2E (EE) WAL  IBRBIE
net of tax (628) 2,033
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEZEBRALLE 23,481 22,271
Profit for the year attributable to: T & EERFERF
Owners of the Company PIN/NEIEZ P =N 20,037 20,238
Non-controlling interests IR R 4,072 -
24,109 20,238
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable T3/ &EEREEZENEHEE :
to:
Owners of the Company ZN/NCIEZ SN 19,409 22,271
Non-controlling interests FEFERR iR 4,072 -
23,481 22,271
Earnings per share BRER 10 HK cents &1l HK cents Al
Basic and diluted HAR#E 8.98 10.53
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FERMBMRRE
AS AT 30 APRIL 2022
R-ZE-_FMA=1H

2022 2021
—E-CF —E -5
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
MieE FET FET

Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB L& 11 10,870 11,592
Investment properties REYE 12 239,050 243,828
Intangible assets \VEE 13 29,750 -
Goodwill RS 14 39,331 -
Financial assets at FVOCI FEREMEAWALZAFEINEZSBEE 15 - 23,924
Financial assets at FVPL BEREREATEIEZSRHEE 16 1,615 1,592
320,616 280,936

Current assets REBEE
Financial assets at FVPL FREREATEIEZ e REE 16 5,000 4,766
Forfeited collaterals held for sale HEELIEAR 17 310 313
Inventories FE 21 2,533 -
Accounts receivable JiE U BR R 18 116,361 69,636
Loan receivables U E R 19 25,608 29,405
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables %o AR R E A AR 20 37,152 28,147
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRS 22 84,022 37,857
270,986 170,124
Current liabilities REBAE

Accruals, deposits received and other payables FERTFIR - BURE R H AR FOR 23 18,230 13,547
Interest-bearing borrowings EEE 25 70,952 22,139
Current portion of contingent consideration payable BRI AREZ REH D 24 2,351 -
Tax payables FERI BB 2,610 644
94,143 36,330
Net current assets REEETFE 176,843 133,794
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERE 497,459 414,730

Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Contingent consideration payable JEfT S ARIE 24 7,862 -
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE 26 6,185 809
14,047 809
NET ASSETS EERE 483,412 413,921

Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital A% 2 27 9,083 7,688
Reserves i 29 442,736 406,233
Equity attributable to owners of the Company NARER AELER 451,819 413,921
Non-controlling interests IR 317 31,593 -
TOTAL EQUITY B 483,412 413,921
These consolidated financial statements on pages 41 to 114 were approved and — H41HEZH114B 258 BHRACHEF SR —F - —F

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 August 2022 and signed on its behalf

by:

Vong Tat leong David
HES
Director

BE

NAZTABMERZETIE IHTIHEEAXRES -

Xu Siping
RETF
Director

BE



FAREARAR FR022

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GREERBRR
YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022
BE-E-__FNA=THLEE

Reserves
B
Financial
Property Capital Statutory assets at Exchange Non-
Share Share  revaluation  redemption surplus FVOCI  translation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interest ~ Total equity
Fathe
ARAED
SR
WEEf  EREE  EERK  SREE
k& ROEE fite fife e ffE  ENfR  ZiEE a  FeRES Y 3
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn T TEn Thn T Thm T TEn T Tim T
(Note27)  (Note 29a)  (Note 29))  (Note 29c)  (Wote29d) ~ (Note29e)  (Note29f)
() (Ene) (o) (W2wg)  (WEe)  (B2oe)  (FE295)
AL1 May 2020 RZFZZERA-A 7,688 611,780 131 262 m (15409) 46 (114222) 391,650 - 391,650
Profit for the year KEERT - - - - - - - 20238 20,238 - 20,238
Other comprehensive income A2ERA
tem that will not be reclassified to -~ AR BT EEFHEZEE
profitor loss ZEH
Changes in fair value of financial ~ EEBEHZATEFHZ
asets at FYOCI SREEILTERY - - - - - 116 - - 116 - 116
Jtem that may be reclassified ARUREN A BZERL
subsequently to profit or loss ER
Eichange differences on translation B EENEHES 2
of foreign operations EXZR - - - - - - 1917 - 1917 - 1917
Total other comprehensive income  AEFHM2AUALE
for the year - - - - - 116 1917 20238 21 - 21
Total comprehensive income REEREANAEE
for the year - - - - - 116 1917 20,238 2071 - 221
At 30 April 2021 WoB-—EMA=+H 7688 611,780 1,231 ® Mo (15289) 1963 (193984 413,91 - ma
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FEEREBR

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022
BE_B__HFNA=tHILEE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

FORERAEE
Reserves
fife
Financial
Property Capital Statutory assets at Exchange Non-
Share Share  revaluation  redemption surplus FVOCI  translation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interest ~ Total equity
Fatpe
ARARR
TSI
WEER  EREE  EERR  SREE
k& ROEE i L i B EiRk  REE a  FoRES Y 3
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000
Fitn Thr Th Tikn Fir Thr Thn Titn Thr T T
(Note27)  (Note 29a)  (Note29b)  (Note29()  (Note29)  (Note29e) — (Note29(f))
() (o) (hRow)  (WEmg) (W) (B2oe)  (FE295)
At30 April 2021 and 1 May 2021 RZZ--FRA=1RE
—5--%1f-H 7,688 611,780 1,231 262 270 (15,289) 1,963 (193,984) 43921 - 413,92
Profitfor the year REREA - - - - - - - 2,037 20,037 401 24,109
Other comprehensive loss A2 EER
tem that may be reclassified AR EN S EE Rl
subsequently to profit or loss EH
Exchange differences on translation BB EHE 2
of foreign operations EXzE - - - - - - 628) - (628) - (628)
Total other comprehensive loss for ~~ ZEEEp2EHELE
the year - - - - - - (628) - (628) - (628)
Total comprehensive (loss) income A2 (F8) WA
for the year - - - - - - (628) 20,037 19,409 4072 23,481
Transaction with owners HEEARS
Derecognition of financial assetsat WA FEZBHE L AR
FVOC upon step-up acquisition of X IF S BAE (M
asubsidiary (ote 73) 1) - - - - - 5,076 - (5,076) - - -
Contributions and distributions BERAK
Shares issued for acquisition of BRBHELAME T
subsidiary (Note 27) R#itz) 1395 17,004 - - - - - - 18,489 - 18,489
Non-controlling interests arising from 7% B B S EE) SRS
acquisitions - - - - - - - - - 27,521 27,521
Total transactions with owners ~ BEEARZAE 1,395 17,094 - - - 5,076 - (5,076) 18,489 27,51 46,010
At30 April 2022 W-B--EmA=1R 9083 628,874 1,31 b13) m (10,213) 1335 (11,03 451819 503 483412




FAREARAR FR022

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HREHEHRER

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022
BE-ZE-__HFNWA=tHILEE

2022 2021
—EC-CE —B-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Jiop23 FiEx FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RExK
Profit before income tax BRETSE A& R 25,741 21,839
Adjustments for: NGRS
Bank interest income RITHF BHA 5 (32) (36)
Finance costs BTSN 6 591 357
Dividend income from listed equity securities ETRERARES Z RS MA 4 (126) (210)
Amortisation of intangible assets BV EE#E 13 4,458 -
Depreciation wE 11 777 766
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—MKTBARZ kS - (175)
Gain on disposal of an investment property HEREME 2 W 12 (792) -
Net (reversal of) impairment losses recognised in respect of HIREHEN AT EZ e REERR ZME
financial assets at amortised cost (BmE)EBEFE (1,335) 6,302
Change in fair value of investment properties BEWME AT EES 12 (6,310) 2,333
Change in fair value of club membership at FVPL FERBREATEIERCEMEEQATES 16(b) (23) 42)
Change in fair value of listed equity securities at FVPL BIBBHIEATLEYEZ FTRAES
NEEEE 4 (234) 2,664
Change in fair value of contingent consideration payable ERIAREZRATFEZS 24 1,150 -
Write-off of loan and interest receivables WEEERERRFIE 6 311 -
Write-off of deposits and other receivables Ze K E i FE WGRIE M 3 - 4,255
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital “EELUBFCELRERE 24,176 38,053
Changes in working capital: eEEe By
Financial assets at FVPL BREREATEIEZEHEE - 3,873
Inventories FE (2,264) -
Accounts receivable FEURBR 3R (38,591) (56,441)
Loan receivables BIRER 3,665 (226)
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables %& AN RT R E A EUER T 15,151 15,397
Accruals and deposits received B RERENIES (5,882) 18,719
Cash (used in) from operations and net cash (used in) from REX£K(FTA)FERERELEER(FTA) B
operating activities H& 3 (3,745) 19,375
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REES
Bank interest received 2 UERTTHE 5 32 36
Dividend received from listed equity securities B TR AR RESAR B 4 126 210
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment BENE BERSE (12) (22)
Proceeds from disposal of an investment property HEREMEZFEHRE 12 11,880 -
Net cash outflows arising from acquisition of subsidiaries WHEEEHNBAREECRERLFE 30 (9,713) -
Net cash from investing activities REEEFMBZRLFE 2,313 224
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Inception of interest-bearing borrowings STEEERR 35,829 -
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings BEFEEE (13,166) (2,128)
Interest paid ERFE (591) (357)
Net cash from (used in) financing activities RMETBRE (A 2R FE 22,072 (2,485)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEEEBEMTFE 20,640 17,14
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting HEHEHEERRESMEER
period 37,857 19,600
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEEREH) v T2 (625) 1,143
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period HEHM AR ERBEZEER 57,872 37,857
Analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents BeRELEEERERIN
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRIRS 22 84,022 37,857
Bank overdrafts RITEX 25 (26,150) -
57,872 37,857
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMB|RME

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022

BECE-_SNA=TALFE

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Vongroup Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The shares of
the Company are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is situated at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business
is situated at 17A, EGL Tower, 83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is an investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Vongroup Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), is the immediate and ultimate holding company
and Mr. Vong Tat leong David is the ultimate controlling party (the “Ultimate Controlling Party”)
of the Company, who is also the chief executive officer and an executive director of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all individual applicable
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The consolidated financial statements also comply with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000”), unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the
accounting policies adopted in the 2021 consolidated financial statements except for the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and effective from the current
period as detailed below.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to
the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRSs 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
and 9

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRSs 7 and 9: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The amendments address issues that might affect financial reporting when a company replaces
the old interest rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate as a result of the interest
rate benchmark reform (the reform). The amendments complement those issued in November
2019 and relate to:

«  changes to contractual cash flows — a company will not have to derecognise or adjust the
carrying amount of financial instruments for changes required by the reform, but will
instead update the effective interest rate to reflect the change to the alternative benchmark
rate;

»  hedge accounting — a company will not have to discontinue its hedge accounting solely
because it makes changes required by the reform, if the hedge meets other hedge
accounting criteria; and

»  disclosures — a company will be required to disclose information about new risks arising
from the reform and how it manages the transition to alternative benchmark rates.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

The amendment extends the availability of the practical expedient in paragraph 46A of HKFRS
16 so that it applies to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions for applying
the practical expedient are met.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is
historical cost basis, except for investment properties, financial assets at FVPL and financial assets
at FVOCI and contingent consideration payable which were stated at fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and
all of its subsidiaries. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as that of the Company using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from owners of the Company, in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within equity in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation, are measured initially either at fair value or at
the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests (if applicable). Total comprehensive income
is attributed to the owners of the Company and the non-controlling interest (if applicable) even if
this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest determined at the date when control is lost and (ii) the
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the holding company had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. Any investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to
the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture or others as
appropriate from the date when control is lost.
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2.

EFNASZTHLEFE
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is presented in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment
loss. The carrying amount of the investments is reduced to its recoverable amount on an
individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business (including the acquisition of joint control
of a joint operation in which the activity constitutes a business) is measured at the excess of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if
applicable) and the fair value of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree over the
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of the
acquired business.

Goodwill on acquisition of business is recognised as a separate asset and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, which is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. For the
purpose of impairment test and determination of gain or loss on disposal, goodwill is allocated
to cash-generating units. An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed.

On the other hand, any excess of the acquisition date amounts of identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed of the acquired business over the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree (if applicable) and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree, if any, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as an income from bargain purchase.

Any resulting gain or loss arising from remeasuring the previously held equity interests in the
acquiree at the acquisition-date fair value is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated impairment losses of property,
plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives as set out below from the date on which
they are available for use and after taking into account their estimated residual values, using the
straight-line method. Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated
separately:

Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

5 years or the lease term, whichever is shorter
5to 10 years
5 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the period in which
the item is derecognised.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties that are held by owner to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include properties held for a currently undetermined future use
and properties that are held under operating lease, which satisfy the definition of investment
property and carry at fair value.

Investment properties are stated at fair value at the end of the reporting period. Any gain or loss
arising from a change in fair value is recognised in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or
loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Intangible assets

Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred on development activities, which involve
the application of research findings to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially
improved products and processes, are capitalised if the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient resources to complete the development.
The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as an
expense as incurred.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination — customer relationships and software

Customer relationships and software acquired in a business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, the software and customer relationships acquired in a business
combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected lives of
the software and customer relationships, which are determined to be 5 and 8 years respectively.

The software and customer relationships are derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition
of the customer relationships and software, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Forfeited collaterals held for sales

Forfeited collaterals are initially recognised at the amortised cost of the related outstanding
loans on the date of repossession, which is generally below the net realisable value of the
repossessed assets. Upon repossession of the assets, the related loans and advances together with
the related impairment allowances, if any, are derecognised from the consolidated statement
of financial position. Subsequently, forfeited collaterals are carried at the lower of the amount
initially recognised or net realisable value and are therefore written down if and when the net
realisable value falls to below the carrying amount of the asset. The excess of the net proceeds
over the carrying amount of the forfeited collaterals is recognised as a gain upon the disposal of
the assets.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s contractual rights to future
cash flows from the financial asset expire or (i) the Group transfers the financial asset and either
(a) it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent
of its continuing involvement and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant financing component which
are initially measured at their transaction price) are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in
the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at amortised cost; (i) debt
investment measured at FVOCI; (iii) equity investment measured at FVOCI (“Designated FVOCI”);
or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group
changes its business model for managing them, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting period following the change in the
business model.

1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as FVPL:

(i) itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment,
derecognition or through the amortisation process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include accounts receivable, loan receivables,
deposits, prepayments and other receivables, and bank balances and cash.

2. FESHEE#®R)

MEIA
EHEE
TR RALF R

CPRAEDEREEAKER S TAANGXHNTOT R
5 B EERR -

CRAEENBERUATEREBOEER : ((AEEYEREEE
ERARRRESRAAOEFERS R AEEETREREER
QAEECEBEREERRENBRINS AR KL (b4
SEREEETEREZACBREERAENBAB D AR R
Bl - (B30 (R B L TR & BB B 2 HE R o

WASEREMEZERMEE 2 HERZEBRBORELE KRR
AIASKERERIZEREE-

fif A S [ BE SR o AR AR BB R A AR 2 B K R 0 L o e (13 - 0 A
BEGIEEREE  AASBAESE2ERE AR RAXN
HEEEZEEAREREREE -

IR E

SRAECERAEAREKDNNF RIS ERTEZE SR
RERIN NS R TEN(RAFEEBREZATEIENES
MEEN =) ERRBRUBEEREENRZHRARER

RINFHERE  SREED BR()RBHERATE  ()BRAF
EFf ARMEERGFECEBRE  (iRAFEFAREE
E At B2 AR E ([ R AT EF ARMEEME]) s
(ivEBRERATEIIR-

MNIHERGNEREES FIARTEEER S MEENES
BEXANEMEENANRSMNEFE - SREEAVFERET
BENOR BIAKENBEATESRAE 2 EHEN it
BAT MEXYENSREECRMEBEAR 2 BEFER
SHRME-RENNE-

1) BREBEKAGEZEBEE

e MEETA N TREMKE AL FEERBERBRRA
FEFIER - A RE E AR AR ARG 8

() EmEEBERASREENDANASRENER
BARE R
(i) EEQEFNEEAMAELERSRE MZRERE

ERXNRBEERAR 2 RS RS

BEERA B EREERREAERNSESE LA
HIRRE - BUE - BUBTER S SR FE £ 2 s R 1R
WIBEMER -

AEBIZBENAGEZ SBREEBRBRIUR  BKE
R RE RNFRREMEGIAERRITERREE



PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

2)

3)

Designated FVOCI

Upon initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent
changes in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument that is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 applies in other comprehensive income. The classification is determined
on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

These equity investments are subsequently measured at fair value and are not subject to
impairment. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other gains or losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income and shall not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss is transferred directly to accumulated
profits or losses.

The Group’s financial assets at Designated FVOCI include unlisted equity investments not
held for trading.

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI, including financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at FVPL, financial assets resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial assets that
are otherwise required to be measured at FVPL. They are carried at fair value, with any
resultant gain and loss recognised in profit or loss, which does not include any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets. Dividend or interest income is presented separately
from fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:
(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and
for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on
initial recognition; or

(i) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not a designated and effective
hedging instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL only if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise
from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on different
bases.

The Group’s financial assets measured at FVPL include listed equity securities and unlisted
debt securities of club memberships.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is extinguished, that is,
when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of financial
liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are direct attributable to the issue of the
financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accruals, deposits received and other payable, contingent
consideration payable and interest-bearing borrowings. All financial liabilities are recognised
initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be insignificant, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for trading, financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL and financial liabilities that are contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies. They are
carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss (excluding interest expenses) recognised
in profit or loss, except for the portion of fair value changes of financial liabilities designated
at FVPL that are attributable to the credit risk of the liabilities which is presented in other
comprehensive income unless such treatment would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss. The amounts presented in other comprehensive income shall not be
subsequently transferred to profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that
are measured at amortised cost and contract assets to which the impairment requirements
apply in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific treatments as detailed below, at each
reporting date, the Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to
the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls)
over the expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference between the contractual
cash flows that are due to an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects
to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on the
following one or more shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) past due information

(ii) nature of instrument

(i) nature of collateral

(iv) industry of debtors

(v) geographical location of debtors

(vi) external credit risk ratings

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial

instrument’s credit risk and loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss

allowance are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial instrument.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk

management purposes as historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive the

outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial asset that meets any of the following
criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(ii) there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a

financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. In
particular, the following information is taken into account in the assessment:

«  the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or interest on the due dates;

* an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external or
internal credit rating (if available);

+ an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

» actual or expected changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment
that have or may have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date.

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:
(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

Bank balances and cash are determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For accounts receivable and contract assets without a significant financing component or
otherwise for which the Group applies the practical expedient not to account for the significant
financing components, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties; or

(f)  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred
credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable expectations of
recovering the contractual cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The
Group has a policy of writing off the gross carrying amount based on historical experience of
recoveries of similar assets. The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written
off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if
appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises all
costs of purchase and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads, is calculated using the first
in, first out method. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash equivalents comprise short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised when the assets are let out and on the
straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate are initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date and subsequently
adjusted when such index or rate changes. Such payments are recognised as income on the
straight-line basis over the lease term. Other variable lease payments are recognised as income in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs.

Dividend income

Dividend income from financial assets is recognised when the Group’s rights to receive dividend
is established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably. Dividend income
from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payments have been
established.

Disposal of forfeited collaterals held for sale

Disposal gain or loss is recognised when the buyer of the forfeited collaterals take control of and
accepts the goods.

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is provision of technology &
management services and financial consultancy services.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services promised in a contract with a
customer and identifies as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the customer
either:

(@) agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the following criteria are
met:

(@) the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other
resources that are readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service is capable of
being distinct); and

(b) the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable
from other promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service is
distinct within the context of the contract).

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring
a promised good or service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the
customer obtains control of that asset.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance
obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example, work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies the performance
obligation at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In
determining when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the concept of control and
such indicators as legal title, physical possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Revenue from provision of technology & management services is recognised at a point in time in
the accounting period when the actual service provided.

Sale of goods is recognised at a point in time at which the customer obtains the control of
the promised asset, which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered to
customers and the title is passed.

Commission income from provision of financial consultancy services on capital funding is
recognised at a point in time in accordance with the terms of the underlying agreement or deal
mandate when relevant significant act has been completed.

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component (i.e. the customer or the Group
is provided with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer), in determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised consideration
for the effects of the time value of money. The effect of the significant financing component is
recognised as an interest income or interest expense separately from revenue from contracts with
customers in profit or loss.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for the effect of the significant financing component if the period of financing
is one year or less.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial assets.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration,
or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract is presented as a contract liability when
the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is the Group’s
right to consideration that is unconditional or only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either a net contract asset or a net
contract liability is presented. Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in the currency of HK$, which is
also the functional currency of the Company and most of the subsidiaries, and rounded to the
nearest thousands unless otherwise indicated.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are recognised in profit or loss except for those arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity, in
which cases, the gains or losses are also recognised directly in equity.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

« assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the end of the reporting period;

« income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rate;

» all resulting exchange differences arising from the above translation and exchange
differences arising from a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net investment in a
foreign operation are recognised as a separate component of equity;

» on the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a disposal of the Group’s entire
interest in a foreign operation, a disposal involving the loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest is no longer
equity-accounted for, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to the
foreign operation that is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
separate component of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the gain or
loss on disposal is recognised,

* on the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation which does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of the cumulative amount of the exchange differences recognised in
the separate component of equity is re-attributed to the non-controlling interests in that
foreign operation and are not reclassified to profit or loss; and

« on all other partial disposals, which includes partial disposal of associates that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence, the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of exchange differences recognised in the separate component of equity is reclassified to
profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets, other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal and external sources of
information to assess whether there is any indication that the Group’s property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets) and the Company’s investment in subsidiaries may be
impaired or impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may be reduced. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
smallest group of assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced
to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating
unit that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods.
Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as an income in profit or loss immediately.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the years necessary to match the grant on
a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an
asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account/recognised as a deduction from the
carrying amount of the relevant asset and is released to profit or loss over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on the temporary investment of the
specific borrowings, that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at inception of the contract.
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases and low-value asset leases.
Lease payments associated with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components from lease components, and
accounts for each lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease contract as a lease separately. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate component are considered to
be part of the total consideration that is allocated to the separately identified components of the
contract.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset (included in property, plant and equipment) and a lease
liability at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises:
(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and
the estimated useful lives of the right-of-use asset (unless the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option — in which case depreciation is provided
over the estimated useful life of the underlying asset) as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 50 years or the lease term, whichever is shorter
As the Group’s lease payments for its leasehold land and buildings cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements at the inception of the lease because similar land and
buildings are not sold or leased separately, the entire lease payments are included in the cost of
the leasehold land and buildings and are classified as right-of-use assets (included in property,
plant and equipment).

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the commencement date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following
payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

() amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option;
and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not
readily determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate when there are changes to the
lease payments arising from a change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount rate when there is a change in
the residual value guarantee, the in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or a rate (other than floating interest rate). In case of a
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in floating interest rates, the Group
remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and
there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises any
remaining amount of the remeasurement in profit or loss.

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease or an operating lease at the
inception date of the lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease contract as a lease separately from
non-lease components of the contract. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on a relative stand-alone price basis.

As lessor — operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating
lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new lease from the effective date of
the modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the period in which the associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
employees of the Group’s entities established in the PRC are required to participate in defined
contribution retirement plans organised by local governments. Contributions to these plans are
expensed in profit or loss as incurred and other than these monthly contributions, the Group has
no further obligation for the payment of retirement benefits to its employees.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably commits
itself to terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by
having a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in capital reserve within equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award.

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items
that are non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of
the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition
of goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is not
recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to
the period when the asset is recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be
utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investment in subsidiaries except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group,

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(ii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a holding company
of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each
holding company, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the

sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the entity).

(vii
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint
venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated
financial statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management, which is the Group’s chief operating decision maker,
for the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made by the management
of the Group in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the
application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on
experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(i)~ Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) and
intangible assets

The management of the Group determines the estimated useful lives of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of the relevant assets of similar nature and functions. The estimated
useful lives could be different as a result of technical innovations which could affect the
related depreciation charges included in profit or loss.

(if)  Impairment of non-financial assets, other than goodwill

The management of the Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets, including property, plant and equipment (including right-of-
use assets), at the end of each reporting period in accordance with the accounting policies
as disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. In determining whether
an asset is impaired or the event previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the
management has to assess whether an event has occurred that may affect the asset value
or such event affecting the asset value has not been in existence. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amounts of the asset would be determined as the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use, the calculations of which involve the use of
estimates. Owing to inherent risk associated with estimations in the timing and amounts of
the future cash flows and fair value less costs of disposal, the estimated recoverable amount
of the asset may be different from the amount actually received and profit or loss could be
affected by accuracy of the estimations.

(iii) - Loss allowance for ECL

The management of the Group estimates the loss allowance for financial assets at amortised
cost including accounts receivable, loan receivables and deposits and other receivables by
using various inputs and assumptions including risk of a default and expected loss rate.
The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s historical
information, recoverable amount of pledged collaterals, past collection history of debtors,
concentration risk of debtors, the Group’s actual loss experience, existing market conditions
as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of the financial assets at amortised cost.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC was
determined by independent professional valuers. The valuation performed was arrived
at with reference to recent market transaction prices at the end of reporting period and/
or market rental value for similar properties at similar locations with total fair value of
investment properties approximately HK$239,050,000 at 30 April 2022 (2021: approximately
HK$243,828,000). Favourable or unfavourable changes to recent market prices would
result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment properties and corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in profit or loss.

Fair value of financial assets at FVOCI

The fair value of financial assets at FVOCI that are not traded in active market is
determined by valuation techniques. Fair value of financial assets at FVOCI is determined
by independent professional valuer by using valuation techniques including the discounted
cash flow valuation model. Valuation techniques that include inputs that are not based
on observable market data and make assumptions that are primarily based on market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgment on the future tax treatment of
certain transactions. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax
provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax legislation. Deferred tax assets are
recognised for deductible temporary differences and tax losses only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the deferred tax assets
can be utilised. As a result, management’s judgement is required to assess the probability of
future taxable profits. Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting
period.

(vii) Acquisition of subsidiaries

The initial accounting on the acquisition of subsidiaries involves identifying and
determining the fair value to be assigned to the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
acquired entities. The fair values of the identified assets and liabilities and consideration,
including contingent consideration receivable, are determined by reference to the
valuation performed by an independent professional valuer where applicable. Any changes
in assumptions used and estimates made in determining the fair value will impact the
carrying amount of these assets and liabilities.

(viii) Impairment of goodwill

(ix)

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
results in downward revision of future cash flows, further impairment losses may arise.

Valuation of contingent consideration

For acquisitions accounted for under HKFRS 3, future anticipated payments to vendors in
respect of earnouts are based on the management’s best estimates of future obligations,
which are dependent on future performance of the interests acquired and assume the
operating companies improve profits in line with management’s estimates and are included
in liabilities greater or less than one year as appropriate. These estimates will likely differ
from future actual results of operations and cash flows, and it is possible that these
differences could be material. Changes to earnouts are recorded in the profit or loss.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial statements, the IASB has issued the
following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current reporting period, which
the Group has not early adopted:

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use '

Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract '

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework '

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle !

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies ?

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 2

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction 2

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts ?

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 —

Comparative Information 2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
’ The effective date to be determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of these new standards and
amendments will have no material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in
the future.

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being identified as the chief
operating decision makers (the “CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on nature of services provided. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable operating segments of
the Group.

The Group has determined that there are three reportable operating segments which are set out

below.

1. Technology: Technology and related activities

2. Property: Real property and related activities

3. Financial: Consumer finance, securities trading, other financial/

business services and related activities

a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from provision of technology services,
property leasing services, financial services and trading of listed equity securities.

Segment results represent the revenue reported by each segment without allocation of
certain other revenue and other gains, corporate expenses and finance costs. This is the
measure reported to the CODM of the Group for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

a)

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

The segment information provided to the CODM of the Group for the reportable operating

segments for the year is as follows:

Year ended 30 April 2022

ENEEARAF FiR2022
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRERME

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022
BE-Z-_FNA=1+HLEE

DEER ()
a) 28BS XE EERAEMEE)

RAFEAEHREEDERNARBIBEERKERHEZ

PEARIT -

BE-E-_—_EWA=1HILEE

Technology Property Financial Consolidated

B L/ES Al wE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET FET FET

Segment revenue B 187,255 4,459 1,516 193,230

Segment results bR ES 26,171 10,762 1,889 38,822
Unallocated other revenue and other 7k 73 it Efth U A f2 £ Ath U 25

gains 92

Unallocated corporate expenses RO EMT (12,582)

Finance costs EUB 3% (591)

Profit before income tax B TSR A 25,741

Income tax expense FigBiRx (1,632)

Profit for the year AN [E g A 24,109

Year ended 30 April 2021 BE-_T-—FNA=1+HItFE

Technology Property Financial Consolidated

TBHE L7ES Eay o=y

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

FA&T FAT FAET FAET

Segment revenue DR 107,224 4,726 (1,261) 110,689

Segment results A 36,567 1,583 (794) 37,356

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHNB ARz KE 175
Unallocated other revenue and other 7k 9 fig E 4th U A N E b U %5

gains 452

Unallocated corporate expenses ROTEERE (15,787)

Finance costs BFRS R AN (357)

Profit before income tax R BT 45 75 B s A 21,839

Income tax expense FsfifAx (1,601)

Profit for the year REERF) 20,238

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting

policies described in Note 2.
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BE-Z-_FNA=1+HLEE

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable operating

segments:

At 30 April 2022

DEEN(E)

a) 2EWE ¥XE BEEREEHEE)

BRI 2MSEDEE

M-—B-—#mA=+A

InzAREBEERABZANMOT

Technology Property Financial Unallocated Consolidated
B L/ES kA1) RAE mE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FTHET FET FTHER FTHET
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets ERDBEE 243,528 274,788 35,503 37,783 591,602
Liabilities a8
Reportable segment liabilities ERNEEE 30,074 69,827 279 8,010 108,190
Other information Hi g
Amortisation e 4,458 - - - 4,458
Depreciation e 5 125 2 645 777
Gain on disposal of an investment property H &% &Y 2 Wz - (792) - - (792)
Net reversal of impairment losses recognised Fti% B sk A st & 2 S REEE
in respect of financial assets at amortised RZRE R R EEFE
costs (401) - (789) (145) (1,335)
Change in fair value of investment properties % & ¥ % 7 A F{EEH) - (6,310) - - (6,310)
Change in fair value of financial assets % iB18 L A FENIER
at FVPL TREEZATEE - - - (23) (23)
Change in fair value of contingent FESRAREBZ A TEEE)
consideration payable 1,150 - - - 1,150
Additions to intangible assets REBFEE 34,208 - - - 34,208
Additions to property, plant and equipment RE Y%  BiE & B 43 12 - - 55
At 30 April 2021 RZZT=——FMA=1+H
Technology Property Financial Unallocated Consolidated
BHx mE 8t ROB o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET FAET FAT
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets EWRHEEE 123,507 258,474 37,523 31,556 451,060
Liahilities 8&
Reportable segment liabilities EHRHEEE 7,748 24393 302 4,696 37,139
Other information Hih &R
Depreciation e 17 2 1 646 766
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE BB AR ZWE - - - 175 175
Net (reversal of) impairment losses HIRBHERAFTEZ A E
recognised in respect of financial assets RZBE (R )EEFE
at amortised costs 4,999 (5) (636) 1,944 6,302
Change in fair value of investment properties % & ¥ % 7 A F{EEH) - 2,333 - - 2333
Change in fair value of financial assets at B BIERIL A FETIEZ
FVPL SMEEZANTEE - - - (42) (42)
Write-off of deposits and other receivables 1224 K b JiE U5t 2 T 4 55 - - - 4,255 4,255
Additions to property, plant and equipment YR E 13 - BiRE &2 1E - 20 - 2 22

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between

segments:

«  segment assets include certain property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets), investment properties, intangible assets, goodwill, financial assets at FVOCI,
certain financial assets at FVPL, forfeited collaterals held for sale, inventories, accounts
receivable, loan receivables, certain deposits and other receivables and certain bank
balances and cash. Other assets are not allocated to operating segments as these assets
are managed on a corporate basis; and

« segment liabilities include certain accruals and deposits received, interest-bearing
borrowings, contingent consideration payable, certain tax payables and certain
deferred tax liabilities. Other liabilities are not allocated to operating segments as
these liabilities are managed on a corporate basis.
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3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

b)

q

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group’s
revenue from external customers and (ii) the Group’s investment properties, property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill (the “Specified Non-current Assets”).
The geographical location of the revenue is presented based on the entity’s countries of
domicile. The geographical location of the Specified Non-current Assets is presented based
on the physical location of the assets, in the case of investment properties and property,
plant and equipment, and the location of the operation to which they are allocated, in the
case of intangible assets and goodwill.
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BE-Z-__FNA=+HLEE

3 2RENE)
b) EHER

TREFIBROAEEINSEP 2 WA R()AREREE
Ry BEREE BYEERBB(HEFRRDEE]
2B BER MR BB HIRERAERRED -
IREMERNE BMERREN S  HEFRPEEZL
BUENREEERMEMLES] MBEPEEREEM
5 RRAEMEDR KL ET

Revenue Non-current assets
Wz FRBEE

2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-=F T —E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FHET FAET
Hong Kong EB 90,211 67,996 296,280 230,396
Mainland China L= 8,168 14,896 8,721 8,293
Macau JRPT - - 14,000 16,731
South Korea F R 27,686 - - -
Thailand &= 15,884 8,950 - -
Indonesia ENEfe e 37,670 13,260 - -
Others Hitb 13,611 5,587 - -
Total “eEt 193,230 110,689 319,001 255,420

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers individually contributing 10% or more of the total revenue of the
Group is as follows:

J FHIEEFZEH
REBBEAEERGRI0%RIA L2 BRI T

2022 2021

—E-_F —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

T FAT

Customer A (Technology segment) BREARIESE) Note fifat 13,620

Note: The individual customer contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of the Group in the respective
year.

Mzt MEREE - ZER TP HASEBYE TRI0%AT
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BE-Z-_FNA=1+HLEE

4. REVENUE 4. W&
2022 2021
—E-_F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 - BEBH B ERRF155 2 KEFEF K Z K — b
point in time L
Provision of technology and related activities REMNEREEES 187,255 107,224
Revenue from other sources KERMKIRZ Wiw
Provision of property leasing services REMERERE
— Gross rental income from investment properties —REYEZBHRSIA 4,459 4,726
Provision of financial related services RS AR
— Interest income —F B A 1,156 1,193
— Dividend income from listed equity securities — EmBRARES 2 RS A 126 210
— Net gain/(loss) on listed equity securities at FVPL (Note) —BBBHRRAFEVER 2 EMRAFES 2 W (E18)
FEE(ME) 234 (2,664)
1,516 (1,261)
193,230 110,689
Note: Mzt -
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fax FH5
Net gain/(loss) on listed equity securities at FVPL
— Change in fair value 234 (1,789)
— Realised loss* —BEBREE* - (875)
234 (2,664)
*  The amount represented the proceeds from the disposal of listed equity securities less relevant costs and ¥ ZeRBIENE FMRAES 2 ISRIERAE FMRAES 2 K
carrying value of the listed equity securities sold, no listed equity securities was disposed during the year AREHE RBEE-_T-_—_FNA=+tALFETELE EHRA
ended 30 April 2022. et
5. OTHER REVENUE 5. Hfttzm
2022 2021
—E-—F —ET-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT FHAT
Other revenue Hib gz
Bank interest income RITH BUA 32 36
Management fee income BB 66 216
Others EAth 60 418
158 670




PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

This is stated after charging (crediting):

ENEEARAF FiR2022
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YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022

BE-Z-__FNA=+HLEE

6. BRATBBIATEFI

BB (ER)ATEHZT -

2022 2021
—ZE=-= —ET-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Finance costs BB A A
Interest on banking facilities IRITRE RS 522 357
Interest on other borrowings HmEE 2 69 -
Total finance costs ISR A 42 R 591 357
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) BIXK(BIEEFFH)
Salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind HE R REMEMEA 11,614 8,350
Contributions to defined contribution plans REH-KET IR 198 109
Total staff costs BB ITRA 11,812 8,459
Other items HEmEH
Auditor’s remuneration T E RN & 1,050 780
Amortisation of intangible assets B AR 4,458 -
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment — W3 B KR E 349 338
— Right-of-use assets —ERAREE 428 428
Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties ~ EATEWA 2 EWEEE 2 ERLEERT
that generated leasing income 117 164
Exchange loss, net [ H B8 FRE 2 4
Research and development expenses (included in “Administrative fff 2 B 37 (5t A [ 1T R b & L5932 1)
and other operating expenses”) 17,760 -
Retainer fees (included in “Administrative and other operating ~ HE:E & (5t A [ 17BN Eh & & B 1) (HfaE)
expenses’) (Note) 103,311 37,028
Net (reversal of) impairment losses recognised in respect of IRBER AT B S REERR ZBE(BLD) BB FH
financial assets at amortised costs
— Accounts receivable — FEUER SR (572) 3,961
— Loan receivables —ERER (54) (689)
— Deposits and other receivables —1R& K H e MR IE (709) 3,030
Write-off of deposits and other receivables (included in iz e R EAEMGRIEGGEA TR R EMEEHT )
“Administrative and other operating expenses”) - 4,255
Write-off of loan and interest receivables i B U B 2RO R B 311 -

Note: Retainer fees include, for example, payments to our business partners who are retained to provide services

to the Group and in relation to services that we provide to our customers.

Wizt - EFREAEGIIEMOEBSERFINNER ZEEBAER
PEREE IR PR ARTS T R4S SR IR AR TS RS A 55 -
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7.

INCOME TAX FrE%4
2022 2021
—E-_F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Current tax BIEA% 1R
Hong Kong Profits Tax ARG
Current year NEE 1,900 1,652
1,900 1,652
Deferred taxation EERE
Changes in temporary differences (Note 26) B EREEE (Mt26) (268) (51)
Total income tax expense for the year AEEMERALEE 1,632 1,601
The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising in or derived from the REBERANEEE LR ML AERDERERE £

jurisdiction in which entities in the Group are domiciled and operated.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject
to any income tax under these jurisdictions.

The two-tiered profits tax rates regime in Hong Kong is applicable to years of assessment
beginning on or after 1 April 2018, under which, the profit tax rate for the first HK$2,000,000
assessable profits arising from Hong Kong of qualifying entities will be taxed at 8.25%, and
assessable profits arising from Hong Kong above HK$2,000,000 will continue be taxed at the rate
of 16.5%. As only one of the subsidiaries in the Group is eligible to elect the two-tiered profits tax
rates, profits of the remaining subsidiaries of the Group will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

For the years ended 30 April 2022 and 2021, Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated in accordance
with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has not been provided for the years ended 30 April 2022 and 2021 as
the Group’s entities in the PRC incurred a loss for taxation purposes.

P |J f
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BERERBERABELZHENRAARL  AEBDELRNZ
S REEEMERTER -

EAFGHBRERNRHEARE T - \FEMA— B2k
BHRBMEE B A EREBLEBE SR H2,000,000%
TCRE R i T HE 128 25% M B R BN T ST MR BABEER
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HE-_TS-_—FR-ZF-—FNA=+HLEFE BEMNEH
RIEFS R R MARGIFE -

MRASERFE BREGHRTEBEN S 2BR R E8E=—F
ToFRIEIFHAZHHLEFEAL ARG RPBEEEMRSE
TR o

Reconciliation of income tax expense FrE8ip = 2 Y8R
2022 2021
—E-C—F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Profit before income tax R TS H AR 7 25,741 21,839

Tax calculated at the rates applicable to the respective tax REANARRE AR 2R EAE 2B

jurisdictions 4,762 3,464
Effect on graduated tax rate ESiy -2 (165) (165)
Non-deductible expenses AR S 1,633 4,240
Tax exempt revenue & (2,058) (1,152)
Unrecognised temporary differences RIERERFERR (237) (365)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses B LRI ARERTIEE B (2,303) (4,421)
Income tax expense for the year AEEMERAX 1,632 1,601




8. EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

8(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The aggregate amounts of emoluments received and receivable by the directors and chief
executive officer of the Company in connection with the management of the affairs of the

Company and its subsidiaries are as follows:

Year ended 30 April 2022

ENEEARAF FiR2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRERME

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022

BE-Z-_FNA=1+HLEE

8. EBRTHASURIERSHFATIHME

8@ EERITHRARME

ARRBERITREHAREEARARARAMBRRZEH

BUREKROMEEENT

BE-Z-__FWA=1+HLEFE

Salaries,
Directors’ allowances and Discretionary
fees benefits-in-kind bonus Total
g RER
EEWS BYEF BETEAL st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FExT FExT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Vong Tat leong David (Note) EEB (M) 700 600 - 1,300
Mr. Xu Siping TRETF R 500 - - 500
Independent non-executive directors B I HITES
Mr. Fung Ka Keung David REREE 100 - - 100
Mr. Lam Lee G. MRIE L HE 150 - - 150
Ms. Wong Man Ngar Edna ED'¢idoeu 100 - - 100
1,550 600 - 2,150
Year ended 30 April 2021 HEZZ-—FMNA=1THILFE
Salaries,
Directors’ allowances and Discretionary
fees benefits-in-kind bonus Total
BB EUR
EEHe EYET BIETEAL “eEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FHET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Vong Tat leong David (Note) =EH R E M) 787 600 - 1,387
Mr. Xu Siping RETFERE 500 - - 500
Independent non-executive directors BN FEHITES
Mr. Fung Ka Keung David Yot 100 - - 100
Mr. Lam Lee G. MRIE L L 150 - - 150
Ms. Wong Man Ngar Edna Tzt 100 - - 100
1,637 600 - 2,237

Note: Mr. Vong Tat leong David is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and his emoluments

disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive Officer.

Mt EEHEEMRARRMNITRAAE M EXRBROMS BER

BETRES AR R RIS -
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8.

10.

BoCFNA=THLEFE

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND FIVE 8.
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

8(b) Emoluments of five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2022 included two
(2021: two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above and
three (2021: three) non-director individuals whose emoluments are disclosed as follows:

ESRTEABURAERSHFATHME )

8b) EEREHATHHE

BE-F--FNASBLFE ARERAREFAL
qﬂ@%ﬂﬁ%u —F M EF REOMERREL

PR BT=B(CE-—F =5 FEFALOME
&ﬁ@?i

2022 2021

B —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FAT

Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind HE EUREYER 4,085 3,768
Contribution to defined contribution plans AREHRKETEIER 45 32
4,130 3,800

The number of the highest paid individuals (excluding the directors of the Company) whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

HHBAATEENRSHAL(FRELARES) AR
T

Number of individuals

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z221,000,0007 7T
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T %3,000,000/% 7T

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive officer, the five
highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years
ended 30 April 2022 and 2021. In addition, no emolument was paid by the Group to the
any of the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office for the years ended 30 April 2022
and 2021.

DIVIDEND 9,

No dividend was paid or declared by the Company for the year ended 30 April 2022 (2021: Nil).
The directors of the Company do not recommend for payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 30 April 2022 (2021: Nil).

A
2022 2021
B T4
2 2
1 1
3 3
REBEZE-ZT-__FR-IZ-_—FNA=THILFE HEE
ETHBH ﬁ%?ﬁ%ﬁ/\iﬁﬁl%&ﬂ’éH&%EﬂM%E’]
ZHoWIN BEZT-_—FR-F—FNA=FTHIF

& $§%@I?ﬁ¥ﬁ&ﬁ§$i£% xm%ﬁ/\iﬁiﬁ@ﬂ@ 1
ARSI E AR E B R INARE B 2 52 BB AH(E -

RE

,,i@ﬁl THRLEFE  ARRLARIRN LT IRESR
( Fo—F ) AR Tﬁ?ITEE§T¢@i77 —f

Eﬁ} +H¢¢T/JIE1#5EHEH§ (ZF=—F )

EARNINGS PER SHARE 10. ZREF

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share for the current and prior year is based
on profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the years.

Diluted earnings per share were same as the basic earnings per share as there were no
potentially dilutive ordinary shares in existence during the years ended 30 April 2022 and 2021.

ZKEF&%EEEJ?ZHQﬁZ}S&%%@%‘JEﬁ}Fzﬁ"ﬂ%ﬁ/\
FEFRRNRFRNEETERRZ NETHEEE

HRBE—E- R T —FUA=TRLFEITEFE
EAEEEE SRR AERERN 2 RARBMER -



10. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

11.

ENEEARAF FiR2022
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BE-Z-_FNA=1+HLEE

10. EREF

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on: BIREARNEE R TRIBA T SIBE -

Earnings RAEEREARBERAMS WAL REE AERE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company, HEREAREERNMES AAGES AEGERNEF
for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share 20,037 20,238
Number of shares RHEE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose  FtatE & AR E AN K 58 2 5 i & i AR g F 1o 20 8
of basic and diluted earnings per share 223,157,247 192,189,833
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1. Y BERSRE
Right-of-use
assets — leasehold Leasehold Furniture, fixtures
land and buildings improvements and equipment Motor vehicles Total
A%
BEE-HE HE & £E
T REF MERE PET AE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT FHT FHAT FHIT
Reconciliation of carrying REHEYNER-BE_2=_—F
amount-year ended 30 April 2021 WA=Z+HIEFE
At 1 May 2020 RZZT-_TFHA—H 11,616 - 66 652 12,334
Additions NE - - 22 - 22
Depreciation e (428) - 21 (317) (766)
Exchange realignments & 5, % - - 2 - 2
At 30 April 2021 RZZEZ—FMNA=+H 11,188 - 69 335 11,592
Reconciliation of carrying REEHEKR-82=-ZF=-—F
amount-year ended 30 April 2022 B=1tHLEE
At 1 May 2021 RZE=Z—FHHA—H 11,188 - 69 335 11,592
Additions AE - - 55 - 55
Depreciation e (428) - (31) (318) (777)
Exchange realignments & 5 % - - - - -
At 30 April 2022 R-ZE-_—FWMA=+AH 10,760 - 93 17 10,870
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11.

12.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Right-of-use
assets — leasehold

11.

WE - BERRE )

land and Leasehold Furniture, fixtures
buildings improvements and equipment Motor vehicles Total
fERE
BE-HE HE & £E
tiREF MEES K#tE RE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FET FET FAET
At 30 April 2021 RZT=Z—FWA=+H
Cost B 15,393 104 1,038 4,476 21,011
Accumulated depreciation ZEinE (4,205) (104) (969) (4,147) (9,419)
Net carrying amount BREFE 11,188 - 69 335 11,592
At 30 April 2022 R-Z-—FMWA=+H
Cost AR 15,393 83 1,093 4,476 21,045
Accumulated depreciation BEHTE (4,633) (83) (1,000) (4,459) (10,175)
Net carrying amount REFE 10,760 - 93 17 10,870
Notes: Haz -

(i) At 30 April 2022, leasehold land and buildings of approximately HK$10,760,000 (2021: approximately
HK$11,188,000) were pledged to secure bank facilities granted to the Group (Note 25).

(i) The total cash outflow for leases, which represents short-term lease, for the year ended 30 April 2022 was
approximately HK$901,000 (2021 approximately HK$808,000).

)y RZZTZZFWA=+8 AEEBEF10,760,0008 T(=F=—
F L 4911,188,0008 T ) 2 T E L RIEFLABUSIE T AREE 2 R1TH
& (Pfi5E25)°

(i) BE-ZZ-__FNA=+tHRIFEAE(ERYMEE) 2 BE R HeE
73#9901,00078 7T (= F = —4F : £7808,0007T )

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 12. REWE
2022 2021
—E-—F —ET-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT

Fair value RARE

At the beginning of the reporting period R ERH 243,828 245,428
Disposal RE (11,088) -
Net change in fair value recognised in profit or loss NERERZ A TEZE)FE 6,310 (2,333)
Exchange realignments [E A2 - 733
At the end of the reporting period R|BEHR 239,050 243,828

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purpose are measured at fair value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

At the end of the reporting period, the investment properties of approximately HK$239,050,000
(2021: approximately HK$243,828,000) are held under head leases with the remaining lease term
of 6 years to 821 years (2021: 7 years to 822 years).

Certain of the Group’s investment properties with an aggregate carrying value of approximately
HK$185,600,000 at 30 April 2022 (2021: approximately HK$118,597,000) were pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group (Note 25).

All investment properties of the Group were revalued at 30 April 2022. The valuations were
carried out by an independent firm of surveyors, ValQuest Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited (2021:
AP Appraisal Limited), who have among their staff fellows of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (2021: Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors) with recent experience in the location
and category of properties being valued. The management of the Group has discussions with the
surveyors on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is performed
at each interim and annual reporting date. In estimating the fair value of the investment
properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

AEENEEHEETAFEURBES WA SHEE AL ERE
ZIAENEEREARTERAGE YOBAREMEANR-

RS HIAR - 49239,050,00078 JT( = & = —4F : £9243,828,000;%
TIZEREMERBRAHEOFEMBTHEN FeEs21F (=
T —4F 7R84 )

RZTZ—FMNA=+8 " %K HEIE#185600,000/ T( =F
Z—1F : £9118,597,000E 7T ) 2 AKBE TR EMECEAUE
R FANEE 2 RITRRE (FI3E25)

REBEMBREMER S __FONA=+tHEHEE-&
EHBTASMITHIRET(BBE)BRRAANZZE=Z—F AP
Appraisal Limited )17 EF AERFHIEMEe(=F=—

CEXEHAEMES)RB B E AN T REMEMEL
RHREMEETHEZLER - NERTFHRFEREE A#ET
TR ASETEED BIEMAIREERIRHELR R
EHEEMEZ ATER  ZEVEZ SR REERGARESR
e



12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The property interests in investment properties thereon (including the whole or part of
undivided share in the underlying land) in Hong Kong of approximately HK$216,350,000 (2021:
approximately HK$218,828,000) are held by the Group as the registered owner. Those property
interests were acquired from the previous registered owners by making lump sum payments
at the upfront (which may be financed by a mortgage). Except for the variable amounts to be
charged by the government subsequently that are reviewed regularly with reference to the
rateable values, for example, there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the
land lease.

Leasing arrangement — as lessor

The investment properties are leased to independent third parties for a term of 1 to 3 years
(2021: 1 to 3 years), which had an initial non-cancellable lease term of 1 to 3 years (2021: 1 to 3
years). Some leases do not include purchase or termination options and some leases provide the
lessees with options to renew the leases upon expiry at new terms.

The details of the leasing income from operating leases are set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The investment properties are subject to residual value risk. The lease contract, as a result,
includes a provision based on which the Group has the right to charge the tenant for any damage
to certain of the investment properties at the end of the lease, unless the loss or damage caused
through the act, neglect, omission or negligence of the Group. Besides, the Group has purchased
insurance to protect it against any loss that may arise from accidents or physical damages of the
properties.

Below is a maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to be received from the leasing of
investment properties.

FAREARAR FR022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M EHmRMETE
YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022
BE-Z-__FNA=THLEE

12. REWME(E)

49216,350,000/8 7T (= F = —14F : £9218,828,000;& L ) N E BILE
MENMEREDS(BFEAR TN 2TRTI T D EHDEE) A
REBERBEREFR/A - ZEWMEER U — RS
X (ATEEBBRBAAME) AR B CLEIRE -BREFEEES
B JE i 2 6 A (B E BRAR S AT URER B2 B S A0 - 40 - AR IR £ 3
TSGR B A

HEZHF-FRHAA

REMELRFBYF = A E3F(—F-—F 153
F) BB TAAIRBEER MBI F (S —F  153F )BT
METEEBENKRILEER URSOBERERBARER
TR BRI 3T a0 0 A4S A -

REAENEERAFIERN G A M MR -

REMEAZNHEERR Bt BEANEE —RE &
It AEBEE RN HERRESE FREME 2 EARERER
RE BFBASIBEZRALEZ1TH B2 ERIBEME
Heltih REBCBERR  UWREAMEEBIINEMEZEL
B 5l AV EIRR -

AT B E R E MR WA KRR E D D4 o

At 30 April 2022 HK$’000
R-ZB-—FMWA=+A FET
Undiscounted lease payments to be received W 2 KRB E R
— within one year ——FR 3,035
— In the second year —E-F 592
At 30 April 2021 RZZE-Z—FMA=1+H 3,627
HK$'000
FAT
Undiscounted lease payments to be received within one year R —FE R REREE R 6,091

On 29 July 2021, the Group entered into a provisional agreement with independent third parties
to dispose of an investment property with carrying amount of approximately HK$11,088,000 at
a consideration of HK$11,880,000 and the disposal was completed in September 2021 which
resulted in a gain on disposal of an investment property of approximately HK$792,000 during the
year ended 30 April 2022.

RIZZEZ—FtAZ+IB AEEEBYE = Fa]LBE
e AHEEEENN,08800E T2 HENME REA
11,880,000 0 HEFEER T -—FhLATK BEZE=
T _FOA=THIEFEHEREMEWE£792,0008 7T
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to the valuation of
investment properties classified as Level 3 (Note 35) of the fair value hierarchy:

Valuation techniques

fhER

Unobservable inputs

THBEEZHABE

12. REWME(E)
AFEER

ATARSBEARTESRTE=RORED X (M35 HE
FER PR B (E R e E B ABIRA R

Range of
unobservable inputs

THBEEZHABE

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

THBEEYBEATEZBE

Investment properties in Hong Kong

REBZREYE

— Commercial properties

CES/ES

— Residential properties

Investment properties in the
Mainland China
R EABEZ REYF

— Commercial property

ES/ES

Investment properties in Macau

RBPIZREYF
— Residential property

Direct comparison approach

BERLLEOR

Direct comparison approach

BEREE

Direct comparison approach

BELLEOR

Direct comparison approach

BEREE

Adjusted market price
(per square foot)

BRBEZTEETAR)

Adjusted market price
(per square foot)

RARZMEEFIR)

Adjusted market price
(per square metre)

@B E(ETHR)

Adjusted market price
(per square foot)

RARZHEEFIR)

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China is
determined using direct comparison approach by reference to recent sales price of comparable
properties on a price per square foot/per square metre basis, adjusted for a premium or
discount specific to the quality of the Group’s properties compared to recent sales on the
comparable transactions. The higher the adjusted market price, the higher the fair value and a
favourable adjustment on the timing of comparable transactions will result in a higher fair value

measurement.

Fair value adjustments of investment properties are recognised in the line item “change in
fair value of investment properties” on consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. All gains (losses) recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are arisen from the investment properties held at the end of

the reporting period.

HK$9,725 to HK$37,520
(2021: HK$8,777 to
HK$34,664)

9,725 7L 237,520/ 7T
(ZFE=—4F 877781
34,6645 T)

HK$13,490 to HK$33,989
(2021: HK$13,247 to
HK$32,900)

13,490/ 70 2 33,9898 7T
TE - —4F 132478
JTE32,900/7T)

Renminbi (“‘RMB”)
RMB26,938 to RMB35,557
(2021: RMB30,000 to
RMB33,143)
AREB(TARKE])
AR#26,938TE
ANR#E35,5577T
(ZF=—%F:

AR 830,000 F

A B #33,1437T)

HK$5,922 to HK$6,509
(2021: HK$6,840 to
HK$7,800)

5,922/8 7L 56,5097 7T
(ZE=—1 : 6840571
£7,800/7T)

Assuming other factors remain
unchanged, the higher the
adjusted market price,
the higher the fair value

BEHEMEAZRETE - LAE
ZzTEMSATELS

Assuming other factors remain
unchanged, the higher the
adjusted market price,
the higher the fair value

BEEMARRETE  ERE
ZEEEAFESS

Assuming other factors remain
unchanged, the higher the
adjusted market price,
the higher the fair value

R EMEARRFE - AR
ZHEREATFESS

Assuming other factors remain
unchanged, the higher the
adjusted market price,
the higher the fair value

BEEMARRETE  ERE
ZEEEAFESS

UREE RPIRPFEAEZREMEZ A FETIERERLR
EEE  HE2EMHEENERSTAR /BRI REREE
AEZIHER BECiARERTEE 2o aERTE (A
MAEERZLBME)EHAE  HEAEZTERSNEA
FEESREAIHELERR S 2 BEREBELEFHE 98 HH

HERBZATESS -

REME L ATEREAERRGEREAMEERERFTNUIE

CUESHNZL

1=k - N REP R AL REMEE

EZ ARG (BR)EFAREREMEERERPHER



13.

14.

ENEEARAF FiR2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRERME

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022

BE-Z-_FNA=1+HLEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13. BLEE
Customer
Software relationships Total
0ee EFBR wst
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FExT
Cost 2%
At 1 May 2020, 30 April 2021 and 1 May 2021 R-ZE_TFRAA—HB —T_—F
MA=+BE=Z=—FHA—H - - -
Additions arising from acquisition of subsidiaries F U BB A R E £ KR E (HY7F30)

(Note 30) 24,859 9,349 34,208
At 30 April 2022 R-ZE--—FMA=+H 24,859 9,349 34,208
Accumulated amortisation G £
At 1 May 2020, 30 April 2021 and 1 May 2021 R-E-_ZFRA—H —_ZE-—F

MA=+BR-_ZE-_—FRA—A - - -
Charge for the year NEEER 2,900 1,558 4,458
At 30 April 2022 R-ZBE--—FMNA=+H 2,900 1,558 4,458
Net carrying amount FREFE
At 30 April 2021 RZZZ—FMNA=+H - - -
At 30 April 2022 R-EBE-_—_FWMA=+H 21,959 7,791 29,750

Software and customer relationships are acquired through acquisition of subsidiaries and
amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 and 8 years respectively and tested for impairment

where an indicator of impairment appears.

REREFEAETEBIEIHBE QRS L5 BN 5F ReFR

RERERE YR HRBEDREETRER

GOODWILL 14. B8
2022 2021
—EB-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Reconciliation of carrying amount FREEH R
At the beginning of the reporting period RiRE ) - -
Addition nE 39,331 -
At the end of the reporting period R|EBHR 39,331 -
Claman Group b= @B Total
Claman¥E It RIEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FExT FExT
(Note 14(a)) (Note 14(b))
(BzF14(a) (BzE14(b))
At 30 April 2022 R-ZBZZFONA=+H
Cost AR AR 39,331 11,383 50,714
Accumulated impairment losses ZEREEE - (11,383) (11,383)
39,331 - 39,331

14(a)Goodwill arising from acquisition of Claman and its subsidiaries (the “Claman

Group”)

Goodwill arising during the year related to the acquisitions of equity interests in Claman
Group and was allocated to the technology and related activities CGU. The excess of the
fair value consideration transferred over the acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of approximately HK$39,331,000 was recognised

as goodwill.

1MQUEREMBAR((Camank @ ) EE 28

FREAZHERKERCamanE B2 REFR T HEE

MERAERES < B EEBAL - T

FEREBHAM

WEABNEERMAREBBERESERATFEZEEN
39,331,000/ 7L 2 HER AR E -
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HEC®

CCHENAZTRLEFE

14. GOODWILL (Continued)

14(a)

14(hb)

Goodwill arising from acquisition of Claman Group (Continued)

At 30 April 2022, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit with reference to a value-in-use calculation based on the cash flow
projection of Claman Group. The calculation used cash flow projection based on financial
budgets approved by the directors of the Company covering a 5-year period. Cash flows
beyond the 5-year period have been extrapolated using a 2.5% long-term growth rate. This
growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculation are as follows:

2.5%
19.0%

Long-term growth rate
Discount rate (pre-tax)

The management of the Group performed impairment test for the goodwill and determined
such goodwill was not impaired. Reasonably possible changes in key assumptions will not
lead to the goodwill impairment loss.

Goodwill arising from acquisition of 1t R JE&E

Goodwill arising in prior years related to the acquisitions of equity interest in 1t 5 JIE 38 82
EBEREEAT (dLRIEME”) and was allocated to the financial services CGU (“Financial
Services CGU”) for impairment.

14. BE(E)

14(a)

14(h)

WiECamanEEELE 2 HE(£E)

RZZZZFWOA=+HB AEELEREdamanE B2
RerneBArtEzEREETGEEBREEEEM 2T
W Bl 5 - AT E A ERARBAARNESIME 2 A F R
BREEETZReSREEN - BBESFHZRERENER
2.5% 2 REPE REHE - LIS RE IR IBABIT RIS RIEA
T BUEBEERTEZ FHRPERE -

REtEEREEZEZRERNOT

REPERE 2.5%
BRER X (FLAT) 19.0%
AEETEECDHBBRTREN  WETZEEL ER

E-TERRNGEAEEH T LB ERERHR -
BBt RIEEEE 2 HE

A FEEEZHERNBEILRIBRREARAEAR
(MtREEDzBEERYTCORESBRRGER 2R
Eiﬁfﬁ(fﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁf‘%i%ﬂWF/WEJ&%@

The carrying amount of goodwill had been fully impaired during the year ended 30 April HATRTHEE BEERSENEE-_ZT—NEMA

2014 due to the uncertain market conditions. =tREFEBRERE -

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVOCI 15. BRHMZ2EANRAZATFEIIRZEREE
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mfat FHET FAT
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value FETRARE  RAFE

— Honest Pro (Holdings) Limited (‘Honest Pro”) — Honest Pro (Holdings) Limited ([ Honest Pro ) 15(a) - -
— Claman Global Limited (“Claman”) — Claman Global Limited ([Claman]) 15(b) - 23,924
- 23,924

Notes:

15(a)

15(b)

Honest Pro is a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability. The principal activity of Honest Pro is
investment holding. The Group had 20% equity interests in Honest Pro. The Group does not participate
in policy-making processes, including participation in decisions about dividends or other distributions of
Honest Pro. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group does not exercise significant
influence over the financial and operating policies of Honest Pro. For the year ended 30 April 2020, a fair
value loss of approximately HK$670,000 was recognised in FVOCI reserve. Subsequent to the fair value loss
recognised for the year ended 30 April 2020, the carrying value of investment in Honest Pro is nil as at 30
April 2021 and 2020. In the opinion of the management of the Group, there was no fair value change in the
investment in Honest Pro for the year ended 30 April 2022 and 2021.

As at 30 April 2021, the Group had 22.5% equity interest in Claman, a company incorporated in BVI with
limited liability and owns its technology business in international multi-function cloud management
platform systems and businesses.

On 11 June 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, VG Investment Assets Holdings Incorporated
(“VG Investment”), completed the increase of its equity interest in Claman to approximately 50.3%. After
VG Investment’s step-up acquisition of equity interest at the same date, Claman became an indirectly
owned subsidiary of the Company. The unlisted equity investment in Claman with net carrying amount
of approximately HK$23,924,000 was then derecognised and the corresponding accumulated fair value
change of approximately HK$5,076,000 had been transferred to accumulated losses upon derecognition.
Details of the step-up acquisition are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Please refer to Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements for the details of fair value

measurement.

wikt

15(a)

15(b)

R

Honest Pro &5 J B 5 22 B & 7 A7 2 AR A A ° Honest ProZ £ 2%
S RIREIER - AL MM Honest Profs B 20%R% i - AEEAFLHEERE
Honest Pro73 AR 8.3l H H Ath 73 R 2 SR E FBUR 3T 812 - AR AE
ERA AEEUHBREERRIESAFEN -HE_Z_TF
MA=+HIEFE RFEEEL670,0008 TRERAFEF AL LS
BRAREAER BEZE_T_ZENA=1TALEFEHRAATE
BE2E R _E_—FR-ZZZFNASTARZBREZREE
AT AEEMEERERA MHonest ProZ RERHE=
Zo—GNA=tTHIFEZ AT ETEEE)-

To_FR-

b) RZZF=—FWA=+H  KEER CamaniE A 22.5% 842 -Claman &7
HEEZESAMERIZBERRA WG ERERIESETER
FARGRERHERHER -

RZZEZ—FRNA+—H KAREIZEKNBRFIVG Investment Assets
Holdings Incorporated (VG Investment]) Z2 A% % £ 7 Claman 2 B # 15 &
% #950.3% © FAVG Investment) 25 U B A% 4 18 B4 [F) B+ ClamanfX /& &
RAEEER 2 M BRF - Ramanz JE LR AR E 7 BREFES
23,924,000/ TLE {2 42 L # 3R - T AEHE 2 25t A T B2 E)495,076,000%
TERKILHRARERZE B - ERRI D P RESE L FH1EH
PR G BT R 30

FEFBZFHE  FL2HGA M BRRMES -



16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL
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16. FBBBRBZEQAFPEIIRZERHEE

2022 2021

—E-—F —E-—fF

Note HK$’000 HK$'000

Mt FExT FAETT

Listed equity securities ETRAFES 16(a) 5,000 4,766
Unlisted debt securities — club memberships FLETERES -SMER 16(b) 1,615 1,592
6,615 6,358

Less: Non-current portion o FERENER S (1,615) (1,592)
Amounts shown under current assets REBEEBNIREHE 5,000 4,766

At 30 April 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of the financial assets represent the maximum
exposure to credit risk of those financial assets and there are no significant concentrations of
credit risk for those financial assets.

At the end of the reporting period, no financial assets at FVPL exceeded 10% of the Group’s total
assets.

16(a)Listed equity securities

At 30 April 2022 and 2021, the listed equity securities are listed in Hong Kong. The fair
values of the listed equity securities are determined on the basis of quoted market closing
prices available on the relevant stock exchanges at the end of each reporting period.

As disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, during the year, the trading
of listed equity securities activities has recorded gain of approximately HK$360,000 (2027:
loss of approximately HK$2,454,000) from a fairly diversified portfolio of listed equity
securities at FVPL, held for trading purposes. There was an increase in asset value, which
was entirely due to market-to-market unrealised gain of approximately HK$234,000 (from
increase in market values) as at 30 April 2022 (2021: unrealized loss of approximately
HK$1,789,000), and realised loss transactions of approximately HK$Nil (2021 approximately
HK$875,000).

These transactions did not constitute notifiable transactions pursuant to Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules.

16(b)Unlisted debt securities — club memberships

The Group’s investment in club membership were revalued at 30 April 2022 and 2021 based
on valuations performed by Roma Appraisal Limited (2027: Roma Appraisal Limited). The
fair value of club membership was valued by using market comparable approach.

The movement of the club membership at FVPL is analysed as follows:

REIZZZFR-T-—FNA=1H ¢RMEAEZEAELAZ
EORMEEZEEERRE YERZSCREETESAE
EERER -

RREER WEBRBESEATEIEZCREERBBASE
HBEEZ10% °

16(a) £ 75 R A3 35

REZBZZFR-T=—FMA=1H LTREABFNE
LM EMRABH ZATFEDARSHRERREREBFE
HR Gz W ENEBETE

WERA M B REAMFAMEE  FH - BE L TRAE S
SBREFEESRATFENERIE LTRAZES 28
B %L B A B E £9360,0008 7L( = F = —4F ¢ F5EAY
2,454,000 ) BEBEEMN TE2RER_Z-__FWNA
=+ AETEENREIRKE4234,00078 T (k5 TEE
M =F=—F - REERE15471,789,0008C ) REBEBRE
BRSGUNEBT(ZFE=—1F - 49875000/%7T)°

16(b)E LT EBES -SFEHE

FEBRGREEYREN TR -_T-—4A
=+ ANREBERSEBFEERAN=ZFE=—F - #FH
B ERAGETNGEEENEE - EMEBENAFE
RATSLBEETHE-

BATEFABRZEEELEBONET :

2022 2021

—EB-= T —F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHTT

At the beginning of the reporting period RS E ) 1,592 1,550
Net change in fair value recognised in profit or loss PERERZ ATEE 23 42
At the end of the reporting period RBEHR 1,615 1,592
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17. FORFEITED COLLATERALS HELD FOR SALE

During the years ended 30 April 2022 and 2021, the Group obtained assets by taking possession
of collaterals held as security. The nature and carrying value of these assets held as at 30 April
are summarised as follows:

17. FEHRBGEHR R

HE-_T-_—FR-ZF-_—FNA=Z+HLFE FAEEZREHE
BEHEERNEAQEREE -REA=+AZSEEZHER
SREEBLRAT

2022 2021

—EB-—F —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Forfeited collaterals held for sale —a mix of gold and jewellery & EUKIFR — T € MIKEAS 310 313

The estimated market value of the repossessed assets held by the Group as at 30 April 2022 and
2021 was approximately to its carrying amount. It comprises gold and jewellery in respect of
which the Group has acquired access or control for release in full or in part of the obligations of
the borrowers.

18. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

REIZZZFR-ZT-—FNA=1+H AEEMFLLREE
ZiEEt IS EEAEREERS - £ Ea A% B (A sz bl
BERERAZBRBHEET 2 ES RIKE -

18. FEYBRTX

2022 2021
—EC-_F —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FHT FAET

Accounts receivable FEWBR TR
From third parties REE=T 125,586 79,433
Less: Loss allowance B R 34 (9,225) (9,797)
18(a) 116,361 69,636

18(a)Accounts receivable from third parties

The ageing of accounts receivable based on invoice date, net of loss allowance for ECL, at
the end of each reporting period is as follows:

18(a) FE WL 58 = BR X

REREHRZBEZ AR 27 2 BERR(HREHEES
B2 EREE) SRR ITEIMT ¢

2022 2021

—E-C—F —T-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Within 30 days 30HA 9,584 7,606
31 to 60 days 318 E60H 13,477 6,991
61 to 90 days 61HZ=90H 11,101 6,201
91 to 180 days 91H£180H 35,396 11,724
Over 180 days HiB180H 46,803 37,114

116,361 69,636
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18. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 18. FEWAR ()
18(a)Accounts receivable from third parties (Continued) 18() EWNE=FBRR(E)
At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of accounts receivable, net of loss NEIWRESRIZFA 27 2 EREZ (IR EREEERE
allowance for ECL, by due date is as follows: JEEBE) ZEBROEINT ¢
2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T TETT
Not past due A8 HR 34,162 26,597
Past due: mE -
Less than 30 days L3008 11,820 2,129
31 to 60 days 31HZE60H 12,191 2,437
61 to 90 days 61HZE90H 11,384 5,233
91 to 180 days 91HZE180H 28,563 10,091
Over 180 days H#iB180H 18,241 23,149
82,199 43,039
116,361 69,636
The Group generally allows an average credit period range from 30 to 180 days (2021: 30 to AEEBRERNETERY Y THEEEHN F308 21808
180 days) to its customers. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. —E-—F :30HF180H ) REBW BB E A AISHT
(EESERLE
Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss allowance on accounts AEAEEREREREE Y CEAREEEREE Y ER
receivable are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. HNRA B IS REM 534 o
19. LOAN RECEIVABLES 19. EIRE =
2022 2021
—E=-= —_E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Hrit TET TR
Loan receivables FEWER
— Unsecured — A 26,857 30,708
Less: Loss allowance R 34 (1,249) (1,303)
25,608 29,405
The loan receivables bear interest rates ranging from 3.0% to 30.0% (2021: 3.0% to 30.0%) per FEUWE M A E R EN F3.0%830.0%( = F = —4F :3.0%F
annum and are repayable according to the respective loan agreements which usually cover 30.0%) WEBRESOBER GBS E—REBRTBE—F-
periods not more than one year.
a) Maturity profile a) FHER
2022 2021
—E-= —_E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T T
Due within 1 month or on demand ME A RE| Hsiz Zsk(EE 1,300 317
Due after 1 month but within 3 months 1E A RE3EARRH 14 250
Due after 3 months 3fE AR EIH 25,543 30,141

26,857 30,708
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19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

b) Loan receivables that are not considered to be impaired are as follows:

19. BRER 4

REERREZBERERNT :

2022 2021

—ZE=-= —ET-—fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Neither past due nor impaired R ER TR AR (E 26,544 30,391
Less than 1 month past due B D P (E A 3 4
1 to 3 months past due 1 =3 A 3 5
Over 3 months past due mEA3ME A LA £ 307 308
26,857 30,708

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss allowance on loan
receivables are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

20. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

FREASEREKERAR  EERR REBRREEER
R A T IE WA L34 -

20. BE - BNRRREBERRR

2022 2021

—E-C—F —ET-—F

Note HK$’000 HK$'000

Mt FHT FAET

Prepayments TERHERK 1,280 1,051
Rental and other deposits e kHEMmiEe 20(a) 16,783 15,436
Consideration receivable FEUR(E - 4,600
Rental receivables il giztes 576 1,076
Interest receivables EUF B 1,411 1,727
Other receivables H b U R IE 20(b) 24,788 12,652
44,838 36,542

Less: Loss allowance A EIREE 34 (7,686) (8,395)
37,152 28,147

20(a)Rental and other deposits

As at 30 April 2021, included in rental and other deposits is carrying amount before ECL of
approximately HK$10,644,000, with corresponding loss allowance for ECL of approximately
HK$645,000, paid for proposed investments for which the due diligence is ongoing. As
there have been logistics and working challenges resulting from the coronavirus situation
and travel inconveniences in Hong Kong, the due diligence and discussions have been
delayed. The Group and the debtors entered into supplementary agreements pursuant to
which the debtors have successfully sourced new customers to the Group for commission at
an agreed basis of sales amount for partial settlement of the refundable faith deposits to
the Group. During the year ended 30 April 2022, the carrying amount of approximately of
HK$10,644,000 was fully utilised as commission and recognised in profit or loss.

As at 30 April 2022, this included the refundable good faith deposits with carrying
amount of approximately HK$12,250,000 with corresponding loss allowance for ECL of
approximately HK$1,011,000, paid for proposed investment in equity interest. Up to the
date of this report, this acquisition has not yet been completed.

20(b)Other receivables

As at 30 April 2021, included in the balance of other receivables are carrying amount
before ECL of approximately HK$7,754,000 with corresponding loss allowance for ECL of
approximately HK$2,395,000, which represents the consideration receivables for disposal of
a financial asset at FVOCI, and being fully settled during the year.

As at 30 April 2022, include in other receivables is carrying amount before ECL of
approximately HK$15,000,000, with corresponding loss allowance of ECL of approximately
HK$1,239,000, which represents prepayment paid to an independent party, for support
services fee of potential business investments.

20 RE MRS

RZZZ—FNA=+H HeREMESBIENEHEE
E5 18 AT 2 BRE (B 4910,644,0008 7 ML BRI AT 278
BB BB EREN645,0008 7T - MBS NEET -

ARBEMRAESNERMEBEMRTME - FR T RN IE
FEAKE  AURBAELAROER - AEEEEBEA
RIMERBE Bt BHARKDAREEXKIFES -

NEHEHEREERINME  AnAREBLDEEAR
EBEERS -HE-ZT-_—_FNA-TALFE KAEY
10,644,000/ LE 2 H A EASE - WHIBZER o

KRB ZFMA=1H B HEREEL12250,000% T
ZAREBERS BEARS M ZWEHARTK -

20(b) EL At YR IE

RZZZ—FNA=1H EREMBKFIEEHR AR ZR
TEHE B A 1B RIBRE{E497,754,000/8 0 ABHEEERZ
HRFE RS 1B R 5 542,395,000 T THiEHE—BEBEME
ERARRTFEEZ S REE 2 BRRE  YREREY

3k
g e

A

R-ZE-—&#MA=+0 Hitt KK BREREHEESE
AT AR E{E£915,000,000%8 7T - MIAE B B BB E B RE
491,239,000 (A1 F—R2BI AT ZBRAFIE) Th5t
BEEBRE X ERBER -



21.

22,

23.
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INVENTORIES 21. FE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Merchandise m 2,533 -

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 30 April 2022, bank balances and cash in the Mainland China amounted to approximately
HK$9,906,000 (2021: approximately HK$11,249,000). Remittance of funds out of the PRC is
subject to the exchange controls imposed by the PRC government.

22, RITHEBRES

RZTZZFNA=1+H RPEREZRIEBRESSER
#79,906,00078 7T ( = F = —4F : 711,249,000/ 7T ) & @ [ELF
B LA SN 3 <F A BB bt 02 SN A FE i

2022 2021

—E-—F —T-—fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Bank balances and Cash BITEBERE 84,022 37,857

Bank overdrafts (note 25) RITHEZ (M7#25) (26,150) -

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of FAERESRERANRSRASEEEE

cash flows 57,872 37,857
ACCRUALS, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND OTHER PAYABLE 23, FExtFE  BRiRER HiEAFIE

2022 2021

—g-= -

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Accruals FEETFRIE 3,127 1,827

Accrued retainer fee (Note) FEEHIEE B (Ha7) 7,775 4,925

Accrued staff costs FESHE TRk A 3,817 5,390

Consideration payable ERRE 1,350 -

Rental and other deposits received Bl e REMES 1,167 1,296

Other payables HAb e FRIA 994 109

18,230 13,547

Note: The accrued retainer fee are non-interesting bearing and the Group is normally being granted with credit
terms range from 30 to 150 days (20217: 30 to 150 days).

Bet - AR BR AT R  AEE—REREIS0R (ZF=—F 308

150K) 2= E 8 -
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24.

25.

THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022
Bo_FMA=TALEE

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE 24, BARARE
HK$’000
FExT
At 30 April 2021 and 1 May 2021 REZZEZ—FMOA=+AR=Z=—FHA—H -
Contingent consideration arising from acquisition of TeamTech Digital Corporation Yz TeamTech Digital Corporation([TeamTech |) E 4 Z sl AR (E
(“TeamTech”) (Note 30) (K15£30) 9,663
Net change in fair value recognised in profit or loss REEERZ AT EZE)FE 1,150
Realised during the year REREE (600)
At 30 April 2022 R-ZE-—FMA=+H 10,213
Analysed for reporting purposes as: REREHZ DT :
Current portion BN 2,351
Non-current portion IEmENE D 7,862
10,213
The contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value, which is calculated based on the FENFARBEATEANE  NEAERREAT ZEHELRR
expected business performance of the acquired companies of the Group. Since the certain levels B8 AREE - ZE - —FNA=1tHRLFEZETHWAKYE
of revenue and profit and other conditions for the year ended 30 April 2022 have been fulfilled oo T B B A I B A - SR (1B 600,000 TE EHIETE A
accordingly consideration payable of HK$600,000 was redesignated as consideration payable and FERRE AR GARERERW 23 - HFBESE N A ER
included in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements. Details are set out in the Note 30 to FKHIEE30
the consolidated financial statements.
INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 25. STEfBE

At the end of the reporting period, the details of the interest-bearing borrowings of the Group
are as follows:

REBEHR AEEFEERZFENT

2022 2021
—E-_F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Interest-bearing borrowings FHEEE

— Secured bank loan —BEBRITER 43,552 22,139
— Other secured borrowings —HihBEEEE 1,250 -
44,802 22,139
Secured bank overdraft BEMRITEL 26,150 -
70,952 22,139

Carrying amounts of interest-bearing borrowings that are B EE ZREE N )

repayable (Note)

Within one year —FR 29,629 2,187
More than one year, but not exceeding two years BE—FELARERN 3,521 2,212
More than two years, but not exceeding five years BAMFEELINAEER 8,829 6,793
More than five years BBRE 28,973 10,947
70,952 22,139
Less: Amount shown under current liabilities W ORBBEETAIRERE (70,952) (22,139)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities IRBAEE NI RS - -

Note: All interest-bearing borrowings contain a repayment on demand clause and are shown under current
liabilities. The amounts due are presented based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.

Wizt B REERSRENX éib’é?

KRB B EIR IR - ZEE S
SRRBERGEAR R TEERRRS -



25. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

The ranges of interest rates on the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings are as follows:

Secured bank loans of approximately HK$9,222,000 as at 30 April 2022 (2021: approximately
HK$10,310,000) is charged interest from 0.7% per annum over 1-month HIBOR* to 2.5% per
annum below prime rate for both years.

Secured bank loan of approximately HK$1,730,000 as at 30 April 2022 (2021: nil) is charged
interest from 0.7% per annum over 1-month HIBOR* to 2.75% per annum below prime rate for
the year.

Secured bank loans of approximately HK$32,600,000 as at 30 April 2022 (2021: nil) is charged
interest 1.3% per annum over 1-month HIBOR* for the year.

Secured bank loan of approximately HK$7,414,000 as at 30 April 2021 is charged interest from
1.25% per annum over 3-month HIBOR* to 2.7% per annum below prime rate for the year.

Secured bank loan of approximately HK$4,415,000 as at 30 April 2021 is charged interest from
1.5% per annum over 3-month HIBOR* to 2.45% per annum below prime rate for the year.

Other secured borrowings of approximately HK$1,250,000 as at 30 April 2022 (2021: nil) is
charged interest 3% per annum over Hong Kong dollar prime rate for the year.

Secured bank overdraft of approximately HK$26,150,000 as at 30 April 2022 (2021: nil) is charged
interest overnight HIBOR* or 2% per annum below the Bank’s Hong Kong dollar Best Lending
Rate, whichever is higher for the year.

*

Hong Kong Interbank Offer Rate

The other secured borrowings are borrowed from a financial institution, an independent third
party, and guaranteed by unconditional corporate guarantee provided by the Company and a
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary.

The bank borrowings are drawn under banking facilities. The banking facilities are secured and
guaranteed by:

(i) Investment properties of the Group with an aggregate net carrying amount at the end of the
reporting period of approximately HK$185,600,000 (2021 approximately HK$118,597,000)
(Note 12);

(ii) Leasehold land and buildings of approximately HK$10,760,000 at the end of the reporting
period (2021: approximately HK$11,188,000) (Note 11); and

(i) An unlimited corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

All of the banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to subsidiaries’
ratios based on their statements of financial position, as are commonly found in loan
arrangements with financial institutions. If the subsidiaries were to breach the covenants, the
drawn down facilities would become repayable on demand. In addition, the subsidiaries’ loan
agreements contain clauses which give the lender the right at its sole discretion to demand
immediate repayment at any time irrespective of whether the subsidiaries have complied with
the covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.

FAREARAR FR022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022
BE-Z-_FA=1+HLEE

25. FHEMEE M)

AREHBEEZMEHENT

RZZE-—_FNA=+HZEERRITERL9,222,0008 (=
T =—4F : £910,310,000/87C) AT E R — @A EBRITRE
FEFNN0.7%Z S8 B FI R F L2 5%:1 8

R-EZ—FNA=+RHZEERBRITEFL,730,0008 7T(=
Fo—4F )R ERE—EAABBRITRERENN0I%ERE
SRS R F2.75%T 8.

NZZTZZFMA =+ 82 HFEMRITE F£I32,600,000% 7T
ZE-—F - #)RFENE—EABBRITR ESEFIN.3%T
8o

RZZZ—FMNA=+B 2 HPRITEFKL7,414,000% TR

ERIE (AR BB RITRIENR B N01.25%E &8 B R E ) =

2.7%zFE

NZT=Z—FWNA=1+82EHFRTERL4,415,0008 TR
FRE=E A BBRITRZERE*IN1.5% 2 H BB L[ F K
2.45%5T 2.

RZTEZZFNA=1+TAHZEMBEIREEL,250,0008 (=
Fo—F  F)RFREBETHEBENEMTFI%T B

NZZZZFWA=+HZEEMRITEX426,150,00078 7T
(ZF=—F ) RFREBREBRITREREHBRITETL
SEENEREF R (AR EE RE) R -

* BERITIAEFE

HAEREEDNES —RPBEE  —2BYS=) TAX
RERHEZBGEHCEERE— BB RZFERBRER -

RITIEERIRITAE A - SRITRVE LA T 55 AR

(iy FAIREHRBIREFE4185,600,0008 (= F=—4 : 47
118,597,000/ 70 ) ) A EER E W3 (Ha#12)

(i) R|EHR2AE LR BF410,760,0000F T( = F = —
F 1 11,188,000;87C ) ([1zF11): K

(i) ARARREEBRBEQARER -

FAERITRENASENB AR ZLR(EREMBMRRNR)E
BRZmERR  HAES ERRNESRBBR L ESRR
Pep e B A RER R RIDRBWBE R AREREE -
BESN - BB A R 2 BRI A B8 I T B R AR ] 2B RE R
BRENERMGR M HRIEBARREEETRERETA
BERE -
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25.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants and has made payments
according to the schedule of the loans and does not consider it probable that the banks will
exercise its discretion to demand repayment so long as the Group continues to meet these
requirements. Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in Note 34
to the consolidated financial statements. As at 30 April 2022 and 2021, none of the covenants
relating to drawn down facilities had been breached.

25. FHEMEEE)

AREEHES LN
TR
313

ST % #ﬁuﬁm‘ /R e5—

LEE Pégikth Z’S)%.AEE//IL@‘J 14

HikstBlEER
EHE - fEfTH—rTK—I

ZE—LFEH
DR A IEHREM 3 - R F R T —FMA=~
A HEEREERNEERHNHTE-

26. DEFERRED TAXATION 26. ELEHE
The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements thereon during the years LAT/‘%EAEXEI_ S CFRZE—FNA=THILFEER
ended 30 April 2022 and 2021. RZBEEREABEREES -
Fair value
adjustments Unrealised fair
arising from value change
acquisition of in investment
subsidiaries properties Total
B H A REYEZ
BEZAFERRE RERAFERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET
At 1 May 2020 RZZEZTFHA—H - 860 860
Credit to profit or loss FFABE - (51) (51)
At 30 April 2021 and 1 May 2021 Eé::*fimﬁl:+a&
—Z-—FhA—H - 809 809
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 30) UeBE M B A R (MTa£30) 5,644 - 5,644
Credit to profit or loss BN E - (268) (268)
At 30 April 2022 R-ZE-_—FMA=+AH 5,644 541 6,185
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had estimated unused tax losses of approximately R HIoR - AR B (5T 7B R B A B T8 518 4969,419,00055 7T
HK$69,419,000 (2021 approximately HK$83,385,000) available for offset against future profits, (=ZF = —1F : 483,385,000/ 7T ) o] BN K S5 AR HOE R - AT
no deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. AIFE AR HOE T - M EEREERIBEE - ABERBEEE
The unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely. ] R H AL o
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. B
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—fF
No. of shares HK$’000 No. of shares HK$'000
RHHE FHET &t 2 B FHET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each FREIE0.04E T2 LBk
At the beginning and the end of the reporting P ¥R EI7 N Hi K
period 5,000,000,000 200,000 5,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BOTRAR
At the beginning i E=g e k) 192,189,833 7,688 192,189,833 7,688
Issue of shares in respect of acquisition of a U B BT B N B B AT RRAD (B AE)
subsidiary (Note) 34,885,000 1,395 - -
At the end of the reporting period REREER 227,074,833 9,083 192,189,833 7,688
Note: On 11 June 2021, the Company allotted and issued 34,885,000 consideration shares at an issue price of Kfit AT =—FEXA+— B KRRIRETEER045E LA 3 R EB1T

HK$0.45 per share to acquire approximately 17.8% equity interest in Claman. Details are set out in Note 30
to the consolidated financial statements.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to
the Company’s residual assets.

34,885,000 (X (B A% 1)+ LAY Claman K £917.8% % 42 -

TSR MIEE30 ©
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) effective from 30 September 2011
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operations. The Scheme unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
remains in force for 10 years from that effective date which was expired during the year ended 30
April 2022. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including non-
executive directors, employees of the Group, any other groups or classes of suppliers, customers,
subcontractors or agents of the Group and the Company’s shareholders determined by the
directors of the Company as having contributed or who may contribute to the development and
growth of the Group.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the
Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject
to shareholder’s approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to any director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company,
or to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-
executive directors of the Company. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an
aggregate value (based on the official closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of the
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days from the date of offer,
upon the payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during the period commencing
from the date on which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted and expiring on a date
to be notified by the directors to each grantee, which shall not be more than 10 years from the
date on which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted. There is no minimum holding
period before an option may be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors of the Company, but may
not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’
meetings. No share options under the Scheme were granted during the years ended 30 April 2022
and 2021, all share options under the Scheme were lapsed during the year ended 30 April 2022
and there were no outstanding share options at 30 April 2021.
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28. fEIRAERTE

RAA-E-——FNA=tRRRMBEREAB([51E]) 5
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FFWATTHEERERT BRF EB AN A MBS tFRN—ER
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ARFEFRAEEAAELGHAREXRBHRLERA AR
ZARBBRR - BIEHAITHERIERT  BRIF B A LR A
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2B ERAER AR BEEARRE BTN Z210% o £ ER
ToERYRE A ERAERDEEER BRI N 2 ATHT
B fn EIR AR R R E A B2 BT 21% » IME BB
UL IR #82 f B B R R K& R AL -

BYERNES TRARIARRETERE B E2EAHE
ANTZHERE NABRERRR 2B IFNITESI A It
S MR+ ZEA R T AAREZRES B IENITE
$Eﬁ%ﬁ%2fifﬂﬁ§%§%/\tzE%HQ%ZZ@EEEZK"*TEEHE%
FEBITRG 201%HBEREAARFELERESE AARARF
f&fn 2 & 7 W B 55 ) 885,000,000/ 7T - ﬁ%m&ﬁx%ﬁ@
ERERRER AL -

ARATBRLBREZZHE B — T - BAXNERER
BTz R2HRE BRARRE BRETRERARERESR
REENH(REEAESREA) ARBER R IR EERITE
HERARTEBRABREREASR L RENE B TF-
BRETTEA L B RESEHR -

BREZITRERAEEETE BETNEERTIREE : ((RE
FEREE B ARBBRORE R ZHE : () ARFRMDRER
RhBRERS A RER S B AR FHRHE : Rii) A&
AR 2 HME
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29. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(d)

(1)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in
share premium account are distributable to shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Property revaluation reserve

Property revaluation reserve relates the property reclassified from owner-occupied to
investment properties. For such reclassifications, the accumulative increase in fair value
at the date of reclassification in excess of any previous impairment losses is included in
the property revaluation reserve and will be transferred to retained earnings upon the
retirement or disposal of the relevant property.

Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve represents the amount by which the Company’s issued
share capital has been diminished on the cancellation of the shares purchased. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the capital redemption reserve may be applied
by the Company in paying up its unissued shares to be allocated to shareholders of the
Company as fully-paid bonus shares.

Statutory surplus reserve

According to the articles of association of the subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC,
the PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of its net profit after tax, as determined
in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to the statutory surplus
reserve. When the balance of the statutory surplus reserve reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’
registered capital, any further appropriation is optional. The transfer to this reserve must be
made before distribution of a dividend to the shareholders.

Statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up previous years’ losses, if any, and may
be converted into capital in proportion to their existing shareholdings, provided that the
balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Financial assets at FVOCI reserve

Financial assets at FVOCI reserve represents cumulative gains and losses on revaluation of
financial assets at FVOCI recognised in other comprehensive income less those cumulative
gains and losses recycled and transfers amounts from this reserve to accumulated losses
upon derecognition of financial assets of FVOCI.

Exchange translation reserve

The exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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30. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

30(a)Acquisition of Claman Group

On 22 October 2020, VG Investment, a directly wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, would acquire 23 shares or approximately 17.8% equity interest in Claman
at a consideration of HK$15,689,250 from Allyking International Limited (‘Allyking”),
an independent third party. The consideration was paid for by allotment and issue of
34,885,000 consideration shares of the Company (“Consideration Shares”) at an issue price
of HK$0.45 per share (the “Further Acquisition of Claman”).

On 27 November 2020, VG Investment and Claman entered into a subscription agreement,
pursuant to which Claman conditionally agreed to issue, and VG Investment conditionally
agreed to subscribe for, 26 additional shares issued by Claman at a cash consideration of
approximately HK$14,100,000 (the “Subscription of Claman”).

After the completion of the Further Acquisition of Claman and the Subscription of Claman
on 11 June 2021, the number of shares issued by Claman will be increased from 129 shares
to 155 shares, and VG Investment has stepped up its equity interest in Claman, holding 78
shares which is equivalent to approximately 50.3%, and Claman became an indirectly owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Details of the acquisition are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 22 October
2020, 27 November 2020, 27 May 2021 and 11 June 2021.

The above step-up acquisition constituted a business combination and had been accounted
for using the acquisition method under HKFRS 3 (Revised), “Business Combinations”.

The directors of the Company have engaged Roma Appraisal Limited to provide assistance
in determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the Claman Group and
Consideration Shares in accordance with HKFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement”. Roma
Appraisal Limited has reviewed the methodologies, the key valuation parameters and
business assumptions adopted.

The Company issued 34,885,000 ordinary shares as part of the consideration paid for the
acquisition of Claman Group. The fair value of the shares issued was valued based on the
last traded price of shares as of 11 June 2021.

Upon the step-up acquisition of Claman Group, the Group remeasured the fair value of
its pre-existing 22.5% equity interest (Note 15) in Claman on 11 June 2021 and is of view
that there was no fair value change at the acquisition date. The goodwill arising from the
acquisition of Claman Group is attributable to the growth and profit potential as a result of
benefiting from the growing demand in financial technology services industry. None of the
goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The receivables acquired with a fair value of HK$23,465,000 at the date of acquisition had
gross contractual amounts of HK$23,465,000. The non-controlling interests in Claman Group
recognised at the acquisition date was measured by reference to the proportionate share of
recognised amounts of net assets of Claman Group and amounted of HK$16,964,000.

The transaction costs incurred by the Group for the acquisition had been expensed and
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year.

Since acquisition and up to 30 April 2022, Claman Group contributed HK$39,377,000 and
HK$5,915,000 to the Group’s revenue and profit for the period respectively between the
date of acquisition and the end of the reporting period.

If the above acquisition of Claman Group effected during the year had taken place
at the beginning of the year, the revenue and profit for the Group would have been
HK$194,359,000 and HK$8,186,000 respectively. The loss prior to the acquisition of Claman
Group is mainly attributable to the loss on disposal of listed securities.
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30. WEEKIE AR
30(a) B ClamanE @

RZZ_TFTAF B ARRZEEZEANB LR
B8 2 = JAllyking International Limited ([ Allyking]) Ui
Clamanz 23[& & 7 35 4717.8% % #& - X8 /315,689,25078 JT ©
REBCBBIREITETNR0.457% 7Tl % [ % 1734,885,000/%
RARRERD (TRERD DX

R-ZZT-ZTF+—HA=++H8 " V6 InvestmentEEClamans] 32
REBEHE UL Qaman B EHREZ T - TVG6 Investmentd
MR B LAZR € R (B 4914,100,000%5 7T R B Claman# 1T 2
260 FESMNEAD ([ Claman3RBEEE ) -
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30. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
30(b)Acquisition of TeamTech Group

On 17 August 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the company entered into a share
purchase agreement (‘Agreement”) with Faith Honest International Co. Ltd. In relation to
the acquisition of the entire equity interest in TeamTech Digital Corporation (“TeamTech”),
which is an investments holding company and holds approximately 51% equity interest
in its operating subsidiaries, TeamSoft Technologies Limited (“TeamSoft”) and Four
Directions Ecommerce Limited, and TeamTech Group is principally engaged in software and
ecommerce business.

Pursuant to the Agreement, the maximum consideration is HK$16,500,000 which comprises
of and is to be satisfied by the Group in the following manners:

(i) Initial consideration

The initial consideration of HK$1,500,000 which is to be settled in cash of HK$750,000
upon completion and another HK$750,000 within 90 days after the completion,
subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions.

(ii)  Contingent consideration

A maximum of HK$15,000,000 which will be settled in cash upon fulfilment of
certain levels of revenues and profits of TeamSoft, and the Group shall have received
dividends of not less than certain amounts as stipulated in the Agreement from
TeamTech for the years ended/ending 30 April 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025.

The transaction was completed on 30 September 2021 and a portion of initial consideration
of HK$750,000 was duly paid during the year ended 30 April 2022 and the conditions
for the remaining initial consideration of HK$750,000 were met but not yet settled and
therefore it was recognised as consideration payable as at 30 April 2022 in Note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Details of the acquisition are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 17 August
2021.

The above acquisition constituted a business combination and had been accounted for
using the acquisition method under HKFRS 3 (Revised), “Business Combinations”.

The directors of the Company have engaged Roma Appraisal Limited to provide assistance
in determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the TeamTech Group and
contingent consideration in accordance with HKFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement”. Roma
Appraisal Limited has reviewed the methodologies, the key valuation parameters and
business assumptions adopted.

The fair value of contingent consideration was arrived at based on discounted cashflow
of TeamSoft’s forecast financial budgets used to capture the present value of the expected
future economic benefits that will flow into TeamSoft by applying probability-weighted
average of achieving the required benchmark, using discount rate of 15.9%.

As the contingent consideration covers a period of more than one year, there are more
interactions to be assessed for the results. Probability-weighted payout approach is
therefore adopted as the simulation produces distribution of possible outcome values. By
assuming probability distributions, variables can have different probabilities of different
outcomes occurring. Probability distributions are a much more realistic way of describing
uncertainty in variables of the result.

The amount of contingent consideration to be settled is subject to certain guaranteed
revenues and profits, therefore, at the completion date, the contingent consideration is
classified as liabilities, measured at fair value. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss of the Group.

The receivables acquired with a fair value of HK$7,669,000 at the date of acquisition had
gross contractual amounts of HK$7,669,000.

The non-controlling interests in Claman Group recognised at the acquisition date was
measured by reference to the proportionate share of recognised amounts of net assets of
TeamTech Group and amounted of HK$10,557,000.

30. WEBMIB DB (42)

30(b) Y B TeamTech£E
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30. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

30(b)Acquisition of TeamTech Group (Continued)

The transaction costs incurred by the Group for the acquisition had been expensed and
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income for the year.

Since acquisition and up to 30 April 2022, TeamTech Group contributed HK$19,632,000 and
HK$2,311,000 to the Group’s revenue and profit for the period respectively between the
date of acquisition and the end of the reporting period.

If the above acquisition of TeamTech Group effected during the year had been taken

place at the beginning of the year, the revenue and profit for the Group would have been

HK$202,905,000 and HK$24,506,000 respectively.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of subsidiaries acquired during the year
end 30 April 2022 as at the respective dates of acquisitions are set out below:
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30. WEBMIB DB (42)

7)

AEERUBELEZRINAERFRAZGABREREM
EEYE R I A AT ©

30(b) Y B TeamTech £ E

RAHE EREXERUESDRERSHRAMA
TeamTech® B W A & F 8 5 5 & §£19,632,000%8 7T &
2,311,000 7T °

WRERERZ FifiTeamTechSE BB EBRFEN#TT K
& B 2 Wz Ko A i 9 51 £202,905,0005% 7T K.24,506,00078
ﬁ °

RUERS B2 - —FMA=+RLILFERBEZHERR
ABREERBEZ ATERIIOT

Claman Group TeamTech Group Total
Clamanf & TeamTech&£ & st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FATT FAT
Net assets acquired: BWBEERE
Property, plant and equipment ME BB MR - 43 43
Intangible assets W EE 9,349 24,859 34,208
Inventories FE - 269 269
Trade receivables B 5 FEWRIA - 7,562 7,562
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 24 TARH IR B A FE U BR 3k 23,465 107 23,572
Bank balances and cash RITEBLES 4,963 174 5,137
Accruals, deposits received and other payables fEstzE - g se R EMER TIE (2,089) (7,192) (9,281)
Deferred tax liabilities R IEA & (1,542) (4,102) (5,644)
Total identifiable net assets, at fair value RAFEIRZIHRANEEFEHEE 34,146 21,720 55,866
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR R ZS (16,964) (10,557) (27,521)
Goodwill arising on acquisition (Note 14) W ETEE AR E(MF14) 39,331 - 39,331
56,513 11,163 67,676
Consideration paid/payable, satisfied by: BN EARE UTHAREAM
Cash consideration BERE 14,100 1,500 15,600
Consideration Shares RERHD 18,489 - 18,489
Contingent consideration — cash (Note 24) IARE-RE (Hit24) - 9,663 9,663
Total consideration transferred, at fair value BWEREALAE BRAYE 32,589 11,163 43,752
Fair value of pre-existing 22.5% equity interest RUEEEIE A H - 5122.5% Claman &
in Claman at the date of acquisition ZAFE 23,924 - 23,924
56,513 11,163 67,676
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the WEMBARZEERESNT
acquisition of subsidiaries
Cash consideration paid ENRERE (14,100) (750) (14,850)
Bank balances and cash acquired DERRITEHERS 4,963 174 5,137
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect W EEEMNBATEmME Hek
of the acquisitions of subsidiaries ReSFHEBERRLFHE (9,137) (576) (9,713)

The deferred tax liabilities are mainly associated with the identifiable intangible assets and is
calculated using the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate at 16.5% on the fair value adjustment of the

identifiable intangible assets.

ERBHRRETZEARAIELEERR WiRA MM BV EE
ZAFEAERREBNEHB T 16.5%H -
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31. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

31.

The following table shows the information relating to the non-wholly owned subsidiary, Claman
and TeamTech that has material non-controlling interests (‘NCI”) during the year ended 30
April 2022. The recognised financial information represents amounts before inter-company

eliminations.

FRZ IR R

TERENEBE_ZE-__FNA-+ALTEEREEE AT
At s ([ FEPR et s ) 2 FE2 B I8 A BlClaman K TeamTech 2
Er - BRI BERERAREEEAz S8

At 30 April 2022
R-B-_H#NA=+H

Claman Group

TeamTech Group

Claman% @ TeamTech£ &

Proportion of NCI’s ownership interests FEI AR HE 2S5 P A RERE 25 L I 49.7% 49%
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Non-current assets SERBEE 7,791 22,003
Current assets TRENVEE 32,633 13,052
Current liabilities nEaE (362) (11,199)
Net assets BEFE 40,062 23,856
Carrying amount of NCI IR i 2 BREE 19,903 11,690

Claman Group

TeamTech Group

Claman%E TeamTech @
From From

11 June 2021
(date of acquisition)
to 30 April 2022

30 September 2021
(date of acquisition)
to 30 April 2022

B-E-—F B-E-—F

~A+—H hA=+H

(KR EE (KEBRM)EE

—B-—F —EB-CF

mA=+8 mA=+A

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Revenue g 39,377 19,632

Other income HA g A 32 -

Expenses 53 (33,494) (17,321)

Profit and total comprehensive income for the period HARHEF R 2N S a5 5,915 2311
Profit and total comprehensive income for the period FEIE IR R RS BE T R 2 E ISR 5

attributable to NCI 2,939 1,133

Net cash flow from (used in): BEEESME (TR RS RE S5

Operating activities fE e 5,462 (1,819)

Investment activities BEES - -

Financing activities MEED - 2,505




32. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following major non-cash transactions:

During the year ended 30 April 2022, the Group acquired approximately 17.8% equity
interest in Claman at a consideration of HK$15,689,250 by allotment and issue of
34,885,000 consideration shares of the Company.

During the year ended 30 April 2022 and 2021, the Group entered into supplementary
agreements in respect of commission of approximately HK$10,644,000 and HK$4,906,000
respectively, which was settled through the refundable good faith deposits paid in previous
year.

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The movements of the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities are as follows:

ENEEARAF FiR2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022
BE-ZE-__FNA=+HLEE

32. RERERBRZBHNEH

@ FEFREXZ

#v?é.\ﬁﬁﬂiﬁi’%ﬁ‘rlﬂ*ﬂ PRBE BN REER TR
35?/‘*

REE-Z-_—FHNA=+THILLFE AEEEBRERE
FT77A F]34,885,0000 B A1 - LA (E15,689,25075 7T U i
Claman#717.8% 5% # o

BHE-_T-__FR-_T-_—FNA=+—HLFE &

LS 5 B 4910,644,00078 7T K24 906,0005%7EETI%%3ET5%
T RMRECEREFINZARENELKS G-

() METHEEZEBZHE
AEEREFHELZBEZEHNOT ¢

Interest-bearing

borrowings

FTEEE

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 May 2020 R-TE-_ZTFRA—H 24,267

Finance costs R ID %N 357

Cash outflow in financing activities: METEBZRER

Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings BB EEE (2,128)

Interest paid BRFE (357)

At 30 April 2021 and 1 May 2021 RIB-Z-FNA=+HR=-ZF=—-FHA—H 22,139

Finance costs B RSR AR 591
Cash inflow (outflow) in financing activities: Eﬂﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁzfﬁffﬁ)\(ﬁﬂi ):

Addition of interests bearing borrowings NE 35,829

Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings ] (13,166)

Interest paid Eﬁ%‘ (591)

At 30 April 2022 R-EB-—_FMWA=+AH 44,802

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with related parties during the years ended
30 April 2022 and 2021:

Remuneration for key management personnel (i.e. directors) of the Group

Further details of the directors’ emoluments are set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

33. BEALRS

BREEMBRREMLTAIRENZ S AR REERE
E-R__FR-F-FOAZTHLEFERNABEALE

4= —=

TATRS ¢

FEEETREEAS(NES) 2ME
BEEME 2 — FHERIINGA M RKMEES -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of accounts receivable, loan receivables,
deposits and other receivables, bank balances and cash, financial assets at FVPL, accruals
and other payables, contingent consideration payable, bank overdrafts and interest-bearing
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise and maintain finance for

the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are market risk including (interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below. The Group also monitors the market price risk arising from all financial instruments.

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

4. BBAREREERREE

AEEZTESRTAGFERERR BRER REREME
WHR RITESREAS BRRERATEIRIEREE
et BEARAMENTR BNEIRKE  RITEX R BME
E-ZEeRMIAZIEMBRATNEEXBEESETRNE

AEESRTAMEENTIERBR ATSER(EFERELE -
SRR RRAERRER) EERREADECRER EFGE
RYRSEEERE Ll SBERAR2BER  LHAMT - KEE TR
EEMAERTAELNMSERRR -

ERTAZEFBRCARTIISE

Financial Financial

assets at assets at
At 30 April 2022 amortised cost FVPL Total

BEBRR

REBHR AT E RALE
REB-ZFWMA=+H ZEMEE JRZERMEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET FET

Assets EE

Club membership at FVPL BRBERATENEZ SHEHE - 1,615 1,615
Accounts receivable FEUBR K 116,361 - 116,361
Loan receivables TEWE = 25,608 - 25,608
Deposits and other receivables 7&K H Ath e A 35,872 - 35,872
Listed equity securities at FVPL FBBRBRATETIRZ EmRAES - 5,000 5,000
Bank balances and cash BITHEHBLIES 84,022 - 84,022
Total 45t 261,863 6,615 268,478

Financial Financial

liabilities at liabilities at
amortised costs FVPL Total

RE AR A<D R RAOFEIR
ZEMEE ZEREE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET

Liabilities =8

Accruals and other payables JE SRR M E fh FE S BUR 13,246 - 13,246
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 26,150 - 26,150
Interest-bearing borrowings EEE 44,802 - 44,802
Contingent consideration payable FESARE - 10,213 10,213
Total st 84,198 10,213 94,411




34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets
at amortised

Financial assets

FAREARAR FR022
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022

HE-B-_FRNA=TALFE
34. BEEBERRERBR (&)

Financial assets

At 30 April 2021 cost at FVPL at Fvodl Total
FHiEB FREMEE
R SR ANET & BAFED R AR FE
RZZ=Z—FMWA=+H ZEMEE ZeMEE JRzZemEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET FHET
Assets BE
Equity investment at FVOCI FiREMEEBAZATEIERZ
A KE - - 23,924 23,924
Club membership at FVPL FEREREATESEZSMeE - 1,592 - 1,592
Accounts receivable FE W BR TR 69,636 - - 69,636
Loan receivables P E 29,405 - - 29,405
Deposits and other receivables e R E A EWFIE 27,096 - - 27,096
Listed equity securities at FVPL FRBRRATEYRZ EMBRAES - 4,766 - 4,766
Bank balances and cash RITEBRNIAS 37,857 - - 37,857
Total #st 163,994 6,358 23,924 194,276
Financial
liabilities at
amortised costs
R ARSI BR
ZERmBR
HK$’000
FHET
Liabilities BE
Accruals and other payables FERTFRIE R H At FE A 5K IE 6,861
Interest-bearing borrowings EEE 22,139
Total Bt 29,000
Interest rate risk FZ= @ B

Except for loan receivables, certain other receivables and interest-bearing borrowings, the Group
has no significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities. The Group’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates and interest-bearing
borrowings are carried at floating rates and certain other receivables and loan receivables are
carried at fixed rates.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest risks and
the Group’s interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the
Group’s interest-bearing borrowings.

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings at
the end of the reporting period:

BEWET BT EMEKRARREREZN ARETES
Rt BEERAE -ARBENRARKERSREBELATE NS
FREBHMPE B SERERIDHIEFE  METEMEK
RIE N M SR E R ARG S

AR SR [E N £ AT ST A ] R K g LA A R e - i AR 2 A
RXEBREBETRARBEGSERAEEZBEBRITAERS
ZKE o

TRFAJAEBZFEEERBERRZFRER -

2022 2021
—EBC-CF —E-—F

Effective Effective

interest rate interest rate
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
YIRS FET IR AE% FHET

Variable rate borrowings BERREE

Bank overdrafts RITHEX 2.0 26,150 -
Interest-bearing borrowings AEEE 0.8-8.0 44,802 1.1-2.1 22,139

At 30 April 2022, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of 1% in interest rates would decrease/
increase the Group’s profit before tax by approximately HK$710,000 (2027: approximately
HK$221,000).

RZTZZZ_FMA=+A At EFIREG N R 1%Em L
HE A S B AT F)49710,0008 L (= F=—F  49221,000%
JT)e
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to interest
rate risk for non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date. The 1% increase or
decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates
over the period until the end of the next annual reporting period. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for the year ended 30 April 2021.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s operations are mainly carried in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Operating
subsidiaries within the Group are exposed to foreign exchange risk from future commercial
transactions and monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is not
the operating subsidiaries’ functional currency.

The Group currently does not have any related foreign exchange hedges, however the
management of the Group monitors its foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedges
should the need arise.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to foreign
currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the operating subsidiaries to which they relate. Such exposures arise
from the business operations in Hong Kong denominated in RMB and US$. As HK$ is pegged to
US$, the Group considers the risk of movements in exchange rates between HK$ and US$ to be
insignificant for transactions denominated in US$. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily
RMB. The Company is not exposed to material currency risk at the end of the reporting period.

34. BIBABEERERBE @)

DES:NHE))

EREEE ST DBERHERGEERLREDTET LA
R B Z ST RS TR 2 FIR AR - 1% 44 SR &
HREIR BRI R NN E T — B MR AR A R
2B -BE-T-—FMA=TEILFREZ HIRAERAEE
57

SMERBR

AEEEBTECEBRTEARE - AEBMEAT 2 EEMBER
FAPTARZINERR - REGFEALEMB AR 2Nt EHHE
ZHERERGREREAERAE -

R SR (B3R B O R AE (R AR BROMNE S0 - AR B 2 B IR R R A
FERB - W B TR B o

TRADFAEERRERRZEBLENBERTDEEEBIAIN
ERHECEMREERRBEMELZINERR - ZERBES
ERBBUAARBRETAHEZERZE a8 EXTTH
8 AEERRHRUAETHELR M E  BEEETZHE
REHEMITBR - ELHEARNEEIERZARE - AQF

RNEEHRL EMEERGERAR -

2022 2021
—E-—F —T-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Overall exposure arising from recognised assets and liabilities: B IR EE R B ETEE 7 BERAR -
Bank balances and cash: IRITHEBR MRS
RMB ARE 955 47

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s profit before tax in response
to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of the reporting period.

TRETABREPRAEIARAZERNAR 2IEEX 22
AIREEE) - IS NEBBRTBAT G H IR 2 A EH o

2022 2021
—E-C T

Increase Increase

(decrease) (decrease)

in foreign in foreign
exchange rate HK$’000 exchange rate HK$'000

SHEER SN FEE 3
BORD) FHET EmCEL) FHETT
RMB AR 5% 48 5% 2

(5%) (48) (5%) 2)



34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to Group’s exposure to
currency risk for non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The stated changes in foreign currency
represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates
over the period until the end of the next annual reporting period. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for the year ended 30 April 2021.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity investments of trading
securities classified as listed equity securities at FVPL.

The Group’s listed equity investments are listed on the Stock Exchange. Decisions to buy or sell
trading securities are based on daily monitoring of the performance of individual securities
compared to that of the stock market index and other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s
liquidity needs.

At 30 April 2022, it is estimated that a change of 15% (2027: 5%) in the relevant stock market

FAREARAR FR022
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FEMBRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022
BE-ZE-__FNA=+HLEE

34. BIBABEERERBE @)

SMERB(E)

BURREN N HBRRIMNEERRIBE R LR EMAER] - L&A
AAEERZBSFEZTERITEMB T A EHEAR M
P B BB (R R RM R ) RISTE - 5 2 B EIRE 2 E TG
SNEERRBAET —BEFEREMRSEIRLRE 228 -8
E-E-—FNA=TREFEZAMIRABRELEETT

RAEE R

AEEAGRSBRAEBRERATEINELTRAERZEE
EFMEFRERMELNRABREZHEAR

AEEZ FHEFRENBRALET BEXHEETEESF 2R

ENERSRAERENEFHEREENSIEEREBITER
BRZRBURAKEZRBESTEME

RZTEZZFmMA :+ B EHRERETSEBR(GLLETREM

index (for listed investments), with all other variables held constant, would have changed the EVEBIU(—F=—F : 5%)MATE KB BT At As%
Group’s profit before tax as follows: BB AT ES N T RARES :
2022 2021
—EB-HF T4
Increase Increase
(decrease) in (decrease) in
equity price HK$’000 equity price HK$'000
RAE fRA(E %
EMORD) FHET EmORL) FAT
Changes in the relevant equity TERARR (B b 4 3 2
price risk variable:
Increase o 15% 750 5% 238
Decrease e (15%) (750) (5%) (238)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the reasonably possible changes in
the stock market index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to the exposure to equity price risk in existence at that date. It is
also assumed that the fair values of the Group’s investments would change in accordance with
the historical correlation with the relevant stock market index or the relevant stock market index
or the relevant risk variables, and that all other variables remain constant. The stated changes
represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock market
index or the relevant risk variables over the period until the end of the next annual reporting
period. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the year ended 30 April 2021.

HRESTET  BRRBETSESILMABRRESNEE
AR BENMERRELE  WERBRRZBBFENKRAE
REE - TRBARERE 2 AT EMZRARKE M5
FRRREE 2 ELARIEMED  mATEEthESRFTE -
Flth 2 BB e TR A AEERETSERAARRRESER
HBAZET - EFERESMRTRHELERZABREY HE_T
Z—FMA=FTREFEZ AN IRAARELEETT
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
accounts receivable, loan receivables, deposits and other receivables, and bank balances and
cash. At 30 April 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arising from
the carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime ECL provision for all accounts receivable and applies general
approach to assess ECL on other financial assets at amortised cost including loan receivables and
deposits and other receivables. To measure the ECL, loan receivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk and ECL. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer and therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arises when the Group
has significant exposure to individual customers.

In respect of accounts receivable, and deposits and other receivables, the Group’s exposure to
credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each debtor. The default
risk of the industry and country in which debtors operate also has an influence on credit risk.
At the end of the reporting period, other than the accounts receivable gross carrying amount
of approximately HK$125,586,000 (2021: approximately HK$79,433,000) (Note 18) as discussed
below, the gross carrying amount of the refundable deposits of approximately HK$27,250,000
(2021: approximately HK$10,644,000) (Note 20), and the gross carrying amount of loan
receivables of approximately HK$26,857,000 (2021: approximately HK$30,708,000) (Note 19) as
discussed below, the Group has no other significant concentrations of credit risk which individual
balance at the end of the reporting period.

At 30 April 2022, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as approximately 7% (2021: 7%) of
the total accounts receivable was due from the Group’s largest customer and approximately 30%
(2021: 28%) of the total accounts receivable was due from the Group’s five largest customers.

At 30 April 2022, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as approximately 27% (2021: 24%)
of the total loan receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and approximately 74%
(2021: 76%) of the total loan receivables was due from the Group’s five largest customers.

Accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit terms. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well as to the economic environment.

34. BIBABEERERBE @)

FERR

EERBRERGUFIETEANEEAFAEBERABER
2R AEEz FERREERE BTN BKER ZE
REMEBRBEARRITERERE - R_F - FNA=1
B AKBELXZEFINEREHRRER SRR
BERTAEEMEBNEEEEF BB RN B T AE R &
REERBAGEAEMBERRKRMAIIZEEENREE - AREL
ERFEMERARREAERERNRERESREESHY
FERR -

AEEREF BB IRE LB ERAA AT RIES
EEBEEE AMAMARKERRA2HERCEEBRE
B R —RIEATERBHERAHBZEBMEREE(R
BRBEFRARZS R EMEYKRE) < BREREEE - B E
BHREERR BUERCZARFEERRSHIE - AEEL
BITEELAN THEEZEERRRRADEEBRENEZEH
Y- HOEEAAMNGE BN IEER -

AEEAZZERARIEZSREP ZENFEEE Rt
WARERENEFAREARRE ERRRESERTZEER
[z o

HEUEF AR REMERRENS  AEEEAZZEE
EREEZEEBAZEANSRATE EEALEMETE
RERZEZHNBRRITZEBEERR RBEHR BT X0
Z HBER T E 4 £125,586,000/8 7T 2 EW R R (== —4F - 49
79,433,000 7T )(MIzE18) - 4R BRE B 40 /427,250,00078 702 IR I8
Z& (=T =—1F : 4910,644,00078 7L ) (M 5520) RAABREELN A
26,857,000/ 7T 2 IR E /(= F = —4F : £930,708,000/% 7z )( 1
#F19)50 REBERRERRIBERBIGEHR 2 EtEREERR

FHIER -

RZZFZZ_FMA=TH AEBEEFERREPER 7%
(ZE=—F : 7%) NERERBREARRAEEZATEZX
B AR KI30%( = F = —F : 28%) N EWRER KGR AR AEER
AAREPZFIE -

REZZE-—FMA=1TH AEEEEERBRETER  £27%
(ZF=—F : 24%)BRESEERBBA LB RAEP 2K
B ARK7A%( = F = —14F - 76%) R E R AR B R A SR
AREPZHIE-

JEWERF A R RA M EW 7R
EEHETHEMAZRIMGEERZEP L - BRIFRET

REFBEXNI TR B8 AR B AT 28N Wit Rk
EPRAZHRPENREERE -



34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
of the Group reviews the recoverability of each trade debt at the end of each reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies
simplified approach on accounts receivable to provide for the ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9. The
Group measures loss allowance for accounts receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECL for
accounts receivable as at 30 April 2022 and 2021.

FAREARAR FR022
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34. BIBABEERERBE @)

FERR(E)
JEWIEF A R 172 RAEMEW TR (E)

REFERBAERE FAEEEEECZR—XEAFARET
EEHE  BUEERNITEMEERR FARR K@ 8 R ES
ERIBETE UM AREEREREREPRENSEE
PMETS 2 R £ 5R - PARETE st AT R Bl £ B AE R 50 2 R E S
B AEEMB R RREBBCTE  ARE B B REEL
FIRMAR TR AR EEE R R - ARERASEN 2R
HEEBERZ ST ERIERRZBREE FRESENERR
HEEAE BN RAREELEEBERERMER  TRE
Fo@MzBRERTBRZTE  SENBEASMRERED ZE
BRELELE - SRAKRETRAEFPEREES

TREHEEAEER S -_—FR-_F-_—FNA=+HH
ENERFEZ 2 EERBRREBHEEBIEZER

At 30 April 2022 R-B-Z#FWA=+H
Gross carrying

Past due ECL rate amount  Loss allowance Credit-impaired
bkt AHEEBRER BREAR(E BIREE FEERE

% HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET
Not past due AR HA 0.10 34,197 (35) No &
1 - 30 days past due #E1E30H 1.44 11,992 (172) No &
31 - 60 days past due EEI31ZE60H 2.67 12,525 (334) No &
61 —90 days past due #HI61E90H 3.08 11,745 (361) No &
91-180 days past due #EA91%2180H 3.38 29,563 (1,000) No &
Over 180 days past due B EARIB180H 28.65 25,564 (7,323) Yes 2

125,586 (9,225)

At 30 April 2021 R E——FPH=+H
Gross carrying

Past due ECL rate amount Loss allowance  Credit-impaired
B TEHEEBEX BREAEE EiaREE FEERE

% HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET
Not past due R HER 0.02 26,602 (5) No &
1—30 days past due BHI1E30H 0.42 2,138 9) No &
31 - 60 days past due BHI31ZE60H 0.89 2,459 (22) No &
61 — 90 days past due w1 Hi61290H 1.62 5,319 (86) No &
91-180 days past due #H91%180H 2.87 10,389 (298) No &
Over 180 days past due B HAER®180H 28.83 32,526 9,377) Yes &

79,433 (9,797)
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables (Continued)

At 30 April 2022, the Group recognised net loss allowance of approximately HK$16,911,000 (2021:
approximately HK$18,192,000) for accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables. The
movement in the loss allowance is summarised below.

34. BIBABEERERBE @)

EEmEE(E)
JEWIEF A R 172 RAEMEW TR (E)

RZZ__FMNA=+TH FEEBREEFIEL6911,0008
TL(ZF=—4F : £718,192,000/87T ) BB E 2 BB T

Account Deposits and
receivables other receivables Total
RBER
EWERRK Hip e RRIE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FAT FAT
At 30 April 2020 and 1 May 2020 RZZEZTZFMA=+AK
—E-TFHA—H 5,836 7,263 13,099
Increase in allowance BN 5,257 3,348 8,605
Amounts recovered B Uk Bl &5 (1,296) (318) (1,614)
Amounts written off MiEEEE - (1,898) (1,898)
At 30 April 2021 and 1 May 2021 R-BE-_—FWMA=+HK
—E-_—-5¥HA—H 9,797 8,395 18,192
Increase in allowance BN 8,309 2,334 10,643
Amounts recovered B ElE 58 (8,881) (3,043) (11,924)
At 30 April 2022 R-ZB-_—FWMA=+H 9,225 7,686 16,911

For deposits and other receivables, the management of the Group makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of deposits and other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experiences, and also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. As at 30 April 2022 and 2021, except
for carrying amounts of approximately HK$4,247,000 (2021: approximately HK$4,247,000), with
corresponding loss allowance for ECL of approximately HK$4,247,000 (2021: approximately
HK$4,247,000) included in deposits and other receivables are based on lifetime ECL assessment
and categorised as underperforming, all the remaining balance are based on 12-month ECL
assessment.

Accounts receivable are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make
contractual payments for a period greater than agreed contract terms.

Impairment losses on accounts receivable are presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

ECL rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

REEREMERFIENS AXEEEEREATEECH
BELBURABLTRENEEERZEERTEEHER  ©H
AR R EMERFIEZ AR E R F R =T S —
FOA=+H  BRIREEL4,247,000870( = F = —4F : 4,247,000
L) HEEHREEEBEBEELNI 247,008 T(ZF=—
F : #74,247,000/8 7T ) 2 2% R E A0 FEWGRIE TR B AR £ TE B S
BEEBENE UHhBARBRE AR TEAIRIET @A
TEEE B BB AT -

FEUBR A A 12 B 2 AT U B OB R Y < 8 B A IR E 2 TR )
HRIEZ R (B B8 BT AREE AR E KR &R &)
AR RETRBIHE A AHR SR AREEL A O

M IR R 2R EB RTINS MR 25| AR ERRFE - A%
LR E M2 &8 KR E—BITRE RAEE -

EHEEERENENBE-F ERBRERET - Z5EBE
R RBR AR 2 R B 2 AR B RN
AEBEHREBESFRIRF FHRZLBERR AR AN ER -




34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables (Continued)

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables are set out in Notes 18 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The management monitored the financial background and creditability of those debtors on an
ongoing basis. The Group seeks to minimise its risk by dealing with counterparties which have
good credit history. In this regard, the management considers that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Loan receivables

The Group estimates the ECL under HKFRS 9 ECL models. The Group assesses whether the
credit risk of loan receivables have increased significantly since their initial recognition, and
apply a general approach model to calculate their ECL, the management assesses impairment
loss using the risk parameter modelling approach that incorporates key measurement
parameters, including probability of default, loss given default and exposure at default, with the
consideration of forward-looking information.

At 30 April 2022, the management assessed credit quality of individual money leading customers
with reference to historical payment information. Based on the assessment, no loan receivables
was credit impaired.

The analysis of changes in the gross amount and the corresponding provision for impairment of
loan receivables in relation to loan receivables are as follow:
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EEmEE(E)
JEWIEF A R 172 RAEMEW TR (E)

ERAEERERERRZS AR EMEKRRIBRARZEE
Bl 2 E— S EERE A RIRMNGE B RKRMEE18520 ©

EEEREEEZSEBACUBEESRERE AREEBE
BERFEREELZZGHTFETRS URBEEERR 3
fms EEERAAKEZEERBRDABIEE-

JERE

AEEEBEEVHRELAFIRRAEEBRELFEIAD
FEEER AEEFTERKER 2 EERRE NS BBRLEE KR
i WM - AREELA FARMEEER ERERAE
SRR E2R(BEENS VERRRERELRR) QR
BRABIREDEAY E BRI AR SR ERRE -

RIZE-—HNUA=+H EB2EL2ZBENRERTEHER
MEEP 2 EEER -BEE MEEKEREHRERRE

BRI B 4 8 A R M R AR SR 2 B BT
W -

Lifetime ECL

At 30 April 2022 12-month ECL (Underperforming) Total

ZHEH

1218 A B FEEE
R-ZBE--FMA=+H FEEEBR (REXE) “@Er
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FATT FAT
Gross carrying amount BREAEE 26,560 297 26,857
Less: Loss allowance o EEEE (952) (297) (1,249)
25,608 - 25,608

At 30 April 2021 RZTE=Z—FWA=+H

Gross carrying amount frEm4aE 30,408 300 30,708
Less: Loss allowance B EEE (1,003) (300) (1,303)

29,405 - 29,405
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)

As at 30 April 2022, the Group recognised loss allowance of HK$1,249,000 (2021: HK$1,303,000)
on its loan receivables. The movement in the loss allowance for loan receivables during the year
is summarised below.

34. BIBABEERERBE @)

FERRE)
JEWE (&)
REB-_FOA=+R AEERERKERERERER

1,249,000/ 7L( = F = —14F : 1,303,000/57C) FRERE R &
BREEEBMNT -

2022 2021

—EB-CHF —T-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At the beginning of the reporting period RS EAA) 1,303 1,978
Increase in allowance BB 1 792
Amounts recovered Bl & (54) (1,481)
Exchange realignments [& 5 % (1) 14
At the end of the reporting period R|BEHR 1,249 1,303

Bank balances

In respect to the Group’s deposit with banks, the Group limits its exposure to credit risk by
placing deposits with financial institution with high credit rating and no recent history of default.
Given the high credit ratings of the banks, management does not expect any counterparty
to fail to meet its obligations. Management will continue to monitor the position and will
take appropriate action if there are changed. As at 30 April 2022 and 2021, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk in relation to deposit with banks.

In these regards, other than the credit risks mentioned above, the management considers the
Group does not have any other significant credit risk and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

All of the Group’s other financial assets at amortised cost are considered to have low credit risk,
and loss allowance recognised during the year was therefore limited to 12-month expected
losses. The other financial assets are considered to be low credit risk when they have a low
probability of default and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

RiThaRR

RAKEZBAFERME  AEEBFRERREERTEEF
BT EAY B KSR RS DIRBIE AR ZEERK -
ERZERTEAREETR EEBEHTEEEARSETF
EEABITHEM - TREEBFELRTLMN  WEFRHEAS
bt BEEEETH R T —FR-_T-_—FMA=+H"
REBYERBRTERATSEED 2 EERR -

BUTE B LA EERRN ERERRSARER L EEREAMD
BEREERR MAAZZZEERRRTD TARSERES -

REHHAGTEZE ML BEE

AEERBHERAHBZAAEMEREEDRRABRER
RIREIE - I NHER 2 BEBEBERN2EAEHER - N A
HEMEEZENXRERRTANEHNABRRETEN
RERBRVNENR  HERAFRERRIE -




34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for its own cash management,
including the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demand, subject to board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with loan covenants to ensure that
it maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. The Group
relies on interest-bearing borrowings as a significant source of liquidity.

The following liquidity risk tables set out the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on current
rates at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:
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34. BIBABEERERBE @)

RBEEEAR

AEERNSBEUEEERERTARRSEETFE BERESA
B ERRERSRETAENENREF L HALEFE L
BES AR - ARBZHEATHERNHRIARRDE SR
7 RETEERG NBERAERAVRESAEINIZER
BEISRARFESRE UWENEEHARRORDEST
Ko AEBKBETEERABRNRBDES IR

NTZhBEERRRBENGHNARBAZRERE/ELY
AEESBAERBESHRIHBTAOBR(EERANNEYL
(HAFBNR)RFERRZEEMEAEZFENT) AR
AEEAHRERNRZEFRE -
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Total
Total contractual On demand
carrying  undiscounted or less than
amount cash flow 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years
EHRRUE RERR
HEREE ReEREE PR—F 1225 2E34F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHET FAT FHET
At 30 April 2022 R-ZE-—FMNA=+H
Accruals FEETFUE 3,127 3,127 3,127 - -
Accrued retainer fee FEFTESRE R 7,775 7,775 7,775 - -
Other payables HAbFEM IR 994 994 994 - -
Consideration payable ERE 1,350 1,350 1,350 - -
Contingent consideration payable ERSARE 10,213 14,400 2,800 4,800 6,800
Interest-bearing borrowings (Note) FrEEE M) 44,802 44,802 44,802 - -
Bank overdrafts RITIE 26,150 26,150 26,150 - -
94,411 98,598 86,998 4,800 6,800
At 30 April 2021 RZZEZ—FWA=+H
Accruals FEETFRIB 1,827 1,827 1,827 - -
Accrued retainer fee fEETIEEE 4,925 4,925 4,925 - -
Other payables R AN E ] 109 109 109 - -
Interest-bearing borrowings (Note) SHREE ) 22,139 22,139 22,139 - -
29,000 29,000 29,000 - -
Note: Bt
Interest-bearing borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on demand or less than AR ERERER 2 EEEE LB BES TR A RE KD

1 year” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 30 April 2022, the aggregate carrying amounts of these
interest-bearing borrowings amounted to approximately HK$44,802,000 (2021: approximately HK$22,139,000).
Taking into account of the Group’s financial position, the directors of the Company do not believe that it is

R—FIZBHRA -RZT__FNA=+H RS REEZAREE
#)7544,802,00078 7T (= F = —4F : 922,139,000/ 7T ) < 8 51 N AL B 2 8175
MR AR B EERBIRIT N AR TR ERERENGER - AR B EER
probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors A ZEH B EEEREERBERAT AR A REE-
of the Company believe that such interest-bearing borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled

repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, as follows.

Set forth below is the maturity analysis on the term loans subject to a repayment on demand clause based on
scheduled repayments.

AT 8N BIR BRIEFIRIBTE &S R R 2 EE R BIE D47 -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

34. BIBABEERERBE @)

RBESEBRE)

Total

Total contractual On demand
carrying undiscounted or less than
amount cash flow 1year 11to2years 2to5years Overb5 years
BHREER RERR
HEREE RERAERE DR—F 1225 2E55F SELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHETT FHETT FAT FAT FAT FAET
At 30 April 2022 R-E-_—_FWMA=+AH
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE 44,802 50,577 4,187 4,187 10,238 31,965
At 30 April 2021 RZZE=Z—FMA=+H
Interest-bearing borrowings tefE 22,139 23,462 2,438 2,438 7,313 11,273

35. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair value or required to disclose
their fair value in these financial statements on a recurring basis across the three levels of
the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, with the fair value
measurement categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level input that is significant to the

entire measurement. The levels of inputs are defined as follows:

«  Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date.

«  Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

*  Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

(@) Fair value of the Group’s investment properties that are measured at fair value

35. AF{ERE

NTREFINBEEEVBERELNEBRAFEAEEELZ
RFEEFR=ERINA  BAFEFERERZEFHREAR
REEEERBANTECEERAME BEATVEAEREY
EEHEmMs BEACKEBRABIRET ) E - SAZREZR
BIEET -

© BRESER)  ARERGERSIISHREESA
BRERMIS L2 R EABORERE):

c BIfC E-HMBEREMSN REESEETEERME
BREEMEZHAEE R

© FDR(EBEER): BERABZITABEGARRE
@) FAEBEZRAFPEFABZRENEZAFE

Fair value

measurements
categorised into
Level 3
PEEE=HH
AFEFE
HK$'000
FAT
At 30 April 2022 R-ZE-_—_FWA=+H
Commercial properties EEYE
— Hong Kong —&# 119,300
— Mainland China — AR A BE 8,700
Residential properties FEY#E
— Hong Kong — &8 97,050
— Macau — &P 14,000
239,050
At 30 April 2021 RZTZ—FMNA=+H
Commercial properties EEZ/ES
— Hong Kong — &% 113,824
— The PRC —H 8,269
Residential properties EEYE
— Hong Kong — &% 105,004
— Macau — R 16,731

243,828



35. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

()

(b)

Fair value of the Group’s investment properties that are measured at fair

value (Continued)

During the years ended 30 April 2022 and 2021, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they
occur. The details of the movements of the fair value measurement categorised as Level 3 of
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35. AV EFE#E)

(@) AEERQATVEFEZRENEZDTVEE)

REEZZT-_—FR-_F-_—FHNA=THLEFE F—§
ME_HrBTEESE TEEAREBEE=f -AEEH2
BEAREEER RENHRERSERAN BRI
FE-DEAATFESEE-H 2 ATEFEZEFFBEN

the fair value hierarchy are as follows: T
Commercial Commercial Residential Residential
properties in property in properties in property in
Hong Kong Mainland China Hong Kong Macau Total
RERBZ RPBEKREZ REBZ IR Z
[EE3/ES [GEX/ES TEWE FEWE EEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHETT
At 1 May 2020 KR-E-TFRA—H 110,667 7,536 110,045 17,180 245428
Fair value change NFEEH 3,157 - (5,041) (449) (2,333)
Exchange realignment [ 54, - 733 - - 733
At 30 April 2021 and 1 May 2021
113,824 8,269 105,004 16,731 243,828
Fair value change NEEEH 5,476 431 3,134 (2,731) 6,310
Disposal RE - - (11,088) - (11,088)
At 30 April 2022 R-BE-_—FWMA=+AH 119,300 8,700 97,050 14,000 239,050
Fair value of the Group’s other financial assets and financial liabilities that are (b) FEERATEFEZHMWERHEERSREEZATE

measured at fair value

Relationship of
unobservable

Sensitivity of
unobservable

Financial assets/financial Fair value  Valuation techniques and inputs inputs
liabilities Fair value as at 30 April hierarchy  key inputs to fair value
FABREBAER FABEEBAER
SREE SREE RUAZ+HEZAFE LAFESER GERWREZZEGAZE HAFEZBERE ZHRE
2022 2021
—EBo-F T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Financial assets at FVPL
EBBRRDOFEIIERZ
SREE
Equity securities
AR A 5
— listed in Hong Kong 5,000 4,766 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active N/A N/A
market
—&/ELET E—& BTG 2 WE A TEA
Club memberships 1,615 1,592 Level 3 Market comparable range Assuming other factors N/A
from HK$105,000 to remain unchanged, the
HK$1,750,000 as at 30 April higher the adjusted
2022 (2021: HK$105,000 market price, the higher
to HK$1,750,000) and the fair value
individual second
quotation prices of club
memberships
g E=M RIZEZZFMA=+H BIREGERRETEZ. TEH

TS ELEN T

105,000/ 721,750,000/
TL( =& =—4 :105,000/%&
JTZ1,750,0007F7T) - A%
CATEHEERE —RE

wEEzHELES A
RV ELER
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35. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(b) Fair value of the Group’s other financial assets and financial liabilities that are (b)

measured at fair value (Continued)

35. AV EFE#E)

(&)

Valuation techniques and
key inputs

DPESE FERNRIEGARE

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs

to fair value
FABREBAER
BEAFEZBR

FEERAVEFECHMUSRHEERSRAEFEZLVE

Sensitivity of
unobservable
inputs

TREEHAER
ZHBE

Financial assets/financial Fair value
liabilities Fair value as at 30 April hierarchy
SREE SREE REA=+HZAFE
2022 2021
B —T-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHAT
Financial assets at FVOCI
BREMZEARARAFE
TR EMEE
Unlisted equity investments - 23,924 Level 3
FE LR AR E - 23,924 B
Financial liabilities at FVPL
ERBERATFEIEZ
cRaE
Contingent consideration 10,213 - Level 3
payable
JERTRARE 10,213 - F=H&

Income approach: discounted
cash flow with:(i) discount
rate at 19.3%, and (ii)
terminal growth rate at
2.4%

WA BRBRERER
()\BAIRE H19.3% ' &
(i) B BRI R % 2.4%

(i) Discounted cash flow with
discount rate at 14.7%,
and(ii) Income approach
based on the scenario
analysis with parameters
including probabilities
assessment to the operating
results estimated by the
management under each
scenario

(WVBEIRE B4 7%HR &7
MR RINEREBR
DHTERRASE - H2 8
BIEERERESERME
TR RN RS

(i) The higher the discount
rate, the lower the fair
value; (ii) the higher the
terminal growth rate, the
higher the fair value

() B EME - ATE
BAE : ()R EER
BE - ATE

(i) The higher the discount
rate, the lower the fair
value; (ii) the increase
in the probability for
base case in the scenario
analysis

(BEREME AFE
A (i) RRERADHT
hERBER BRI

(i) if discount rate increase/
decrease 1%, all other
variables constant, the
fair value of unlisted
equity investment
would decrease/increase
by HK$1,584,000/
HK$1,795,000; (ii) if
terminal growth rate
increase/decrease 1%, all
other variable constant,
the fair value of unlisted
equity investment would
increase/decrease by
HK$966,000/HK$858,000

() BEER =38 0,
1% - PTE E B EKE
FEAEE - RISE ETAR
TIRE 2 NFER
b/ H 911,584,000
7t/ 1,795,000/ T
(i R =1 h0,/
A% - A H A Al

SRRTE LT

BRI E 2 N TFEH

0,55 4>966,0007%

7t/ 858,000 7T

(i) if discount rate increase/
decrease 1%, all other
variables constant, the
fair value of unlisted
equity investment would
decrease/increase by
HK$217,000/HK$224,000;
(ii) if the probability
increase/decrease
5%, all other variable
constant, the fair value of
contingent consideration
payable increase/decrease
by HK$877

() BEER =3 0,
1% - PIE E i EHKE
FAE - BI3E EMAR
TIRE 2 N ERR
b /1 91217,0007
T,/ 224,000/ 7T
(ii) i FT B 1 3mSR
5% - PTE EAZREE
TE - ERNSAREZ
AFEHEIN, D877
BT




35. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Fair value of the Group’s other financial assets and financial liabilities that are
measured at fair value (Continued)

During the years ended 30 April 2022 and 2021, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value
measurements in both years except for the derecognition of unlisted equity investments.
The details of the movements of the recurring fair value measurements categorised as Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

ENEEARAF FiR2022
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35. AV EFE#E)

(b) AEEZEAFPEFABZAMEHEEREHMAEFEAZLVE
(&)

HE_T-—FR-F-—FNA=ZTHILFE BREILRE
RIELTRAREIN RREFERNE—RESE RO FE
AEZETEER NESARBEE=ZRKATENE-H
BAATESRE=FEBELNTEFEZZBHFFN
T

Financial assets Financial assets

Year ended 30 April 2022 at FVPL at FvoCl Total
Club Unlisted equity
memberships investments
FERBR BBHEMZEKA
RATFEIE RATFEIE
ZEeMEE ZEeRMEE
BE-ZE--FNAZ=THLEFE =fin—£:3 FETRARE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period R EI 1,592 23,924 25,516
Net changes in fair value in profit or loss BaANAFEZE)FE 23 - 23
Transfer out of Level 3 — derecognition upon HHEIR— A L WE—BH B A FIR
step-up acquisition of a subsidiary - (23,924) (23,924)
At the end of the reporting period RIREHR 1,615 - 1,615
Year ended 30 April 2021 HE-Z-—FNA=1THILFE HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FAT
At the beginning of the reporting period RIS 1,550 23,808 25,358
Net changes in fair value
in profit or loss BEAATEZEFE 42 - 42
in other comprehensive income REM 2 ERA - 116 116
At the end of the reporting period R EIAR 1,592 23,924 25,516

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of Level 3 as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

The only financial liability subsequently measured at fair value on Level 3 fair value
measurement represents contingent consideration payable relating to the acquisition
of TeamTech (Note 24). The fair value changes that are recognised in profit or loss for
contingent consideration payable amounting to HK$1,150,000 (20217: Nil) for the year ended
30 April 2022.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities carried at other
than fair value

The management of the Group estimates the fair value of its financial assets and financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost using the discounted cash flows analysis. The
management of the Group considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their fair values.

AEENBRANEREENEHRENEDE HHERE
ARBHE=H-

HERBEPATEFENE —SRABEENE SR
TeamTechH MBS ARE (I FH24) BE-_T-_—_FI
A=1+HIEFE  RE RZENSIAREBELAFEEZS A
1,150,000 (= FE=—%F : F)-

( AEBZRAFEUNMNMIRZEHEERSHEAZLTVE

AEEEREEBRBRBEDRAMN - et KRB HKRATIER
ZEMBERERABIATE AEAERERS 4R
BHBRARNZBERAIEZEREERSRABYZ
FREEEE R TEBEE -
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36. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders

and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of

dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio, which is calculated as total
borrowings divided by total equity as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

36. EREE

AEEERER 2 BHRREAEES
R OHR RS MRS E AR

IEB AP ©

BITHBOR TR R G AL -

SEZ BN ARRR
RS R AEE A IRIEIA

AEEREABLRERER  BELRDIRGEFBRARM
RZEERERN AR E R _F - F R =T —FMA

The gearing ratios as at 30 April 2022 and 2021 were as follows: =THAZBELEET :
2022 2021
—E=-= —T-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT

Total borrowings BELE

— interest-bearing borrowings —sEEE 44,802 22,139
— Bank overdrafts —R1TEX 26,150 -
70,952 22,139
Total equity AR 483,412 413,921
Gearing ratio EEE RS 0.15 0.05
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Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries which affected the results, assets and liabilities as

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

at 30 April 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and

Issued and fully paid share

37. TEMBARZHE

RIZEZZFR-_T-—FNA=1TH HARRIZEE AE
REBEVEZEEZMBRARZFESINT

Percentage of equity interest

Name of subsidiary operation capital/registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ML
MEARER R REES BRTRBERE EMEX ARREERERDL TEEK
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HiE Gk B L3
Allex Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
Allex Limited a5 187 bIES 37
BlackPod Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Technology and related
activities
BlackPod Group Limited & 18T R RAREE
Centrix Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
REBZARRA 5 187 WEER
Champmark Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
BREARAT 5 18T MEE
Claman British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 50.3 - - Investment holding
Claman RERRES —REEIETEBER REER
Dynasty Kingdom Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
Dynasty Kingdom Limited &b 18T 0 MEER
Easy Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 100 - 100 - Financial services businesses
Easy Credit Limited B 100,000/ 7T SRIREES



37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries which affected the results, assets and liabilities as
at 30 April 2022 and 2021 are as follows: (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and

Issued and fully paid share
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37. TEMBARZHEEE)

REIE-Z—FR T -—FNA=1TH HARRIZEE AE
REBEVEZEEWNBRARZFBEHIMOT ()

Percentage of equity interest

Name of subsidiary operation capital/registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
AR,
MEARER RIREELS BRTRHERE FMER FAREERERDL TEER
2022 2021
—EBC-C-F T —F
Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HE 53 B s

Golden Throne Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 - 100 Technology and related

activities
Golden Throne Holdings Limited ) oheeid —REE1ET SRR R RAEEEE
FringeBacker Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 50.3 N/A N/A Technology business
FringeBacker Limited 555 25T TEmR TNER  MERER
Four Directions Ecommerce Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2,050 - 51 N/A N/A  E-commerce
Four Directions Ecommerce Limited ~ &/& 2,050/ 7T NE A TNER  EFE%
House2buy Properties Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 - 100 Property business
BESMEBRAA RERRES —REEIETEBR ES S
Honning Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Technology and related

activities
REEBRDE B 17T R RABRED
Jet Victory Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
RBERLA &k 1B MEER
New Image Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
REIEEERAA 5 18T MEEH
Max Wide Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 - 100 - Trading of securities,

technology and related

activities
R BAERRR B 18T FHEE R RAEEED
TeamSoft Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 51 N/A N/A  Enterprise system and software
TeamSoft B 1,000 7T TiER THEA  ERFRHNE
TeamTech British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 N/A N/A Investment holding
TeamTech REBELEE —REEIET SRR TEms TER REER
Unitech Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
BEBEBRAA B 18T WEER
United Luck Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
BB BRAR B 18T MEER
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries which affected the results, assets and liabilities as
at 30 April 2022 and 2021 are as follows: (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and  Issued and fully paid share

37. TEMBARZHEEE)

REIE-Z—FR T -—FNA=1TH HARRIZEE AE
REBEVEZEEWNBRARZFBEHIMOT ()

Percentage of equity interest

Name of subsidiary operation capital/registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
Bl A
MEARER RIREELS BRTRHERE FMER FAREERERDL TEER
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HE 53 B i
Vongroup Consumer Finance British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100 - 100 - Investment holding
Corporation
Vongroup Consumer Finance RBRIES L ERE TR 2 il BB
Corporation
Vongroup Investment Holding British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100 - 100 - Investment holding,
Limited technology and related
activities
Vongroup Investment Holding HBEZEE — B EEIET T AR REER  BHE R AEEER
Limited
VG Investment British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100 - 100 —  Investment holding
VG Investment RERZHES —REEIETERR HE R
Vongroup Consumer Finance British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Corporation
Vongroup Consumer Finance RBRELHS —RAEEIETLER BEER
Corporation
Vongroup Life Sciences Corporation  British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Vongroup Life Sciences Corporation  REBEZEE —RAEEIETLER BEER
Win Harbour Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
FAERBRAR BE 18T MEEL
Xios Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Technology and related
activities
Xios Limited o 187 R RABEEE
I RIER PRC Registered/paid-up capital of - 100 - 100 Financial services businesses
RMB10,000,000
(Notes (i) and (iii))
ERIER H AMER/BHEBRAARE CERRBED
10,000,000 (A7) % (iii))
BREREEACRIARAR PRC Registered/paid-up capital of - 100 - 100 Financial services businesses
(EBRE HK$23,000,000
(Notes (i) and (ii))
ERREEACRINERAA Gl AMER/BHBRA SRRB XS
([FEmE ) 23,000,00078 7T ( A1 5E(i) 2 (ii))

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in opinion of the directors of the
Company, principally affected the results or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiary would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes:
i) dbRIEEE and EEFIZE are limited liability companies established in the PRC.
i) Registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC Law.

i)y b 5B is indirectly held by the Company through contractual arrangements by the registered owners of
the subsidiary.

ARTEERRLERMIIAATMBARNEFAEREBEEKR

FESEAEEEEFEERND ARTESER
BB ZFHE B REENITE -

Hikt

AR5 HE A

) ARRBERERRERNPEKIZERAF -

i) REFBEAEEMANEEERE-

i) JERIEBBIYAADFEBZNERRZEMER AR L2 AT

ERA-



Pursuant to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the statement of financial position of the

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
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BREEBRRED  ARTZHBEHRER R EREEHZLBHTI 0

Company and the movements in its reserves is set out below: T
2022 2021
—EBC-CF —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FET FAT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBRRZIRE —* =
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TE T BRFR S H At FE Y5k IA 6 4,607
Amounts due from subsidiaries = NGIE e 38(a) 280,639 259,880
Bank balances and cash BITEB LA 634 321
281,279 264,808
Current liabilities REEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTFI B A R 08 38(a) 10,150 8,430
Accruals and deposits received fEEtRIE N EWIEE 2,768 1,987
12,918 10,417
MENEEFE
Net current assets 268,361 254,391
NET ASSETS BEAE 268,361 254,391
Capital and reserves BEA K (4
Share capital ik 27 9,083 7,688
Reserves i 38(b) 259,278 246,703
TOTAL EQUITY RS 268,361 254,391

* Represent amounts less than HK$1,000.

The statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 29 August 2022 and signed on its behalf by

Vong Tat leong David

HES
Director

EF

o JER R R,00078 T o

HEMRARBEFER

il T EFRREE

Xu Sipi

— = — —

=

ng

Director

EF

FNAZFNAMER IR
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued) 38. AATFBBMRRFE)
(a) Amounts due from/to subsidiaries (a) FEUR PETHIE A TIFRE
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. FEUGRIE AEER R RBREKESE -
(b) Movement of reserves (b) REZE
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B EE EREE S RitEE st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FHET
At 1 May 2020 RZZTZTFHA—H 611,780 262 (333,020) 279,022
Loss and total comprehensive loss for  ZRFZE51E R 2 A E1E40%
the year - - (32,319) (32,319)
At 30 April 2021 and 1 May 2021 RZZEZ—FNA=FTHRK
—E—FHA—H 611,780 262 (365,339) 246,703
Loss and total comprehensive loss for ~ ZN4E[Z 518 & 2 [H 18 4458
the year - - (4,519) (4,519)
611,780 262 (369,858) 242,184

Shares issued for acquisition of a BUBER B A R E1T Z D
subsidiary 17,094 - - 17,094

At 30 April 2022 RoE-——FmA=+H 628,874 262 (369,858) 259,278




CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

A summary of the published consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years prepared on the basis as hereunder stated is set out below:

FAREARAR FR022
SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BB ERTE

ATOEERR 2 ASEBER AN RFE 2B TIBEAEEAR
AERBEZHERIINOT

Year ended 30 April
BZMA=+ALEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E=-= - —F TR —T—-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA&T FAET FExT FA&T
Revenue Uy 25 193,230 110,689 34,023 33,953 23,541
Profit/(loss) before taxation BB ADE R, (EE) 25,741 21,839 9,920 22,258 38,967
Income tax (expense) credit FEfi(FAx)ER (1,632) (1,601) 298 (98) (191)
Profit/(loss) for the year NEEHEF,(EE) 24,109 20,238 10,218 22,160 38,776
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HmAaBERAE
As at 30 April
REA=+H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—Eo—E T il 5 —E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiBx FAT FAT FHT FAT
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 591,602 451,060 427,030 418,171 417,897
TOTAL LIABILITIES “wamE (108,190) (37,139) (35,380) (35,095) (34,130)
483,412 413,921 391,650 383,076 383,767
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LIST OF PROPERTIES
L/ EZTES

Locations

Ho

Investment properties

BREME

10.

11

12.

13.

Flat E, 9/F., Tower 1, StarCrest, 9 Star Street, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BAETEHIRE S EIREEE

Flat H, 6/F., Tower 5, Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BRNEARE SHTE B FSEEHE

Flat B, 10/F., Tower 7, Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BANBAWE SHREEMF7E10EBE

Flat D, 43/F., Tower | and Car Parking Space No. 2-083, 2/F., The Harbourside, No. 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
BRNEMNTHEREIREBRAR T 1438 E R F2-0835F E L

Unit A, 25/F., Le Royal Arc, Avenida Sir Anders Ljungstedt, Macau
SRR ETRIF RS I S BEFI25ME AR

Flat A&B, 2/F., Queen’s Centre, 58-64 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BT ERAERS-645E T AR EP L2EARBE

Residential car parking space 602 on 6th Floor of Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong
Kong
EBNEAME SEH8% 8 EMF6Ee0250 T EHBAL

Residential car parking space 604 on 6th Floor of Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong
Kong
BANBAWE =485 /8 EmM F6iE6045% EEEBE AL

Residential car parking space 637 on 6th Floor of Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong
Kong
BANEAWE R85 /8B FE637RETEN

Office E, 22/F., EGL Tower, 83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BERNEBIESEESFAREEISNEEE

Room 3606, No. 233 Hebei Road, Tianhe District, Guangzhou, the PRC
Fh B M T ROR IR A A6 B8 2335736065

Shop 4, Ground Floor, King Palace Plaza, No. 55 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BB NEBEMENSSTE 2SI 454

Car parking space No. P25 on 1/F., EGL Tower, 83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BRNEBEBEE3 RS 118 FE P25 B L

Leasehold land and building held for own use carried at cost

MRASIEFERRCHEE L RETF

1.

Office A, 17/F., EGL Tower, 83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BN EBE B BB IR RS 17EAE

Existing use
BEFAR

Residential
=

Residential
=

Residential
=

Residential

F=

Residential
=

Commercial

[CES

Residential

F=x

Residential

F=E

Residential

F=

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[CES

Commercial

[EES

Term of lease

HEHR

Medium term

]

Medium term

T

Medium term

T

Medium term

]

Medium term

]

Medium term

]

Medium term

T

Medium term

T

Medium term

]

Medium term

]

Medium term

A

Medium term

A

Medium term

A

Medium term

]
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